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MONETARY REFORM AND ECONOMIC
STABILITY

WEDNESDAY, MAY 16, 1984

CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES,
JOINT ECONOMIC COMMiTTEE,

Washington, DC.
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:40 a.m., in room SD-

562, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Roger W. Jepsen (chair-
man of the committee) presiding. .

Present: Senators Jepsen, Symms, and Mattingly.
Also present: James K. Galbraith, deputy director; Charles H.

Bradford, assistant director; and Robert R. Davis, Christopher J.
Frenze, and Paul B. Manchester, professional staff members.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JEPSEN, CHAIRMAN
Senator JEPSEN. It is a great pleasure to welcome you, Congress-

man Kemp, to initiate our hearings on monetary reform. We look
forward to your views, which I always find provocative as well as
informed.

Indeed, it is time for provocative ideas. The last 15 years have
been characterized by less stability in prices and the level of busi-
ness activity than should have been achieved. The conduct of mone-
tary policy has been a key element in determining this pattern. We
cannot maintain the improvement in living standards that the
American people deserve unless we reduce the tendencies toward
cyclical instability and inflationary bias.

The problems of monetary instability are not problems that are
likely to be solved quickly by one well-intentioned directive, nor
are they problems created by any individuals, past or present. And
I want to emphasize that in my opinion, after many, many hear-
ings on the Joint Economic Committee with regard to the Federal
Reserve Board, interest rates, and the problems we are having in
this country, that we are dealing with a problem that is primarily
institutional in nature, and I don't believe we can point fingers or
blame individuals. In fact, it is difficult to identify, with the rapid
changes, deregulation, and other factors, what is considered M1
and M2. The fact is that the ideal money supply growth has been
continually violated, when we have an 8-percent money infusion in
the last year and in the last 2 months a zero growth.

Those wide variances have been generated by unpredictable dis-
cretionary decisions. Because of this volatility, measures have been
introduced by yourself, and myself and Senator Mattingly in the
Senate, and we are going to be looking at some of the procedures.

(1)
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The problem is not one of inappropriate individual action but
rather a problem of inappropriate institutional incentives, proce-
dures, and accountabilities.

Our forefathers recognized long ago that we guaranteed good
government by designing institutions that lead ordinary men to
make wise decisions, not by relying on the benevolence of wise
men. The same is true with monetary policy.

We have been blessed with civil servants of unusual wisdom and
dedication in the Federal Reserve, but we have asked them to per-
form in flawed institutions. Monetary policy has been given a con-
flicting mandate to boost real economic growth, lower unemploy-
ment, lower interest rates, and maintain price stability. With these
conflicting objectives, it is little wonder that there is little account-
ability for monetary policy. No one has decided what monetary
policy can do and what it cannot do, so for what can the Federal
Reserve be held accountable? I believe that our central bankers
have done as good a job as is possible while under political pressure
to reach an impossible goal.

So we must recognize that our task necessarily is one of institu-
tional reform. Any changes must be undertaken with great care,
but the benefits to be gained from increased economic stability are
too important to be ignored.

Some ol the recommendations made at these hearings are likely
to be comprehensive and far reaching. A more modest first step
would be to make the present conduct of policy more transparent
by revealing changes in policy to the public immediately. The
Senate version of the Federal Reserve Reform Act of 1984, which
Senator Mattingly and I cosponsor, contains a version of this idea
designed to reduce market uncertainty and induce more stability in
monetary policy itself. It certainly would be in the traditions of
democratic society to reveal the intention of policy to the public,
and knowledge of monetary policy is a prerequisite to meaningful
accountability, and that's the key.

Again, I welcome you, Congressman Kemp, and I now yield to
my distinghished colleague, Senator Mattingly, who has been a
leader in this whole area ever since he first set foot in the Senate.

Senator MATTINGLY.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR MATTINGLY
Senator MATTINGLY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think this hearing on Federal Reserve accountability is very

timely. During the last 2 months, we have seen the prime interest
rate rise by 11/2 percentage points. I think the rise in percentage
points, as we all know, has a costly effect on our economy. Many
industries, especially housing and the automobile industry, are ex-
tremely sensitive to rising interest rates.

Consider the following example. If an individual owns an $80,000
home with a $64,000 mortgage for 30 years, his payments are $708
per month. For every point the interest rates go up, the monthly
mortgage rates for that mortgage will increase $50. In just the past
few weeks, we have seen $75 a month added to the cost of buying a
home for the working taxpayers of our country.
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It is no wonder, then, that for every 1 point rise in interest rates,
there will be 250,000 fewer home sales a year. For every point in-
crease in interest rates, there will be a decrease of 150,000 housing
starts.

High interest rates will kill our current economic recovery really
as dead as last year's Thanksgiving turkey.

Many schools of thought exist as to why the interest rates are
rising. Certainly the large Federal budget deficits, caused by an un-
controlled appetite for spending by Congress, are a contributing
factor. But the extremely tight monetary policy followed by the
Fed is a major factor in interest rates rising. I'm not suggesting
that we turn on the printing presses as we have done in the past,
but during the month of April the growth in the money supply was
negative. In fact, it was minus 1.2 percent.

Now, if somebody knows how we can maintain healthy growth in
the economy while the money supply is squeezed, I'd like to hear it.
I don't think it's possible. If it is, we ought to call it the Houdini
Theory of Economics, because that's how neat a trick it would be.

With this monetary policy, we won't have to worry about infla-
tion running rampant in the United States. We won't have to
worry about that at all. The bad news will be that everything else
about this economy will be going down the tube.

I don't want to try to politicize the Federal Reserve System. I
think we have enough trouble now dealing with the political re-
sults of their actions. They cause enough problems with their errat-
ic policies when they seek to fine tune the economy. If they were
overtly involved in politics, it would only make things worse.

I am concerned about the lack of openness practiced by the Fed
regarding its policy decisions. These decisions have tremendous ef-
fects on the economy and on the business decisions in our country.
Therefore, institutional reforms are necessary to make them more
forthright.

The Federal Reserve System has become like a college of cardi-
nals. Everyone from financial experts, to Government leaders, to
average investors, must sit around listening to rumors and watch-
ing the smoke coming from the chairman's cigar, hoping somehow
they will guess right about Federal Reserve policies.

Decisions made by the Federal Open Market Committee are not
announced tor weeks after that. I see no purpose that is served by
this secrecy and delay. I do see a lot of harm in this.

I have introduced, as Senator Jepsen said, Senate bill 2620, the
Federal Reserve Reform Act of 1984, in the Senate, and I know
Congressman Kemp, who is going to testify, has introduced the
same legislation in the House. And I hope Senator Symms will also
cosponsor our legislation. I won't go into the details of it because
Congressman Kemp will give us that.

But I think the bottom line of that legislation is, as long as the
President is going to be hung because of monetary policy crimes, I
think we at least ought to give him the right to pick his own ac-
complices.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The written opening statement of Senator Mattingly follows:]
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WRITTEN OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. MACK MATTINGLY

Mr. Chairman, this hearing on Federal Reserve accountability is very timely.
During the last 2 months, we have seen the prime interest rate rise by one and a
half percentage points. The rise in interest rates, as we all know, has a costly effect
on our economy. Many industries, especially housing and the automobile industry,
are extremely sensitive to rising interest rates. Consider the following example of
how rising interest rates depress housing starts and sales. If an individual owns an
$80,000 home with a $64,000 mortgage for 30 years, his payments are $708 per
month. For every point the interest rates go up, the monthly mortgage rates for
that mortgage will increase $50. In just the past few weeks, we have seen $75 a
month added to the cost of buying a home for the working taxpayers of our country.

It is no wonder then that for every one point rise in interest rates, there will be
250,000 fewer home sales a year. For every point increase in interest rates, there
will be a decrease of 150,000 housing starts.

High interest rates will kill our current economic recovery as dead as last year's
Thanksgiving turkey.

Many schools of thought exist as to why interest rates are rising. Certainly, large
Federal Budget deficits caused by an uncontrolled appetite for spending by Congress
are a contributing factor. However, the extremely tight monetary policy followed by
the Fed is a major factor in interest rates rising. I'm not suggesting that we turn on
the printing presses as we've done in the past. But during the month of April,
growth in the money supply was negative. In fact, it was minus 1.2 percent. If some-
one knows how we can maintain healthy growth in the economy while the money
supply is squeezed, I'd like to hear it. I don't think it's possible. If it is, we should
call it the "Houdini Theory of Economics" because that's how neat a trick it would
be.

With this monetary policy, we won't have to worry about inflation running ramp-
ant but that's just the good news. The bad news will be that everything else about
this economy will be going down the tube.

I do not want to politicize the Federal Reserve System. We have enough trouble
now dealing with the political results of their actions. They cause enough problems
with their erratic policies that seek to fine tune the economy. If they were overtly
involved in politics, it would only make things worse.

I am concerned with the lack of openness practiced by the Fed regarding its policy
decisions. These decisions have tremendous effects on the economy and on business
decisions. Therefore, institutional reforms are necessary to make them more forth-
right.

The Federal Reserve has become like a college of Cardinals. Everyone from finan-
cial experts, to government leaders, to average investors, must sit around listening
to rumors and watching the smoke coming from the chairman's cigar-hoping some-
how they will guess right about Federal reserve policies.

Decisions made by the Federal Open Market Committee are not announced for
weeks. I see no purpose that is served by this secrecy and delay. I do see a lot of
harm.

I have introduced the Federal Reserve Reform Act of 1984 in the Senate and I
know Congressman Kemp, whom we will hear from later today, has introduced
similar legislation in the House. My chairman here today is a cosponsor of my bill.

It would require the Federal Open Market Committee to publish decisions on the
day they are made. Let's end the guessing game. The public has a right to this infor-
mation.

Second, my bill would make the Secretary of the Treasury and the Chairman of
the Council of Economic Advisers ex-officio members of the Federal Open Market
Committee. They would not be able to vote, but they would be able to take part in
the discussions. In this way, the Fed would be certain to be informed on the admin-
istration's thinking. Likewise, the administration would know the direction the Fed
was taking and why. They might not agree but at least everyone would be informed.
It would make it more difficult for an administration to completely wash its hands
of monetary policy.

My bill, would also cut in half the 14-year terms of the Board of Governors and it
would bring the Chairman's 4-year term more in line with that of the President's
term. There would still be a 1s-month overlap for the chairman which would pro-
vide some continuity. But a president would be able to appoint a new chairman
within 13 months if he had serious disagreements with the incumbent.

As long as a president is going to be hung because of monetary policy crimes, at
least give him the right to pick his own accomplices.

Thank you.
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Senator JEPSEN. Senator Symms.
Senator SYMMS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I see that you have three very distinguished witnesses this morn-

ing, all with excellent credentials, and I appreciate you holding
these hearings, and I look forward to hearing what they have to
say.

I don't have a statement to make, but I'll have some questions
that I will ask at a later time.

Senator JEPSEN. I thank you.
Welcome, Congressman Kemp.
Your prepared statement will be entered into the record, you

may proceed in any manner you so desire.

STATEMENT OF HON. JACK KEMP, A U.S. REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE 31ST CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT OF TIlE
STATE OF NEW YORK
Representative KEMP. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me thank you for holding these hearings, and let me thank

your colleagues to your right for their comments and for their in-
terest. I can't think of a more important issue facing this country
than establishing the type of a monetary policy, Mr. Chairman, to
which you alluded, a monetary policy that will give the American
people what they desperately need. They need sound, honest
money. They need a Federal Reserve Board policy that has made
those institutional changes that will give markets more informa-
tion so that our markets are not driven by rumor and gossip and
innuendo and leaks.

Markets can deal with information if they get the information.
The problem is that today in our markets, which were once called
the Eighth Wonder of the World, they are not getting information
simultaneous to the changes that are made-in secret, in the dark,
at night, behind closed doors, by a group of wise men, one woman,
Mrs. Teeters, who are making decisions over the value of our cur-
rency, who are making decisions about interest rates, who are
making abstract decisions with regard to how high nominal GNP
should be in this country, which affects not only our own Nation,
our own debt, our deficit, our own trade policy, but, as other people
have mentioned, is affecting our Third World neighbors, our ability
to trade with other countries, and of course causing a great deal of
pain and austerity on our border in Mexico.

I think it is interesting that today, when Miguel de la Madrid
speaks before a joint session of Congress, I'm sure he will bring up
the interest rate policy of the Federal Reserve Board and the
impact it is having adversely on his ability to finance the debt that
was incurred in the late 1970's. Every 1-percent increase in the
prime rate in the United States drives Mexico's debt burden up by
$600 or $700 million.

So what we are talking about today is not just a policy that we
should not be parochial about it. I don't want to see, nor do you,
Mr. Chairman, a monetary policy designed to reelect Ronald
Reagan or Republicans or Democrats. We need a monetary policy
that will give the American people what they desperately need-
stability, information, an intellectual guideline around which they



6

can make decisions over their savings and investment accounts
that will stretch out their horizons, that will help build an industri-
al base that can compete in world markets and, of course, put this
Nation back to work and help reduce that debt burden in this
country and in the world by establishing a bigger port, a bigger in-
dustrial base, a bigger and broader economic base.

So I am delighted, Mr. Chairman, that you are holding these
hearings. I think it's the single most critical issue facing this coun-
try and the world today in terms of the impact for good or bad that
monetary policy has.

One other thing. You mentioned that we are asking the Fed to
do a lot of things. I don't disagree with that, but I think it is impor-
tant that we realize for years we have been told we cannot achieve
price stability and economic growth at the same time. There are
some in this town, and particularly in academia-not the ones who
are there today, but nonetheless there are those in academia who
say that growth in and of itself is inflationary, that inflation is
caused by too many men and women working.

I come from Buffalo, NY, Mr. Chairman, and I know you come
from Iowa. I would say the farmer, the small business people of
Iowa, those of western New York, have a big stake in what hap-
pens on these issues, and you are to be commended for holding the
hearings, and I just again want to thank you.

Thank you again for allowing me, with unanimous consent, to
put into the record my full testimony. I'd like to read just a couple
of pages and then get to the bill, because I think the question of
why are interest rates raising in the recovery is probably the key
issue at stake. And I think the institutional reforms, to which you
alluded and to which I am testifying today, are critical to providing
not only the markets with more information, Mr. Chairman, but al-
lowing us to provide the kind of monetary policy that will give this
country and the world what it very much needs.

I think the need for such a reform was made recently and dram-
atized or illustrated recently by an incident involving Mr. Frank
Morris, the president of the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston. Ac-
cording to the Washington Post of May 2, 1984, Mr. Morris dis-
closed to a group of business economists that the Federal Reserve
Board tightened its monetary policy and allowed the Federal funds
rate to rise at its March 26-27 meeting of the FOMC, the Federal
Open Market Committee, because it was concerned, Mr. Morris
said, that the economy is growing too fast.

This disclosure created an uproar, as you know, Mr. Chairman.
The next day the Wall Street Journal reported one Fed official
said, "I choked when I opened my paper this morning." Federal Re-
serve Board Governor Henry Wallich declined any comment, but
he said, "I would only be compounding the indiscretion."

Randall Forsyth put the reaction more pungently in Barron's on
May 7:

Frank Morris got a lot of his colleagues at the Federal Reserve Board mad at him
last week by doing what central bankers are never supposed to do: saying very loud
and clear what the monetary policymakers are up to.

The President of the Boston Fed-

He goes on to say-
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told a meeting of economists in Beantown that the Federal Open Market Committee
voted unanimously to tighten policy at its March 26-27 meeting in order to slow
down the economy. That revelation wasn't supposed to be made until the minutes of
the confab were released on May 25, just before Wall Street and everybody else
breaks away for the Memorial bay weekend. And if FOMC decisions are to be
leaked-

This is again Randall Forsyth in Barron's-
before their appointed time, that's the job of a certain tall, bald, cigar-smoking offi-
cial who calls favorite reporters, not the Reserve Bank heads who blab.

This incident, I repeat, Mr. Chairman, is not insignificant. I've
been here 14 years. All of us have been here for various times. I
have never in my career in the Congress come across a situation
such as this.

It is significant, I think, for two reasons. In the first place, it
highlights the fact that the 12-member FOMC Committee, which
meets in secret, does not disclose its decisions for a long time, be-
tween 5 and 6 weeks, after they are made, unless a member of the
FOMC should happen to leak the results to some favored party,
such as Mr. Morris business economists in this case.

Let me say parenthetically that if you knew in private that the
Fed had tightened at a previous meeting and no one else knew it,
you could sell D marks and buy dollars, because certainly the
dollar would rise in foreign exchange markets. You could sell
bonds and buy something else. In other words, a few people can
profit by that inside information.

Now, if the FTC found out that people were trading in inside in-
formation, as they have done recently, there would be hell to pay.
But this is done routinely, Mr. Chairman, and I think it's outra-
geous, and not only is it outrageous that a favored few get this in-
formation, it is impoverishing other people, consumers, homebuy-
ers, as you pointed out, farmers, small business people, our Third
World allies, and of course is affecting our trade balances
adversely.

There is not even a legal requirement to release the decision. It's
just a review, a r6sum6 of events that are released. What purpose
does secrecy about decisions already made serve except to churn
speculation about policy and increase the opportunity for insider
trading, as I pointed out?

Again, I believe in the law of efficient markets. I think markets
can deal with information, but it should be timely, it should be
open, it should be as candid and truthful as we possibly can be.
And every agency of the Federal Government today operates to the
degree possible in the sunshine, except one, and that's the FOMC,
meeting in secret and allowing leaks to drive our markets.

And that is an outrage. Not only is it outrageous; it certainly is
impeding the ability of our bond market and our capital markets to
get information, and of course to resume their function of provid-
ing the oxygen and the seed corn and the capital of this country to
flow into the most efficient uses for the good of the American
people, and of course our economy.

Second, Mr. Chairman-and I bring this up for obvious reasons-
the incident brings into question the propriety of the policy itself.
Why in the world is the Federal Reserve trying to slow down the
economy? On what mandate does the Fed decide that the growth of
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the economy is prima facie evidence of inflation when there is no
market anywhere in the world that leads to that conclusion, other
than what they predict will be nominal GNP in the future, predi-
cated upon a backward-looking market which is the nominal GNP
in the first quarter of 1984.

Put another way, what on earth is wrong with strong economic
growth if it is accompanied by low or no inflation, Mr. Chairman?

For the first time in almost 20 years we are seeing a strong eco-
nomic recovery with a very low rate of inflation, almost no infla-
tion as reported by the wholesale price index in the month of
April, and yet they are allowing the Federal funds rate to rise
which pushes the prime rate up and causes many of the problems,
and I think is helping to cause disequilibrium in our financial
markets.

If it is concerned with price stability, why isn't the Fed targeting
price stability instead of economic growth?

I think there is something very much wrong, Mr. Chairman. I've
been talking about it now for more than 11/2 years; you have been
talking about it, many Members of Congress on both sides of the
political aisle are deeply concerned, and they are concerned not
just with the process, Mr. Chairman, but with the present policy.

Together with many colleagues in the House, I have recently in-
troduced two pieces of legislation, H.R. 5459 and H.R. 5460. I'm not
going to go into any great detail, but I would just like to make a
very brief explanation of what those two bills would do.

The 4-year term of the Chairman of the Federal Reserve would
begin in February of the calendar year after the year in which the
President's term begins. This would make the President's and
the Chairman's terms concurrent except for a 1-year lag. This pro-
vision is supported by both Chairman Volcker and the
administration.

We put the Secretary of the Treasury as an ex officio on the
FOMC. He used to be, up until the 1930's. This provision would re-
store his earlier status and would increase input, I think, Mr.
Chairman, between an administration and the Federal Reserve
Board and help bring into if not synchronization at least into co-
ordination our fiscal and monetary policy.

The terms of the seven members of the Board of Governors
would be reduced from 14 to 7 years.

But the most important thing, Mr. Chairman, as you pointed out,
the Fed would have to announce its change in policy on the day
the decisions are adopted. This measure, advocated over the years
by many prominent economists, including Milton Friedman, would
end volatile speculation in the financial markets due to the rumors
and uncertainty about Federal Reserve policy.

As you know, under current law there is no requirement that de-
cisions be released. The new provision would end that dilemma.

Insofar as the policy of the Federal Reserve, I would suggest, Mr.
Chairman, as in my second bill, that it be the policy of the Federal
Reserve Board, through its Open Market Committee, to maintain
as low an interest rate as possible and as stable an exchange rate
as possible, and encourage as strong an economic growth as possi-
ble to the extent that such policy is consistent with long-term price
stability.
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Current law states a number of desirable objectives but it does
not give any direction as to the relative importance, nor does it
anywhere state that price stability or the integrity of the U.S.
dollar as the overriding goal toward which Federal Reserve policy
is directed.

Our bill would establish a price rule for conducting monetary
policy.

We would have the Federal Reserve Board Chairman and the
Secretary of the Treasury be directed to develop an index, a proxy,
a leading indicator around which the FOMC could conduct its
policy with an eye on those worthwhile objectives of economic
growth and lower interest rates, but all subordinated ultimately to
the integrity of the dollar and low rates of inflation.

I agree with Senator Mattingly. We do not want the Fed trying
to lower interest rates by printing more money. It wouldn't work. If
they just tried to zoom on the money supply, as the current usage
of the term implies, it would raise interest rates. It would destabi-
lize our markets.

What we need is an intellectual guideline, an institutional
change, around which people can stretch out their horizons and
once again predict the value of the U.S. dollar over a long period of
time and reduce the risk premium that is now being charged in the
lending for those who want to borrow over a long period of time.

I will just close with this thought. People say, "How would you
know when to sell, when to sell bonds and drain reserves out of the
system or buy bonds and inject reserves into the system?"

You would do it not around nominal GNP; you wouldn't do it
around backward-leading indicators; you wouldn't do it around the
lag effect of the so-called money supply. You would look at some
index of raw commodities as a proxy for future rates of inflation or
deflation. I submit to you, Mr. Chairman, that one of the most im-
portant institutional changes we can make is to depoliticize the
Fed, and to protect its independence by giving it a rule around
which it can make decisions that will bring to the American people
the sound money that was really the hallmark of the American
dollar for decades.

And I appreciate so much you giving me this opportunity to testi-
fy. I know you have other witnesses for whom I have high regard. I
would like to close at this point and maybe just engage in a collo-
quy with those who are here today.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Congressman Kemp follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. JACK KEMP

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the invitation to testify -before the Joint Economic
Committee on legislation designed to improve both the policy and policy-making of
the Federal Reserve System.

The need for such a reform was made clear recently, Mr. Chairman, by an inci-
dent involving Frank Morris, the President, of the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston.
According to the Washington Post of May 2, 1984, Mr. Morris disclosed to a group of
business economists that the Federal Reserve tightened monetary policy at the
March 26-27 meeting of the Federal Open Market Committee, because it was con-
cerned that the economy is growing too fast.

This disclosure created something of an uproar. The next day, the Wall Street
Journal reported one "Fed official" as saying. "I almost choked when I opened my



10

paper this morning." Federal Reserve Board Governor Henry Wallich declined com-
ment, saying, "I would only be compounding the indiscretion."

Randall Forsyth put the reaction more pungently in Barron's (May 7):
"Frank Morris got a lot of his colleagues at the Federal Reserve mad at him last

week by doing what central bankers are never supposed to do: saying loud and clear
what the monetary policy makers are up to.

"The President of the Boston Fed told a meeting of economists in Beantown that
the Federal Open Market Committee voted unanimously to tighten policy at its
March 26-27 meeting in order to slow the economy. That revelation wasn't supposed
to be made until minutes of the confab were released on May 25, just before Wall
Street and everybody else breaks away for the Memorial Day weekend. And, if
FOMC decisions are to be leaked before their appointed time, that's the job of cer-
tain tall, cigar-smoking officials who call favorite reporters, not Reserve Bank heads
who blab."

The incident is significant for two reasons, Mr. Chairman. In the first place, it
highlights the fact that the 12-member Federal Open Market Committee, which
meets in secret, does not even disclose its decisions for a long time after they are
made, unless a member of the FOMC should happen to leak the results to some fa-
vored party, like Mr. Morris' business economists. There is not even a legal require-
ment to release the decisions, ever. What purpose does secrecy about decisions al-
ready made serve, except to churn speculation about policy and increase the oppor-
tunity for insider trading? And why do we have to piece together a guess about
what the Fed is doing by reading between the lines of the newspapers?

Second, the incident brings into question the propriety of the policy itself. Why in
the world is the Federal Reserve trying to slow down the economy? Put another
way, what on Earth is wrong with strong economic growth if it is accompanied by
low or no inflation rate? If its concern is with price stability, why isn't the Federal
Reserve targeting price stability, instead of economic growth?

I believe that there is something wrong, Mr. Chairman, both with the process of
Federal Reserve policy-making, and with the recent policy itself. Together with
many colleagues I recently introduced two pieces of legislation designed to address
these two concerns, HR. 5459 and H.R. 5460. In my testimony, I would like to ex-
plain these two bills and the reasoning behind them.

PROCESS

When the Federal Reserve System was established in 1913, the discretion of its
executive was limited, both by its charter and by the system within which it operat-
ed We were under a gold standard, which meant that the Fed has no monetary
powers, and the Fed was originally given a very limited control of credit and bank-
ing. Over the years, the first constraint was weakened and finally eliminated, while
the Federal Reserve's regulatory powers and control of credit were steadily expand-
ed. In the past decade, for the first time in its history, the Federal Reserve has en-
joyed sweeping powers over both money and credit. Yet the Federal Reserve contin-
ues to formulate policy under conditions of relative secrecy and lack of accountabil-
ity which have long since become obsolete.

There is a manifest need to allow the markets and the American people more-
and more timely-information about policy decisions which affect them. Today
there is not even any legislative requirement for the FOMC to release minutes or
publicize its policy decisions, although it has become customary for the Committee
to release a selected summary after an irregular interval of one or two months.

Recently, this delay had engendered extreme uncertainty in the world's stock,
bond, commodity and currency markets, as they have reacted to each rumor and
perception of monetary policy changes. It is axiomatic that the efficiency of markets
depends on the general availability of accurate information. The recent uncertainty
has undoubtedly damaged the stability which is necessary for economic and invest-
ment decisions. This benefits no one but those who trade upon rumor and real or
imagined inside information. The continuation of Fed secrecy under these circum-
stances is an anachronism, as many respected economists, such as Milton Friedman,
have pointed out.

All agencies of the government have undergone similar democratic reforms in the
last 10 or 15 years. Disclosure naturally tends to be resisted at first by those within
the institutions themselves. But "sunshine" and freedom of information measures
have been applied to countless other agencies, with positive effect. Clearly, it is a
positive benefit where no overriding national security interest is involved. The time
has come for the United States' central bank to participate in the general openness.
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Its decisions are too important to be hold from the knowledge of the American
people.

Our first bill, The Federal Reserve Reform Act of 1984 (H.R. 5459), contains sever-
al provisions which would open the decisionmaking process of the Federal Reserve.
However, it is important to note that the traditional relationship between the Fed-
eral Reserve and the Congress would be unchanged. The bill's provisions are as fol-
lows:

1. The Federal Open Market Committee shall announce changes in its policy on
the day the decisions are adopted.

This measure, advocated over the years by many economists, including Milton
Friedman, would end volatile speculation in the financial markets due to rumors
and uncertainty over Federal Reserve policy.

2. The 4-year term of the Chairman of the System shall begin in February of the
calendar year after the year in which the President's term begins.

This makes the President's and Chairman's terms concurrent except for a one-
year lag. The provision is supported by Chairman Paul Volcker, the Reagan Admin-
istration, and the House Banking Committee.

3. The Secretary of the Treasury shall be made an ex officio member of the Feder-
al Open Market Committee.

The Treasury Secretary was a member of the Federal Reserve Board for many
years, until the mid-1930s. This provision would restore his earlier status. This
would increase the input and understanding of the Administration with regard in
formulating monetary policy. It would also make it impossible for the Administra-
tion to disclaim responsibility for a monetary policy in which it had no part. When I
questioned him before a House subcommittee recently, Treasury Secretary Donald
Regan supported the idea.

4. The terms of the seven members of the Board of Governors would be reduced
from 14 to 7 years each.

This would permit a somewhat faster turnover of membership. However, a 7-year
term would still provid, continuity in policymaking-which was apparently the
original idea behind the 14-year term-since it is longer than terras of U.S. Presi-
dents, Senators, or Congressmen.

Taken together, these measures would modernize the Federal Reserve, bringing
its practice of decisionmaking to the threshold of the twenty-first century.

POLICY

Just as important as the way in which policy is made, is the effectiveness of the
policy itself. Much of the current uncertainty over Federal Reserve policy reflects
the unlimited discretion of the Federal Open Market Committee, and the absence of
any established rule for guiding its policy.

This is partly a failure of the law. Surprisingly, the legislation authorizing the
Federal Reserve contains no direction stating that the integrity of our currency
should be the central bank's overriding goal. Our second bill, the Balanced Mone-
tary Policy and Price Stability Act of 1984 (H.R. 5460), corrects this omission by in-
structing the Federal Reserve, for the first time, to make long-term price stability
its overriding objective. Thus it would avoid inflationary as well as deflationary
swings in prices.

Also, in the absence of a firm monetary standard like the precious metals, the Fed
needs stricter guidelines for its discretion in setting intermediate policy. According-
ly, our second bill would direct the Fed to abandon its on-again, off-again policy of
'targeting" measures of the money supply which are constantly being shifted,
changed, and redefined. Nor would it be permitted to "peg" interest rates, as it did
for many years, without reference to its overriding goal of price stability.

If the central bank's objective is price stability, we believe it should actually
target some proxy for the general price level, and not something else. H.R. 5460 di-
rects the Federal Reserve Board Chairman and the Treasury Secretary to devise a
price index for this purpose; to set a target range for the index; and to conduct
FOMC policy according to this target. Under the current monetary standard, no
other guide can possibly determine whether monetary policy is too loose (inflation-
ary) or too tight (deflationary).

Specifically, H.R. 5460 does the following:
1. The bill makes it clear for the first time that of all the desirable goals men-

tioned in the authorizing legislation, price stability is paramount. The bill states
that "it shall be the policy of the [Federal Open Market] Committee to maintain low
interest rates and stable exchange rates, and to encourage strong economic growth,
to the extent that such policy is consistent with long-term price stability."
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2. The bill establishes a "price rule" for conducting monetary policy.
(a) The Federal Reserve Board Chairman and the Secretary of the Treasury are

directed to develop a price index to assist the FOMC in conducting its policy.
(bi The index shall contain one or more commodities, such as the precious metals,

which are chosen for their sensitivity primarily to secular or long-term trends in
inflation and deflation, rather than to the business cycle or supply disturbances.

(c) The Chairman and the Secretary shall establish a target range for the price
index which, in their judgment, will not result in a decline in the general price
level.

(d) If the index rises above the target range, the FOMC shall tighten the cost and/
or availability of bank reserves; if the index falls below the target range, the FOMC
shall ease the cost and/or availability of bank reserves.

(e) In case of a serious threat to domestic or international financial stability, the
Chairman, and the Secretary together may, after a joint declaration of the extraor-
dinary circumstances, set a new target range.

A word of explanation is in order about the price index, Mr. Chairman. While
there are many existing price indexes which could conceivably be used, none of
them was specifically designed for conducting monetary policy. Many of the indexes
go back three or four decades, or even more. By permitting the adoption of a new
index, our legislation permits the monetary authorities to take advantage of the
latest research on the subject.

Having said that, though the bill does not require it, I am personally convinced
that the best proxy for the price level is also the oldest-the precious metals, and
specifically the price of gold. The purchasing power of gold over long periods has
remained remarkably constant. It is the most "monetary" and forward-looking of all
commodities. Indeed, I think we must eventually restore a modern gold standard.
But that goes beyond my purpose here today.

If the "price rule" policy outlined in H.R. 5460 had been in place, it is likely that
we would have avoided the wild swings in prices, interest rates, unemployment, ex-
change rates, and economic growth, of the past dozen years.

3. The Secretary of the Treasury is directed to seek the establishment of a new
international advisory task force, and ultimately an international monetary confer-
ence, consisting of representatives of the major industrial nations. The purpose of
the task force and the conference is to explore reforms of the international mone-
tary system which would improve world-wide price stability, stability of exchange
rates, and the prospects for liberal trade and strong, noninflationary economic
growth.

This provision lays the groundwork for reform of the international monetary
system. It would address many of the root causes of the international debt crisis, of
pressures for protectionism, and of debilitating currency swings like the fall of the
dollar in the 1970s and the rise of the dollar since 1980.

In summary, Mr. Chairman, the time is long overdue for a reform of the Federal
Reserve-both concerning the process of policymaking, regardless of the content of
policy; and concerning the nature of the policy itself. Our two bills, HR. 5459 and
5460, are designed to address both problems. I am firmly convinced that these bills
would result in much better Federal Reserve policy, while increasing the stability
of the markets by providing more accurate and timely information about policy de-
cisions.

Our ultimate goMl is not merely better monetary policy, Mr. Chairman, but hope
for those Americans whose lives are touched in any way by the value of money.
Greater certainty of policy, and greater confidence in price stability, will mean
lower interest rates, higher economic growth, and more jobs for working men and
women like my Buffalo-area steelworkers. While monetary policy often seems to be
obscure, it really translates into a bread-and-butter matter for most Americans.
That is why we must go ahead and undertake the necessary reforms of monetary
policy and continue the progress which has begun, toward full employment without
inflation

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, for permitting me to bring this legislation to
your Committee's attention.

Senator JEPSEN. Thank you, Congressman Kemp.
Senator Mattingly, you may proceed.
Senator MArINGLY. I really don't have too much to add. We

have so much unanimity in here we ought to just go ahead and
pass the legislation.
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Let me ask you this. You addressed part of it, the dramatic cycle
swings in money in the economy that tend to obscure some of the
other trends such as productivity and growth which I believe is a
result of the effort to lower taxes and total public spending.

Would you comment on that problem caused by the volatile
monetary policy for interpreting the impact of Reagan's fiscal ini-
tiatives.

Representative KEMP. Well, let's face it. That's the biggest debate
in this town. There are those who say it's the fiscal policy that's
driving the interest rates, and I don't deny the fact that you can
overspend and put pressure on the capital markets and cause a
higher real interest rate by just forcing more spending on the Gov-
ernment.

I have been accused in the past of saying deficits don't matter. I
have never said that. I do not believe that. I think that deficits do
matter, and I'm just as concerned about deficits as anybody else.

However, having said that as a premise, I don't think you can
explain the current disequilibrium in our financial markets or the
bond market simply by looking at the deficit alone, nor do I think
it is the deficit in this case that is driving the interest rates, be-
cause at this point in the recovery the deficit is coming down mar-
ginally as State and local governments boost revenues with higher
rates of employment and higher business profits and a better cash
flow for U.S. industry, and more men and women working and
paying sales tax with higher retail sales and the various indicators
that we have seen in the recovery of 1983 and the first quarter of
1984.

I won't go into detail, but the recovery has brought about a much
better financial picture at the State and local level. Some people
have suggested it has led to a surplus at the State and local level of
almost $46 to $50 billion.

Having said that, the national deficit has dropped from a predict-
ed 1984 level of $190 billion to, at least in the first quarter on an
annualized basis, something closer to $160 billion. Many financial
analysts say we don't know what it's going to be because we don't
know, as the chairman pointed out, and as you pointed out, Mr.
Mattingly, what the policy of the Fed is going to be.

The point I wanted to make was here you have a recovery, very
strong, nominal GNP in the first quarter of 1984 racing along at 12
percent, real growth at about 7.5 to 8 percent, helping put people
back to work and establish the conditions for a broader base to our
industrial expansion, and the deficit coming down, and then you
hear from Frank Morris in Boston that the Fed decided to let the
Federal funds rate, which had been trading at 10% and 10/, go up
to 113/s or 11%, which of course put pressure on the prime rate.
And they did it because the economy was too strong.

So we are in a catch 22. They are saying the recovery will put
pressure on higher interest rates, so they want to raise interest
rates in order to slow down the economy to reduce the request for
credit that will otherwise lower interest rates and get the economy
growing again.

Talk about an argument that is fatuous and circular, that is one
that I think is absurd on the face of it, and has to be answered by

38-417 0-84--2
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those of us who believe that you can have price stability and eco-
nomic growth simultaneously.

So I think the most important thing we could do for that fiscal
policy is to continue the recovery, make sure that interest rates are
allowed to come down. consistent with price stability and not reig-
niting inflation, as you pointed out before. And I submit that if in-
terest rates were allowed to come down to where the Federal funds
rate was, say, somewhere in the 8 to 9 range, and the recovery was
continuing to expand on into, say, 1984-85, and then you saw sig-
nals that inflation was predicted in the markets, you would see it
in the price of gold, you'd see it in the precious metals, you'd see it
in commodity prices, futures and spot, you'd see it in velocity,
you'd see it in some of the things that I'm sure will be discussed a
little bit later. You'd see it in futures markets. You'd see those
leading indicators pointing to it. Then, of course, the Fed could
move to sell bonds and drain reserves, but to be selling bonds and
draining reserves and limiting the credit supply of this country at
this point in the recovery, without any market telling us we
should, I think is rather at odds with our hope of getting the deficit
down.

Senator MArrINGLY. Let me ask you this question because I
think some people probably try to criticize our legislation by saying
that it wouldn't make any difference if they announced it like they
do now, later, rather than the day they make it. I think you need
to sort of develop that just for a moment, really what impact will
that have? Because I can see somebody writing right now and
saying, "Well, it doesn't make any difference if they do it 30 days
from today or do it today." Could you develop that?

Representative KEMP. Well, someone asked Chairman Volcker
what he thought about this legislation, and he said it would tie his
hands. And I asked the question, "Why would it tie his hands?" He
has so much power over policy, and of course the members of the
FOMC do. Why is it going to tie their hands? What's wrong with
giving markets more information in an immediate sense? And does
it help the markets to allow for rumor and gossip and innuendo
and leaks to drive our markets? And they see what happens in the
bond market.

Senator SYMMS. If it isn't going to tie his hands, what good is it
going to do, then? [Laughter.]

Representative KEMP. Well, I guess I look at this from a little bit
different perspective than the gentleman from Idaho, at least in
this regard. I know the framework from which the question is
asked. Let me just take it, though, from a premise that I think is
an important premise, which is that the independence of the Fed is
something that I think, if we can talk long enough, we can come to
a common agreement. You don't want a Fed that is politicized. We
don't want a Fed operating on a Paul Volcker standard, which it is
today. It shouldn't be Jack Kemp's standard; it shouldn't be Ronald
Reagan's standard. We don't want a Republican or a Democratic or
Tip O'Neill or anybody else.

My point is that if markets are to be efficient, they need infor-
mation immediately. And you're right, the Chairman of the Feder-
al Reserve Board, at least with regard to changing policy, should
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not be allowed the type of flexibility that he has where he can keep
information away from those markets.

So, yes, to the extent that I would like to tie his hands in that
regard, I agree with the gentleman.

Senator MATTINGLY. But that space between the time they
make that decision and the time it is announced, the speculation is
dangerous.

Representative KEMP. Absolutely.
Senator MATTINGLY. That's the bottom line.
Representative KEMP. Not only is it dangerous, Senator Matting-

ly, it is inefficient. It doesn't do what markets need.
Senator MATTINGLY. But you can't help but have it get out.
Representative KEMP. Yes, that's what happened with Mr.

Morris. He went out to his clients and he said, "Aha, the growth in
the economy was to high in the first quarter. We tightened. We al-
lowed the Federal funds rate to trade at higher levels," and if you
knew that you could make a lot of money. But that isn't what I'm
worried about, as much as I am worried about the fact that it is
causing such discontinuity in our financial markets that no one
can predict what is going to happen over the next 48 hours, much
less day to day. And it is causing everyone to shorten their hori-
zons; it is causing a traffic jam in short-term instruments; it is re-
ducing the maturity rates of U.S. bonds; it is causing the Treasury
to be unable to sell its 3-year paper and 20-year paper and 30-year
paper, and it's forcing homeowners and small business people and
farmers to suffer the highest real interest rates in the history of
this country.

Senator SYMMS. I have been told the Treasury won't even go into
the market to make a Treasury bill auction unless the Chicago
Board of Trade is open, because without the protection that people
can have that are buying them and ability to hedge, they simply
can't do it.

Representative KEMP. It certainly caused pandemonium. To a
certain degree last week there was pandemonium in our bond
market.

Senator SYMMs. Well, the bond market scratched two full market
points here a couple of days, and that cost everybody in this coun-
try money-the small businessman, the homeowner, the little
people. And I think to some degree part of it is stirred up by the
hysteria of the news media in addition with the secrecy. I mean Dr.
Doom from Solomon Bros. can go out and give a speech and it will
change the market a couple of points, because it makes the news.
And sometimes I wonder what position his bond house holds when
he makes those speeches with respect to the futures markets. But
that's not the question I want to ask.

As one here who voted against Chairman Volcker's reconfirma-
tion as Chairman of the Fed, and when asked, when the adminis-
tration called me and said, "We heard you were going to vote
against Paul Volcker and we wonder who you recommended?"-
and I'm really impressed with your testimony, I might say, Jack. I
wasn't sure when people were talking about Jack Kemp for Feder-
al Reserve Chairman if it was a good idea. [Laughter.]

But after hearing your testimony, I think it is a good idea.
Representative KEMP. No politics, please.
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Senator SYMMS. But they asked me the question, "If you're not
going to vote for him, who do you recommend?"

I said, "Well, you should do it one of two ways. Your goals should
be to remove uncertainty from the market, so if you want to go on
a price standard on a commodity base and get somebody who be-
lieves in gold, then you should pick out some credible business
person that understands the question, like Louis Lehrman, and put
him in as Chairman of the Federal Reserve so the market can pre-
dict which way it's going to go with the Fed."

."Or," I said, "if you want to talk about monetism and use the
monetist philosophy, you should put somebody who is a credible
monetist in who will put a monkey in there punching the machine
every month and so the market can adjust to it, like Milton Fried-
man." Milton Friedman would have been a choice-he wouldn't
have been what you're talking about with a price index but at least
it would have been consistent and the market could adjust to it.

But what we have, I think is the worst of both worlds.
But the question I want to get to with the reform bill-and I

haven't sponsored it yet but I'm very interested in it-is there any-
thing about the particular operation of the Federal Reserve right
now that limits them from doing what they are doing without this
legislation? Why couldn't they do that right now?

Representative KEMP. That's a good question. Actually, they are
under no obligation to release the information. Congress, who set
up the Fed, has never required that the Fed deliver timely infor-
mation to the American people. And really, the responsibility, the
obligation is on the backs of the U.S. Congress for not doing it. It is
outrageous that we would let them get away with this and, frankly,
we should be held accountable. And that's why I'm making such a
fight over this, and I appreciate the interest of our distinguished
chairman and his colleagues.

Could I just make a footnote to this. I don't think we ought to get
into a debate between Milton Friedman and Louis Lehrman or
Preston Martin. I think the point has to be that money does
matter. Milton Friedman is right. Money matters. What monetary
policy is all about matters desperately to our markets and to our
country and to a world that has cried out for the dollar to once
again be the standard, the numerare, if you will, that it once was
under the Bretton Woods International Monetary System.

But irrespective of that, I think it is really a shame that we now
have members of the Federal Reserve Board and a Chairman who
think that growth in and of itself is inflationary. That is what
bothers me.

Senator SYMMs. Well, I think that's outrageous.
Representative KEMP. And they are not looking at anything

other than what happened to the economy 3 months ago. And I am
suggesting that if that is the way we are going to drive our mar-
kets in the future, that is going to shorten everyone's horizon. It's
going to keep the risk premium in the interest rate very much
higher than it otherwise should be. It's going to cause terrible prob-
lems to Third" World countries that we desperately need as friends
and allies and neighbors and markets for American exports. And
it's just going to cause all sorts of continuing problems, notwith-
standing what it does to the social equation in people's lives, young
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married men and women, small businessmen and women, farmers,
steel workers.

I just think that the Congress has this responsibility and ought
to act.

Now, many members of the Democratic Party are beginning to
say something along these lines, and we haven't come to a synchro-
nization of our efforts yet. But Lee Hamilton and members of this
committee are talking about this.

Senator SyMMS. Congressman Kemp, I want to ask you one more
question, a question that the conservative establishment in and out
of Washington would ask, which is: For next year they'd say the
Congress is projecting to spend $925 billion, approximately. They
are projecting revenues of about $750 billion, which is about 19 per-
cent of the projected GNP, and the spending is about 25 percent of
the GNP. If the Congress would just bring the spending back down
to below that 20-percent level of the GNP so there wouldn't be such
a difference, you wouldn't even know who Paul Volcker's name
was.

How do you answer that?
Representative KEMP. I disagree with that. Fiscal policy cannot

be discussed in a vacuum which is the whole argument that I think
we are trying to make today, and that the President and Don
Regan have made. It suffers the brickbats of most of the editorial-
ists in the Eastern newspapers for daring to suggest that promot-
ing economic growth and getting more men and women back to
work will not only be healthy to our country in terms of the social
consequence but it would also be healthy to the budget.

Senator SYMMS. It is interesting that Ronald Reagan has a
budget which on paper looks out of sync or out of balance to the
extent that you mentioned -revenues are 19 percent of GNP and
spending is 24.5 to 25 percent of GNP. Clearly something happened
in 1980 and 1981 and 1982 to cause that huge amount of expendi-
ture for social programs that are linked to the health of the econo-
my.

And I think the President is wise, as is Don Regan, and a few
people in this town, who have focused some of their intellectual
and political capital on making the economy expand to bring about
a healthier industrial base, to bring about a more competitive trade
balance, to try to bring our spending down, and to recognize that
you can't have a healthy balance or equilibrium in your fiscal
policy until you have a healthy economy.

Representative KEMP. I think it's an important debate, I would
say to my friend from Idaho, because, frankly, as a conservative-
and I share the gentleman's premises to a certain degree-I don't
think you could get spending down without a strong recovery. Be-
cause if the recovery should collapse, if we should go into a reces-
sion in auto, steel, housing and farming, or if we don't continue the
recovery, you are never going to be able to get spending down with-
out literally abolishing programs upon which this country depends
for its security, and upon which this nation depends to protect
people from economic disaster. I don't think you'd see any of us in
this room ever in office again. I don't think the American people
want us to follow that type of thing.
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Senator SYMMS. My time is up, and I thank you very much. I jutt
want to say, Mr. Chairman, as one Senator, I'm very glad I was
here to hear this witness this morning, and I wish we had the
whole Senate here, both sides of the aisle, but particularly I wish
we could get at least one party in this town to focus on this issue. I
think you have done an outstanding job.

Representative KEMP. Thank you.
Senator JEPSEN. Thank you very much.
If I might take a few moments here to exchange some thoughts

with the Congressman.
If the Federal Reserve announced the nature of changes in mone-

tary policy immediately, there would seem to be a tendency, then,
to make firmer decisions rather than to have policy contingent on
every shortrun event and the exercise of judgment. There would be
less discretion, and this would tend to lead to a less variable policy
and result in a more stable economy.

Is that fairly accurate?
Representative KEMP. Mr. Chairman, I generally agree with that.

I would be a little bit concerned that you cannot just say that con-
sistency is the sole target, because we could have a consistently bad
policy, and I think that would be dangerous.

For instance, if we just merrily targeted one policy that led this
country into a situation such as Britain has followed-you know,
for 4 or 5 years they have been trying to get their economy back in
shape, and they have very high interest rates. They have a lower
deficit as a percentage of their economy than we do, and they have
changed their policy.

So I would be concerned about the statement, but I know the
context in which it is being stated. But I don't want a consistently
bad policy. I think what we want is a consistently good policy. The
best policy we can give the American people is price stability and
an interest rate policy that is consistent with the noninflationary
economic growth of this country.

Senator JEPSEN. Would you agree with this statement: If the
Government takes too much of people's money to spend, the econo-
my can't grow; we need to keep taxes down to stimulate spending.

Representative KEMP. Gee, that sounds familiar, Mr. Chairman.
Senator JEPSEN. But this has little to do with how much money

the Fed prints, which controls inflation.
Representative KEMP. The trouble with measuring the supply of

money, Mr. Chairman, is we live in a global economy in which
money is fungible and you can't just trace a dollar to someone's
pocketbook and say that that amount of cash in circulation in the
United States or Washington, DC, with a 6-month lag or a year lag,
is going to determine the nominal GNP at some future date. With
all due respect to my friends, I think this is a debate that ought to
be ongoing, and I hope we can find some marriage between my
friends in the monetarist movement and my friends in the price
stability movement, because on fiscal policy they do agree, or we do
agree.

I am not sure yet that you can measure price stability with an
M, particularly because we live in a global economy; we don't live
in a partial equilibrium situation where you can measure just the
money supply of the United States. With money being fungible
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across the borders and electronically, and not knowing what the
effect is, I think we have to be very careful that we look at an indi-
cator that would tell us what the future level of inflation or defla-
tion is. And I just happen to think that rather than looking at an
M, although it is important, we should be looking at a P, some
price rule around which we can engage, whether people view the
future with the hope that our prices can be stable.

That is my main concern at this point, Mr. Chairman.
Senator JEPSEN. I am hearing daily, as I work in the hustings, in

my State of Iowa, that the deficit is the single most serious thing
we have; it's the villain; it's causing the high interest rates. In dis-
cussions when you point out the fact that the deficits have risen
rather dramatically in the last few years and interest rates have
fallen by about half, then we get into the real interest, and the
reason is made that the spread has increased. But that isn't actual-
ly true, either. The inflation rate was about 13.5 and the interest
rate was 21.5, but on the firing line they were charged 23 and 24 in
my State in those days. So the real rate is lower even though the
deficit is higher. But as you indicated, Congressman Kemp, the def-
icit is somewhat less than it has been. The deficit today is 13.5 or
14 percent less than it was a year ago.

Representative KEMP. Yes sir, that's right.
Senator JEPSEN. The deficit has dropped dramatically in the last

5 months, and yet interest rates are blipping up. This situation
tells us what?

Representative KEMP. It tells us we have an FOMC and a Chair-
man of the Fed, as I pointed out in my testimony, Mr. Chairman,
who is allowing the interest rates to go up because he is afraid that
that growth is ipso facto inflationary. I don't see any market that
would give that indication, Mr. Chairman. And that's our whole
case. Not Only does the institutional change need to be made in
terms of giving the markets more simultaneously information, but
it also has to change that policy that is allowing this Federal Re-
serve Board to raise interest rates in recovery which are going to
increase the debt, increase the debt service, increase the deficit, in-
crease the national debt, hurt farmers and businessmen and
women and consumers and home buyers and young men and young
women and our Third World allies. I can't think of any more
people left in this work, other than those who can trade and specu-
late in international exchange markets on whether or not the
dollar is going to rise or fall because they got some information
from a leak from the FOMC. It's outrageous.

Senator JEPSEN. Isn't the deficit a symptom rather than a disease
itself?

Representative KEMP. Absolutely. It's a manifestation. It's an ex-
ample of the discontinuity that has been allowed to exist in mone-
tary policy since 1979, when they switched from targeting interest
rates in October of 1979 to targeting animal spirits. Because if you
had Chairman Volcker speaking today, he would put a chart on
that wall. There would be so many charts and so many targets by
the end of the year, he will tell you, "Yes, we hit that one, and we
hit maybe that one, "and if he didn't hit the right one he'd rede-
fine the target.
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So all we really know about what this country is undergoing in
terms of monetary policy is a guess, an innuendo, and leaks. And
there are no intellectual guidelines around which people can make
decisions over long-term monetary policy or their decisions on sav-
ings and investment. And I submit to you, Mr. Chairman, that is
inhibiting the recovery that is necessary to get the deficit down.

Senator MArTINGLY. It's not just the monetary policy but the
bottom line of deciding how much growth we are supposed to have
in this country.

Representative KEMP. A 9-percent nominal GNP.
Senator MATTINGLY. It is trying to decide what's high growth,

which I think is stupid. The Fed has never said, "We want 7-per-
cent growth in the economy"; right? I mean, if it's 7 percent they
said it's too high; if it's 3 percent they say its too low. If it's 12 per-
cent, nobody knows. You have a small group of people trying to
decide how much economic growth, and they say growth if it's 12
percent is bad, which I can't understand. Will you explain to me
why growth is bad?

Representative KEMP. Preston Martin had a good line the other
day. Preston Martin said that there is no overheated economy;
there are just overheated economists. And I agree with Pres
Martin.

Senator MATTINGLY. But there are just a few people, though,
making that decision, that is putting out the word that we
shouldn't have growth in this country.

Representative KEMP. Well, I think they want growth, but the
problem is they think we are in a situation in which we are rising
up against the utilization of the capacity that is necessary-well, I
didn t put it right. We are bumping up against existing capacity.
When you get around 81-percent utilization capacity, somehow any
more growth over a level of, say, 3 or 4 percent, might put pressure
on prices, and, apparently, then bid up prices.

I mean, that basically is simplistic but it is their theory.
But what they don't take into consideration, I would say to my

friend from Georgia, is that productivity is up. Productivity is a lot
higher than was estimated by OMB and CBO and some of these
economists, (a); (b), the velocity of money is less because inflation is
down and people are willing to hold their currency longer because
it's worth more.

Then, third, I would say to my friend, we changed the tax laws
in 1981. We boosted the capital stock of the country. We made a
significant impact in raising the total capital stock of this country
in 1981 through our new changes in depreciation schedules, by low-
ering the tax rates, boosting the equity and venture capital mar-
kets. I think it's obvious that cash flow of businesses today is better
than it's been in a long while which is important for generating
the internal cash that is necessary to finance long-term invest-
ment. You don't finance all the long-term investment on debt. You
finance long-term investment with the proper depreciation sched-
ules and proper cash flow, which is beginning to have an impact on
this economy.

So to look at the economy in one narrow factor, that is, utiliza-
tion of plant capacity, and say that that's inflationary, or that in-
flation is caused by too many men and women working, is equiva-
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lent of Michael Blumenthal's statment in 1979 when he said infla-
tion is caused by a factor that acts and interacts in strange and
mysterious ways. And he left it at that.

And I submit that we now have a Secretary of the Treasury and
a President and some people in this town, on both sides of the aisle,
I might say-a lot who are not-who understand that the answer
to inflation is more production, more productivity, more capital for-
mation, more men and women working, more output in economic
growth as long as prices are not rising.

That is the signal that we ought to be using, and I think we can
design, through the Secretary of the Treasury and the Fed, a rule
that will give us a monetary policy that will help stabilize ex-
change rates, lower interest rates, and continue this recovery
which is critical to this Nation's health.

Senator JEPSEN. If interest rates today were actually a reflection
of what historically they had been in comparison with inflation,
they'd be considerably lower.

Representative KEMP. Yes, sir.
Senator JEPSEN. And now they're too high.
Representative KEMP. They're too high.
Senator JEPSEN. What do we need to do specifically in the two or

three--
Representative KEMP. I think this bill, Mr. Chairman, is a start.

I hope that people will give some thought to the second aspect of
the package, which is a price rule, because--

Senator SYMMS. Is a price rule not in the bill?
Representative KEMP. Well, there are two bills, one of which is

an institutional change in the Open Market Committee's oper-
ations, and the second one, alluded to in my testimony, addresses
this question of why the Federal funds rate is trading this morning
at 10.5 with inflation at a very low level? Why is the Federal funds
rate, the cost of overnight money in member banks of the Federal
Reserve, being allowed to trade at such a high level? It's because
the Fed has been tightening credit conditions and draining reserves
out of the system on an abstract belief that the economy is growing
nominally too high. And I just find that to be inconsistent with this
country's needs and inconsistent with our budget problems. And I
wonder, Mr. Chairman, if the Chairman of the Federal Reserve
Board is not trying to panic-I shouldn't say "panic" because that's
too pejorative-is not trying to---

Senator JEPSEN. Stampede?
Representative KEMP [continuing]. Politicize the Congress into

some type of a gross deficit down payment reduction package, that
is, raising taxes, that would, I think, be another impediment to
keeping this recovery going.

Senator SYMMs. I might just say to Congressman Kemp that
when he testified before the Budget Committee, I asked him about
five times if he wasn't just holding the Congress hostage to a big
tax increase in order to lower interest rates, and he denied that.
But he did finally come around and say, after all was said and
done, that he thought a tax increase was necessary, which bothers
me somewhat because I would have to agree with you, although I
think I am probably more concerned about the deficit maybe than
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some of my colleagues are. The budget is balanced every year. It's
just a question of the accounting system.

And it is ridiculous for people-the idiot mentality of the country
is we never taught people about true economics and freedom in
this country in our Government school systems. They don't under-
stand that point of view.

Representative KEMP. Who doesn't?
Senator SYMMS. The general public.
Representative KEMP. I disagree with that.
Senator SYMMS. The news media talks about nothing but the def-

icit. First they talk about inflation, and then they talk about unem-
ployment, and then they talk about interest rates, and now they
are talking about the deficit. And the budget is balanced. We are
balancing it by borrowing money now out of the public sector. And
the Government is taking a portion of this money.

Representative KEMP. I have to go vote, which is probably lucky
for you and the next witnesses.

If you put this to a referendum, if you ask the American people,
"Would you want a government to once again guarantee the pur-
chasing power of the U.S. dollar by making it convertible"--

Senator SYMMs. Oh, absolutely.
Representative KEMP [continuing]. "For a fixed amount of a pre-

cious commodity and make it as, say, good as gold again," if you
just made that simple statement, I think they would vote over-
whelmingly-now, the people would; not Wall Street, maybe.

Senator SYMMS. The people would vote overwhelmingly to limit
the percentage of the GNP the Government could have, too.

Representative KEMP. Well, that's another debate.
Senator SYMMS. They have done it in proposition 1 in California.
Representative KEMP. I can't help but enter into the record the

fact that my staff just informed me that Japan's capacity of utiliza-
tion rate is 97 percent, and the inflation rate in Japan is 2 percent,
and their interest rates are a lot lower than ours. There is no cor-
relation that you can find between plant utilization on an abstract
basis and the rate of inflation.

And the last thing that has to be introduced into the record is
the idea that they are now flirting with the idea at the Fed that
they should put an interest rate ceiling on loans to Third World
countries, which implies that they are going to continue to tighten
credit conditions on the consumers in the United States of Amer-
ica. That is credit allocation, and it didn't work under President
Carter. And I just hope that this Congress speaks out loud and
clear that we don't want the Fed bringing interest rates down for
just a few. We think interest rates should go down not only on our-
selves but the whole world to help boost the world economy and get
this recovery extended to our Third World neighbors and friends in
Europe and the rest of the world.

Senator JEPSEN. Thank you, Congressman. Have a good vote.
Representative KEMP. Thank you, sir.
Senator JEPSEN. The Chair would ask at this time that Senator

Symms assume the chair.
Senator SYMMs. I will be happy to, Mr. Chairman.
Senator JEPSEN. I have had a contingency come up.
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Senator SYMMS [presiding]. Though the Chair is not able to
stay here, I would like to call up Mr. Paul Craig Roberts and
Mr. Leijonhufvud.

I'm looking at the witness list here. Mr. Roberts holds the Wil-
liam E. Simon Chair in Political Economy at the Center for Strate-
gic and International Studies, Georgetown University. And Mr. Lei-
jonhufvud is from the Department of Economics at UCLA. So if we
can have them both up here, we will hear from each of you, and
then we'll have the questions.

So, Mr. Roberts, would you please proceed.

STATEPW9NT OF PAUL CRAIG ROBERTS, PROFESSOR, CENTER FOR
STRATEGIC AND INTERNATIONAL STUDIES, GEORGETOWN UNI-
VERSITY
Mr. ROBERTS. Thank you. My remarks will be very brief.
In the conduct of monetary policy, discretionary judgments have

replaced principle. The view prevailed that the monetary authori-
ties could do a better job if they were unencumbered with re-
straints and had the advantage of flexibility. However, in practice,
discretionary behavior is not predictable and so uncertainty rose in
the financial markets. Discretion also allows the monetary author-
ity to behave in self-protective ways.

The removal of constraints on the Federal Reserve was gradual,
and in today's system of flat money and floating exchange rates, it
seems to be complete. In the public mind, the stability of financial
markets rests on nothing more than the credibility of the Federal
Reserve Chairman. Monetary uncertainty is a form of bad taxation,
and disillusionment with discretionary management has produced
demands to make the Federal Reserve accountable by placing re-
straints on its behavior.

The most often mentioned constraints are: First, to require the
Federal Reserve to publicly announce all policy decisions at the
time they are made, second, to make the Secretary of the Treasury
a member of the Federal Open Market Communittee, and third, to
make the term of office of the Federal Reserve Chairman concur-
rent with that of the President of the United States.

All of these changes would, I believe, increase the effectiveness of
the Federal Reserve System. Today, the ever-present uncertainty
about the course and direction of monetary policy adds premiums
to interest rates and reduces the stability of financial markets. The
independence of the Federal Reserve and the. secrecy with which it
conducts monetary policy means that every President risks having
his policies crowded out by those of unelected officials. The recent
rise in interest rates is due almost entirely to the Federal
Reserve's attempt to wrest control over economic policy away from
the President.

When there are no clear rules, the central bank can substitute
its own judgment. When this judgment is influenced by hysteria
and ill-informed theories, as it was in 1981, and as it may be at the
current time, the whole Nation suffers, and the economic policies
of elected officials are preempted by Federal Reserve decisions.

Few who wield power are beyond settling scores, but I believe
most adverse judgments by the Federal Reserve are due to the ab-



24

sence of clear rules and constraints on its behavior. Legislative
steps that would reduce Federal Reserve secrecy and increase the
predictability of monetary policy would enhance the prospects for
successful economic performance.

Mr. Chairman, the Federal Reserve is an agency of Congress, and
I am pleased to see that the Congress is beginning to understand
the necessity of integrating the Fed into the rest of the Govern-
ment and making it accountable on the basis of principle and well-
defined law.

That concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman.
Senator SYMMs. Mr. Roberts, before you go on, before your col-

league makes his statement, I do want to ask you to comment on
one thing, and then I will have some questions for both of you per-
taining to the bill. But I can't help but note that a writer in the
Washington Post today-I don't know if you've seen the editorial
page-J.W. Anderson, wrote a very vicious article about our Secre-
tary of the Treasury, and I wonder if you'd care to comment on
that. Did you see this article?

Mr. ROBERTS. Yes, I did see it. The Washington Post, in my view,
has done nothing to contribute to informed discussion of macroeco-
nomic policy in the United States, certainly not in the last 3 or 4
years. I think they have carried on an editorial page campaign
against the administration's policy and against the representatives
of the administration's policy. Generally they refer to us-not to
our arguments or facts or logic, but they refer to us in personal
terms, with pejorative terms. We have been called all sorts of
names, and I think that's what you see this morning.

I think also the editorials, which I think the same Mr. Anderson
is largely responsible for, have taken great liberty with the facts
and basically in many cases are nothing but lies. I think this morn-
ing is another example of a lie. The Treasury's position is not that
the Federal Reserve should print money.

What is going on is, we all should know, at least if we can be-
lieve the Federal Reserve, the Fed made a decision to tighten. The
Treasury is protesting the decision to tighten. Somehow the Wash-
ington Post turns into an allegation that the Treasury is pushing
the Fed for an inflationary policy.

Now, there is a great difference between protesting a tightening
of the policy and advocating an inflationary policy, and that differ-
ence is too great to be overlooked by someone who is consciously
trying to get to the truth. So I have nothing but contempt for this
piece in the Washington Post this morning, and for many of their
other editorials as well.

Senator SYMMs. I thank you very much, and I appreciate that
very insightful view, I think, of a very accurate economic and real-
istic view of many, many of the editorials from that newspaper,
and the attitudes they have had toward a limited Government,
free-market philosophy in general, over a many, many year period.
They have promoted Government solutions as a way of life. Just as
a matter-of-fact thing, they automatically promote Government so-
lutions to all problems and have not had confidence in the capital-
ist system and all the virtues that it has to offer. And I think that's
been unfortunate, because a major newspaper of that significance,
which does have a great deal of very informative information in it
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and covers a broad spectrum of information that we all look at for
some of that information, can have a very positive influence. But
when we have a bias against capitalism in the Nation's capital of
the strongest capitalist economy left in the world, it is a negative
impact on the economic growth of the country.

Now, Mr. Roberts, we have heard from Georgetown, and now
we'll hear from UCLA. Welcome here from the west coast.

STATEMENT OF AXEL LEIJONHUFVUD, DEPARTMENT OF
ECONOMICS, UCLA

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. Thank you.
Senator, in the last 3 years we have brought down the rate of

inflation in this country from double digits to what now seems a
tolerable level. But so far we have done nothing at all to ensure for
ourselves a future of monetary stability. The monetary regime that
we have allowed to develop in the United States in the last 20
years is a thoroughly bad one that has cost us dearly. So far; noth-
ing has been done to reform this regime.

In some other writings I have called it the Random Walk Mone-
tary Standard. Under that standard, the authorities decide one
period at a time whether to accelerate, keep constant, or decelerate
the rate of money growth. Only current economic conditions and
immediate political pressures enter into this decision. Future
money growth rates are left to the future. Nobody thinks about
them today. Whoever will be in charge when the time comes will
accelerate or decelerate as he or they see fit. The only rule that
governs this process is that at each point in time, those who are in
charge choose what seems the most convenient and expedient thing
to do at that point.

There is no scientific or rational way for the private sector to
forecast future price levels in this system that we have allowed to
develop. The uncertainty attaching to any forecast of future prices
grows exponentially with distance from the present. Different
people will make different guesses so that the state of expectations
in the market is apt to be incoherent.

The value of the dollar in 1994, for example, is a fit subject not
so much for rational discussion as for sour or desperate jokes. Yet,
in an economy, in a capitalist economy such as ours, people are
forced to bet on the price level 10 years hence all the time, whether
or not there is a rational way to forecast it.

The consequences of this monetary regime may be grouped into
three categories.

First, long-term bond markets thin out and markets for some
types of instruments tend to disappear. The raggedness of price ad-
justments in an inflation puts noise into the relative price mecha-
nism and makes it more difficult to coordinate current resources
efficiently. Frequent turnarounds in monetary policy will mean
more frequent mistakes in output decisions. Such mistakes affect
current profits adversely and the expectation of the continuance of
their adverse effects on earnings reduces the incentive to invest in
long-term capital. The increased risk of long-term nominal financ-
ing reinforces this depressing tendency on investment. So in this
kind of monetary regime, you must expect that both productivity
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and capital accumulation will be adversely affected. This monetary
regime is a recipe for stagflation.

Second, in this monetary regime, the ability to forecast inflation
and to hedge against it when it cannot be forecast with any accura-
cy becomes more important to the success and survival of firms
than efficiency and competitiveness in the production and distribu-
tion of goods and services. The rules of our system's natural selec-
tion of individuals for fame and fortune change: finance people will
be favored over marketing people in corporations, lawyers over
product designers, accountants over production managers. People,
especially ambitious people, will reallocate their efforts and use
their ingenuity accordingly.

Since the late sixties, playing the inflation right has been the
way for ambitious Americans to make it big. But an entire people
cannot improve their living standards by playing this game. Who
takes care of making productivity growth happen while the rest of
us takes care of our real estate deals and inflationary tax shelters?
Again, we have allowed a regime to develop that is a recipe for
stagflation.

Third, in this monetary environment, the real outcome of private
contractual agreements becomes more uncertain. That means that
contracting becomes a less effective, a less reliable method for re-
ducing the risks, particularly of long-term ventures, to manageable
proportions- When private agreements-contracting-increasingly
fails, political lobbying becomes a substitute strategy for many
groups. Thus Random Walk monetary mismanagement will bring
in its wake efforts by all sorts of groups to obtain by public compul-
sion what private cooperation failed to achieve. Legislaturers will
be swamped by demands to control this price or that rent, to regu-
late his or her way of doing business, to tax somebody and subsi-
dize somebody else, and so forth. In trying to cope with it all, they
will themselves become less efficient, just as the economy has
become less efficient, in carrying out their proper business. The po-
litical system is perceived as losing legitimacy and politicians will
come to face the ultimate indignity of public demands for new con-
stitutional constraints on Government, such as a balanced budget
amendment.

Now, dissatisfaction and even exasperation with the monetary
instability of the last 20 years tempt many of us to propose radical
reforms. But the knowledge that we are tampering with a system
that we do not fully understand and the behavior of which we
cannot accurately predict should caution us to proceed conserv-
atively in these circumstances.

I wish to propose a modest and practical measure that could be
undertaken more or less immediately. This measure does not re-
quire us to choose sides all at once, on all the issues that divide
monetarists, Keynesians, and supply-siders, or for that matter
Democrats and Republicans. The measure does not commit us to a
radical restructuring of existing institutional arrangement or
present policy procedures. It is not a jump into the dark with a
large potential for unintended and adverse consequences. It is just
one step that you can take, knowing that it is in the right direc-
tion, that is, toward a restoration of monetary stability.
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Congress should, I think, legislate a maximum for the monetary
base that the Federal Reserve could have in existence at any given
time. This ceiling on the base should be stated at a Friedman
growth rate rule. On the date that the legislation goes into effect,
the legal maximum base should be set at some value, a few per-
centage points above the actual base at that date. From then on it
would grow by x percent a year, x being computed as the difference
between some long-run average for the growth rate of real output
and the trend in the velocity of base money.

If you put this proposal into effect today, you might want to set
the maximum legal monetary base 10 or 12 percent above what it
is today and make it grow at 3 percent.

Please note that this proposal does not come down on either side
of the age-old rules-versus-discretion debate. It sets a limit on dis-
cretion, but this limit could be rather wide initially and, in any
case, discretion is not totally eliminated. At the same time, my pro-
posal leaves room for other measures to limit discretion or to im-
prove accountability. It could be supported, therefore, by most
people on both sides of the rules-versus-discretion issue.

The proposal for a legislated base ceiling leaves open the choice
of short-term policies and short-term operating procedures. As long
as the Federal Reserve finds itself well below the ceiling, it can
expand or it can contract, and it can execute either policy by using
either quantity targets or interest rate targets, and so on.

Now, if the base ceiling proposal essentially takes no position on
most of the monetary issues that have been debated annually in
front of this committee for as long as I can remember, what earth-
ly good could it possibly be? Mainly, a believable precommitment
by the U.S. Government of this kind would greatly reduce the pre-
vailing uncertainty about the dollar price level over the medium
and the longer run. As long as the Fed is below the ceiling, it re-
tains short-term discretion. But the possibility that U.S. monetary
policy will come to follow a long sequence of predominantly infla-
tionary moves will have been eliminated.

Reducing the uncertainty about the value of the dollar over the
longer term will make long-term bond markets revive and, at the
same time, will reduce nominal interest rates by reducing or, in
the best case, even eliminating the inflation premium. More pre-
dictable future dollar prices will improve the allocation of real in-
vestment resources in the country. Over the somewhat longer run,
personal saving, which has declined so much in our monetary mis-
management period, should revive, as the American public re-
learns that we cannot all get rich from real estate speculation.

For all these reasons, we should expect U.S. capital accumula-
tion-and with it U.S. productivity performance-to pick up. This
modest proposal would go a long way toward restoring the right fi-
nancial conditions to make an end to this era of stagflation.

Although reducing long-term nominal uncertainty is the main
purpose of my proposal, it is plausible that it will have the inciden-
tal benefit of also reducing the amount of short-term speculation
on the course of monetary policy. The market's intense fascination
with month-by-month, week-by-week variations in the growth rate
of the money supply is a rather recent phenomenon, as is the
demand that money supply decisions be revealed immediately.
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Once it is clear that the Friday money supply announcements do
not signal changes in the stance of the authorities over the longer
term, short-term inflation expectations should also become less
volatile. To the extent that this is achieved, we would regain the
ability to predict the consequences of macroeconomic policies. This
ability, of course, has deteriorated in this period of random walk
money.

A brief historical note helps clarify the logic of the base ceiling
proposal. In Britain, over 100 years ago, Peel's Bank Act of 1844
divided the Bank of England into two departments, an issue de-
partment and a banking department. The issue department operat-
ed on a rule which bound it to issuing Bank of England notes to a
total value equaling the sum of the so-called fiduciary issue and
the bank's gold holdings. This amounts to a base ceiling rule for a
gold standard system.

The Bank of England Banking Department engaged in profit-
making commercial banking, but in its role as a central bank and
lender of last resort, it could also engage in discretionary stabiliza-
tion policy with the note issue as the money base for the rest of the
banking system.

What makes this system interesting to us today is the way in
which it combined rule and discretion. The total amount of issue
department note liabilities would set the ceiling on the banking de-
partment's possible expansion at any time. In instituting my base
ceiling proposal, one might copy this feature of 19th century Bank
of England organization and split the Federal Reserve Board into a
rule-bound issue department and a stabilization department whose
latitude for discretionary policymaking would without a doubt be
the subject of continuing controversy before this committee.

A central bank operating under a base ceiling law would have to
treat the difference between the maximum legal base and its
actual base-its own excess reserves, so to speak-as if they were
foreign exchange reserves and the bank was on a fixed exchange
rate system. The stabilization department could pursue an expan-
sionary policy, or step in as a lender of last resort, only as long as
it had excess reserves on hand. If, trying to help the economy out
of one recession, it went so far as to hit the ceiling, it would have
to plan on a prolonged period of expanding at less than the permis-
sible Friedman rate in order to accumulate the ammunition needed
to be of help in the next recession.

Most constitutions have escape clauses. The monetary constitu-
tion that I propose needs one as well. We are not able to choose a
growth rate for the base from today to the end of the century and
be confident that it is or will continue to be the right one. Finan-
cial innovation is proceeding at a great pace at present and with
unpredictable consequences for the future demand for base money.
A 3-percent growth rate may be about right today, but proves to
leave too much room for inflationary policies tomorrow.

I believe the Federal Reserve Act should be amended so as to
make price level stabilization over the longer term the basic and
overriding responsibility of the Federal Reserve System. The
German Bundesbank operates under a law of this sort.

Now, other goals of social policy should either be eliminated alto-
gether from the act or be clearly and explicitly subordinated to the
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price stability objective. This should be done, not of course, because
rice stability is the most important of our social goals-it isn't-
ut because it is an important social goal that can be achieved by

monetary policy, whereas full employment, for instance, cannot.
The central bank should be made to concentrate on the one impor-
tant thing it can possibly achieve and not be made to chase after
wiid geese it cannot ever catch.

Such a provision in the Federal Reserve Act would express the
basic intent of the monetary constitution and could serve, there-
fore, as the escape clause under which changes in the prevailing
Friedman rule could be made. The Federal Reseive would have to
come to Congress and argue that a 3-percent growth rate of the
base, for instance, was too high to be consistent with longer term
price stability. The Fed could then ask for a revision of the base
ceiling on these grounds-but on these grounds only.

In the gold standard era, the Bank of England had to ask the
government's approval for a suspension of the convertibility of its
notes into gold on several occasions. Provision for temporary sus-
pensions of the base ceiling should probably be made. Suspension of
convertibility to allow inflationary finance in times of war is a
time-honored case that we hope not to have to relive again. But the
possibility of country defaults on large debts to U.S. banks raises
the specter of a lender of last resort caught with inadequate re-
sources on hand. Temporary suspension in a case of this sort
should be granted by Congress, but only with a required commit-
ment by the Federal Reserve to return to life under the old base
ceiling.

The unilateral decision by the United States to stabilize the pur-
chasing power of the dollar-which is what my proposal amounts
to-would create an incentive for some other countries to fix their
exchange rates to the dollar as they did in the 1950's and 1960's. A
possible transitional problem would be a dollar shortage for them
and a deflationary excess demand for base dollars for us. The Fed
could respond to this situation by asking for a revision upward of
the ceiling growth rate under the basic price stability provision of
that act, as I have here envisaged. Alternatively, the United States
might agree to limited issues by the IMF of special drawing rights
convertible into dollars.

The base ceiling proposal offers the potentiality of reconstructing
the international monetary system, now pretty much in a sham-
bles, around a sound dollar. I distinguish here a sound dollar,
which would enjoy low interest rates, from our present strong
dollar which borrows its strength at sky-high interest rates.

How the second, third, and umpteenth steps toward that objec-
tive should be taken, however, I will not attempt to anticipate
here.

Now, the annual increase in the monetary base ceiling might ap-
propriately be included in the budget as ordinary revenue. The
Federal Reserve would simply credit the Treasury's account with
the amount while receiving a corresponding amount of long-term
U.S. bonds, but perhaps those bonds should not be interest paying.

The ceiling growth rate should also set the limit on how much of
its deficit the Government could plan on monetizing at any one
time. If it were made binding on Congress and administration,

38-417 0-84--3
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therefore, the proposal would induce a certain amount of fiscal dis-
cipline. Conversely, this monetary reform demands a measure of
fiscal discipline in order to be credible-which is to say, in order to
work.

Fiscal reform may prove more elusive than monetary reform. A
balanced budget amendment would be a straitjacket, although per-
haps one with the redeeming feature of being unenforceable. A
looser constraint would be preferable, if one could be found that is
nonetheless effective.

I have one suggestion to offer. Let each Member of Congress pub-
licize his or her own version of the Federal budget. The administra-
tion's budget should be the benchmark. If the individual Senator or
Congressman advocates, for instance, higher income taxes, lower
defense spending, and higher spending on certain welfare pro-
grams, or some other such pattern, the Federal budget could be re-
computed on the assumption that all the changes that he or she
advocates would be passed. These individual budgets could be com-
piled, checked, and published by the Congressional Budget Office.
The media and the voting public could then easily ascertain the
overall level of expenditures and taxation and hence also the size
of deficit or surplus that the Member is in effect advocating.

A reform of this sort would not always put us closer to a bal-
anced budget, of course. What it could be expected to do is to
produce budgets that come closer than they now do to the prefer-
ences of the voting public in these matters. It would also make the
life of Members of Congress a bit more difficult than it is now. One
does not expect, therefore, that Congress will require of all its
Members that they commit themselves publicly to a budget in this
way. But any individual Senator or Congressman could start the
ball rolling by making up his or her Federal budget. If a big
enough group had their budgets registered with the Congressional
Budget Office, the practice should spread by itself without having
to be made mandatory.

If the voting public were able to judge the overall fiscal stance of
candidates for office in this way, it is reasonable to expect, I think,
that we would end up with fiscal policies sufficiently responsible so
that our future monetary stability would not be threatened from
this all-important quarter.

In conclusion, the stakes are tremendous. We are, right now,
facing great dangers and great opportunities on the economic front.
The dangers are continuing monetary instability, perhaps with re-
newed inflation, a worsening of the international debt crisis, and
growing protectionism here and abroad. If these dangers are not
avoided, the opportunities cannot be grasped. The opportunities lie
in the new technologies in electronics and biological engineering. If
we have the wisdom to provide and maintain the neccessary envi-
ronment of financial and monetary stability and of free trade and
competition, we could have, I believe, a great investment boom of
long duration that would carry the United Stastes and most other
industrial and industrializing countries to entirely new levels of
prosperity.

Thank you.
Senator SYMMS. Thank you very much for a very thoughtful

statement.
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Now, Mr. Leijonhufvud, there is no legislation-or is there legis-
lation to advocate what you are advocating? Is any legislation nec-
essary to do this?

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. Yes, I believe that to have the necessary
effect on the market expectations, this would have to be legislation
that was binding on the Federal Reserve.

Senator SYMMs. Well, the chart right up here to the right is an
indication of our volatile money growth, the pattern of spending.
And you're talking about trying to establish more of a consistent
rate of money growth, if I understood correctly what your thesis
was.

Now, this chart implies that a monetary contraction produced a
recession in 1981 and 1982, and the monetary expansion contribut-
ed to the strength and recovery in 1983.

I'd just like to ask the question of each of you. Would you agree
with that?

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. Senator, even if the recession were caused by
other factors, and also the revival, money would be correlated with
the movement in nominal income. It does not, therefore, directly
imply or prove monetary causation. Nonetheless, it is my belief
that this monetary policy had an important role in bringing it
about.

Senator SYMMS. Well, it does require, then, that the Fed should
be encouraging stability in money growth.

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. Yes.
Senator SymMS. Mr. Roberts, do you want to comment on it?
Mr. ROBERTS. I agree with the statement of Mr. Leijonhufvud.

The Fed will say, or some members of it will be tempted to say,
that the economy moves along by itself and it pulls the money with
it; therefore, they have no real responsibility.

I am convinced that the economy responds to the sharp accelera-
tions and decelerations in money growth, and that the period
during 1981 when monetary growth collapsed was the principal
cause of the recession.

I believe, also, the explosion of money that began in the summer
of 1982 and continued through the spring of 1983 played an impor-
tant role in lowering the interest rates and producing the rebound
at that time.

I think that what you see is a roller coaster, and if the economy
is behaving that way on its own and money is simply moving along
with it, then we as economists have really very little to recommend
to the Congress about anything, because no one can explain why
the economy would behave in this roller coaster fashion by itself.

So I think it is important to have a stable, predictable growth in
money supply, and it is important to have a rule that is somehow
enforceable and practicable that the Fed is required to follow.

This does not necessarily have to be a money rule. Mr. Leijonhuf-
vud has his own version of the quantity rule which I think the
Congress earlier made some effort to impose on the Fed by having
them keep to the M-1 target.

Senator SYMMS. It is interesting to me if you go out and ask the
average businessman or market broker or what have you what
kind of policy they think the Federal Reserve is operating, they
will say: "Well, they are operating the monetist policy." In my
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opinion, from what I have read about monetism, that is not true.
Do you agree with that?

Mr. ROBERTS. Yes; I agree they are not following the mone-
tary--

Senator SYMMS. They are not following anything. That's why I
made the statement earlier that it would at least be consistent if
someone went in and, as Milton Friedman said, put a monkey on a
computer and crank out the same amount of money every month,
at least the market could adjust to it.

And the points that both of you have made-and all three wit-
nesses-about having the Open Market Committee's information go
public so the market all gets it at the same time would at least be
a predictable situation. People could adjust to the predictability of
what was going to happen, hedging, and so forth.

I wanted to ask one more question. The three of you all have
very impressive credentials, and what all three of you are saying-
and I'm including Congressman Kemp-is that if we had some re-
forms to make the Federal Reserve more accountable, it would
result in better monetary policy.

But could you give me some examples of where reforms in ac-
countability have led to better improved operation of this public
enterprise? Are there some examples of where this has worked?

Mr. ROBERTS. You mean in terms of the Federal Reserve? I think
what you have had in the Federal Reserve is the opposite. You've
had a series of--

Senator SYMMs. Maybe I can frame my question a little better.
The politicians and bureaucrats who control public enterprise have
a difficult time being accountable, like somebody in private enter-
prise is. And what I'm saying is if we continue to go on with a Gov-
ernment policy that confiscates the earnings from the people who
work and then transfer it over and encourages people not to work,
can we make a few reforms with the Federal Reserve and expect to
really have any lasting, good changes?

I think I like this proposal you have made, and it looks like you
have made some excellent proposals, too, and I think Congress
should work on this. However, I would like to be one Member of
the Senate that avoided using some form of a gimmick-and I don't
mean a gimmick; it's an honest-you're talking about trying to get
more honest money and more predictable money, money that is of
value, that people can rely on to expand their economic horizons,
which is an honest idea, but to phase it in here with this basically
dishonest system that confiscates the wealth and the work from
those who are in the producing sector of our society and enhances
the lives of some people who aren't producing.

That's my question. Can we make those reforms and not have
one system to drag the other one down?

Mr. ROBERTS. Mr. Chairman, I think I would agree with your
feeling that you can't expect honest money, assuming you could get
it, to solve the problem if at the same time you are confiscating the
earnings of people who are earning and transferring it to those
who aren't. Because what we are doing there is violating all the
property rights of the system. Therefore, it does no good to estab-
ish monetary certainty but then create amazing uncertainty in the

form of other property rights.
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So I think your feeling is true, and I think what we need is a
system that establishes the stability and predictability of our prop-
erty rights in general. And that cannot be achieved merely by es-
tablishing predictability in monetary policy.

Senator SYMMS. I will ask one last question.
Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. If I may, I certainly agree that it is desirable

to have property rights as predictable as possible. I also agree with
what is implicit in Mr. Robert's statement, that unpredictable mon-
etary policy amounts to the same thing as making property
rights unpredictable since the real outcomes of contracts become
unpredictable.

At the same time, I would say that with the proposal that I
made, which is not for a fixed Friedman growth rate rule on what
the Federal Reserve is doing from month to month ur year to year,
but a maximum on the monetary base that, they could have out-
standing at any one point in time, so it leaves it open for these
other short-term operational issues-to make that proposal work-
able and to get stable money out of it, you don't need to reform the
entire fiscal system. You just need to make sure that fiscal policy
overall is sufficiently responsible that it would not create a situa-
tion in the medium-term or long-term future, where monetization
of the deficits become unavoidable, where nobody can avoid mone-
tizing the debt issue. That sort of minimum of fiscal responsibility
is the only thing required for this monetary proposal. You can
make it desirable but not a grounds for--

Senator SYMMs. So you don't counterfeit the currency, is what
you're saying; you don t monetize the debt to an excessive amount,
at least.

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. That's correct.
Senator SYMMS. With respect to this fixation on M1 that the Fed

talks about all the time, isn't it true that they really don't control
the percentage of the money supply or the amount of the aggregate
money supply that they used to do before we had banking regula-
tion and money market funds and all kinds of different
financial instruments?

Mr. Roberts, or either of you.
Mr. ROBERTS. I think the Federal Reserve can control its balance

sheet, control the monetary base, and it certainly has an important
degree of control over M1. And I do not agree with the rationales
which basically say that the Fed has targeted a form of money over
which it has no control. There is no reason for the Federal Reserve
Chairman to be supportive of an M1 target if he has no control
over M1.

Senator SYMMS. Except the M1 is not the whole money supply.
Mr. ROBERTS. No; it's not the whole money supply.
Senator SYMMs. The Fed's activity today can have an impact on

short-term interest rates; is that correct?
Mr. ROBERTS. Yes, and in the long term.
Senator SYMMs. With your reform package, you are saying we

could have more stability, which would have a longer term impact
on long-term interest rates. It would have a bigger effect on long-
term interest rates. Right now short-term and long-term interest
rates are historically high. The reason for that, it looks like to me,
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is because of uncertainty of both the fiscal policy of the U.S. Gov-
ernment and the monetary policy.

Mr. ROBERTS. Yes; the generalized uncertainty about property
rights and who has what and what the outcome will be.

This chart-I don't know who prepared it; it is obviously based
on official data-shows that it is M1 that tracks GNP.

Senator SYMMS. Mr. Leijonhufvud, maybe you'd like to give us a
counterexample of how this worked in reverse or positive with re-
spect to Sweden. They sure went through a bit of socialism in
Sweden, I know that. They are trying to get out of it now.

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. I think that is an open question.
Senator, I would like to respond to the question about do we

have any examples of where legislation has improved performance.
I think that we don't in this country. At the same time, I think

there is something that is going systematically wrong with our dis-
cussion of this monetary instability problem, and that is true in the
economics profession and in the newspapers, and it is also true at
these hearings every time they come up.

I think we have, ourselves, gotten caught up in this steady short-
ening of the time perspective that we are thinking about when we
talk about the effects of inflation on economic performance. What
we ought to be thinking about is how to reform the system so it
gives more stability over the longer run. But when you call people
in here to talk about that, they invariably talk about money
growth rates over the last 2 months anid about the prospects for the
next 6 months and what they would like to do to Volcker today or
whoever the person is who is in charge.

Nobody here is talking about what to do to construct a system
that gives us stability over the next 10 or 15 years on the average,
which is what you must talk about if you are concerned with long-
run interest rates.

Improving the Federal Reserve accountability in making them
release information from the Open Market Committee meetings
soon does not help you over a 10- or 20-year time horizon. As a
matter of fact, what that proposal does is to make sure that the
Federal Reserve Board members sit, so to speak, in hotter seats, so
that Members of Congress on either side of the aisle can turn up
the temperature of those seats with greater facility when the mon-
etary policy is not to their liking. It is very speculative that that
would improve long-run stability. It may make for increased insta-
bility.

Now, the proposal that I have made for a maximum, a ceiling, to
the monetary base, would leave open all these short-term issues.
You can continue to debate them. If you get convincing evidence of
what week-to-week operating rule is the best, by all means add
that to it. But the controversy before this committee on these
issues is going to go on indefinitely. But, you need to think about
the longer term issues now. There is one thing you can do right
now, which does not opt for either side on all these technical mone-
tary management issues, and that will definitely help.

Senator SYMMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Roberts, a closing comment.
Mr. ROBERTS. For the first time today I want to disagree with Mr.

Leijonhufvud. I think everyone who is testifying today--
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Senator SYMMS. I was going to be disappointed if we had two dis-
tinguished economists like you here and you agreed on everything.
I'd say something was wrong.

Mr. ROBERTS. I think the motivation of the hearing is to try to
establish a rule that will last through time and give us long-term
stability. I think that is the thought behind holding the hearing.

I think Mr. Leijonhufvud would find, if all he did was to get his
base rule and he does not require any of these other items such as
for the Federal Reserve to announce what it is doing when it does
it and for there to be some political accountability of the Fed-
there is none now-that he would find the Federal Reserve
could evade his rule just as eaLily as they have evaded it in the M1
targets.

Senator SYMMS. I guess the one question that probably should be
asked that I didn't ask is: From a traditional economic viewpoint,
traditionally in the United States normally what has been good for
the economy has been bad politics-this is before Ronald Reagan-
just because of the general misconceptions and myths that people
believe that are promoted by the establishment news media, that
somehow funny money and big spending-people can somehow
spend themselves into prosperity. With the exception of the Presi-
dent calling for a reduction of across-the-board tax rates on work-
ing capital, we, have the conservatives on the side who are trying to
advocate sound economic policy that it wasn't good politics, and
then losing elections for years and years and years.

Now, if you are going to make the Fed more political-and we
have always criticized the fact, for example, that when President
Carter was running for reelection, the interest rates were pretty
high but then they started trending down, and they got down fairly
low in September of 1980. As soon as the election was over, boom,
up go the interest rates.

And some people have said that's politicizing it. Now, under the
proposal that Congresssman Kemp and Senator Mattingly are
making--and I think you were instrumental in the formation of
that, or some of the ideas behind it anyway-is this just going to
make this thing more political so that the swings in the money
supply will be even greater? Because you will have the President
thinking that the Fed should be more politicized, the Secretary of
the Treasury be on the Open Market Committee, who will be a
presidential appointee, and the President will appoint a new Chair-
man of the Fed a year after he is elected so it would be his man.

Mr. ROBERTS. I don't think so, because I think what is lacking is
any political accountability.

Senator SYMMS. You make a good point there.
Mr. ROBERTS. If the Federal Reserve, for example, had to report

to the Treasury, as many central banks have to do-if the Federal
Reserve had to report to the Treasury, which is going much further
than simply making the Treasury Secretary a member of the
FOMC, at least everyone would know, if the policy was bad, who
was responsible. It would clearly be political authorities. They
would clearly be.

But the situation we now have is that the Fed can act in such
ways that produce recessions which then can be blamed on the ad-
ministration for cutting taxes, or the Fed can produce high interest



36

rates by tightening money and it can be blamed on the administra-
tion for cutting taxes.

So you have a situation today where the Congress has given the
Federal Reserve an enormous amount of power and has not con-
strained it in a constitutional way. If you had constitutional schol-
ars here today, at least half of them would be urging that the Con-
gress has made a grant of power to the Federal Reserve that is in
conflict with our constitutional principles.

Senator SYMMs. I happen to agree with that, but that has never
been proved in court, has it?

Mr. ROBERTS. I don't know.
Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. May I add something to this. The politiciza-

tion of central banks is itself a result of how we have allowed the
monetary system to change. If you think back 25 years ago, or 50
years ago, you will find a nonpolitical central bank in this coun-
try-and 75 years ago we don't find a central bank.

Senator SYMMs. Right.
Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. But the whole idea was to have a central

bank, staffed by people knowledgable in banking and money mar-
kets, that are professional people. Now, you can put professional
people in charge of running a gold standard or a gold exchange
standard, or a monetary constitution like that. You could put them
in charge of executing a Friedman rule.

Senator SYMMS. Frankly, Mr. Leijonhufvud, as far as I am con-
cerned, we don't need a Federal Reserve. We could just turn it all
over to the market. But I realize that's not a political practicality
now. I wouldn't feel bad if we just abolished the Federal Reserve.
Every bank would have to have good money, and then this would
mean that good money would then come back into vogue. The way
it is now, with the Government monopoly on money, they run the
good money into the coverage and use the Federal Reserve as their
exchange to buy things with.

Mr. ROBERTS. Mr. Chairman, I think what Mr. Leijonhufvud was
leading up to is the statement that it was the Keynesian demand
management or the intervention of Government in macroeconomic
policy which led to this process.

Senator SYMMs. I'll say one thing. I am a great admirer of Presi-
dent Reagan, but I think he made a confusing-and this is no as-
persions on Chairman Volcker personally, but I think he confused
the issue more of what Reaganomics was all about by reappointing
him as Chairman, whether they had a meeting of the minds or not.
From what I have seen the Federal Reserve doing in the last 2 or 3
months, President Reagan evidently didn't get a very good commit-
ment out of Chairman Volcker when he made the appointment.

Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. Senator, the point, if I could make it, was
that under the present system, it is open to the monetary authori-
ties to, in a sense, decide what the price level is going to be. And I
am saying "monetary authorities" here because that is only the
Federal Reserve. The decisions they make have tremendous redis-
tributive implications. If you were to choose a number for the price
level next year, if you can bring it about, whichever number you
choose implies a pattern of taking wealth away from some people
and giving it to others, because you affect the real outcome of the
contracts that these people have already made.
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Now, in a system like that, it is inconceivable that in the long
run you will go on having it so that monetary policy is made by
nonelected people meeting as a Federal Open Market Committee
and saying, "We don't want to be subject to political pressures," be-
cause their day-to-day decisions have tremendous political reper-
cussions.

So it is a system in which a depoliticized central bank is just not
a feasible alternative.

Senator SYMMS. It's impossible.
Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. It's absolutely impossible.
Senator SYMMS. That's a good point.
Mr. LEIJONHUFVUD. At this point you can go in one of two direc-

tions. You can sort of go with the flow of the deterioration of our
monetary system and say, "We are already so far down that road
that we must totally politicize monetary policy decisions"-even on
the month-to-month decisions, never mind longer term decisions,
but week to week.

Or you can start thinking about turning back into a system
where the design of the monetary system is done by Congress, and
the day-to-day execution of monetary policy under that system is
left to professionals who come up here once a year and are judged
on professional criteria, so to speak, whether they are doing a good
job or not.

At the present there is no such thing as judging the Federal Re-
serve on professional criteria. You have to judge them on political
criteria. And those are going to be different on the two sides of the
aisle so there is never going to be unanimity.

Senator SYMMs. Well, I want to thank both of you very much for
your time and patience to be here this morning. And I might say it
is my intention to put into the Congressional Record later today
Senator Jepsen's opening statement, Congressman Kemp's state-
ment, and each of you two gentlemen's statements, and make a
little summary about what this discussion was about so that more
of our colleagues will know that the Joint Economic Committee is
exploring what is certainly a very important part of economic re-
covery in this country. I thank you both for your contribution to
this.

Do you have one last thing you were trying to say, Mr. Roberts?
We'll give you the last word if you want it, and then I'm going to
hit the gavel here.

Mr. ROBERTS. Mr. Chairman, it might be useful to have this on
the record to illustrate the points Mr. Leijonhufvud was making.

When I was Assistant Secretary of the Treasury in the Reagan
administration, when we came to office we requested a monetary
policy which would consist of a stable, moderate, and predictable
growth of the money supply. We requested the Federal Reserve to
gradually reduce the rate of growth, which at the time we took
office was very high, by 50 percent over a period of 4 to 6 years. We
thought this would avoid the roller coaster cycle, which I think
helps destabilize the markets, and send a message that inflation
was on the long-term, winding-down path, slowly reducing the
growth rate of money. This could be done without provoking the
usual liquidity crisis that sets off the roller coaster. And all fore-
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casts of the Reagan administration were made on the basis of that
assumption about monetary policy.

Well, the Federal Reserve paid no attention whatsoever. And far
from delivering the policy we expected, they produced 75 percent of
that reduction, which we wanted spread over 4 to 6 years, the first
year. And they did this because they were under the influence of
theories, which I believe were largely erroneous. One was about
core inflation. The core inflation was allegedly so high nothing
could be done in monetary or fiscal policy that would succeed in
lowering it very much.

And the second idea they had was that the fiscal policy of the
Reagan administration was so expansionary that no matter how
much they tightened the money supply, inflation was going to rise.

So there you have an institution, with enormoiis power, operat-
ing entirely on the basis of false theories that we can see from ex-
perience are false. The Federal Reserve did not intend to cure in-
flation overnight. They were absolutely astonished when they
learned they had brought the entire international monetary system
to the brink of collapse, because they were operating under the
theory that the fiscal policy of the Government was going to cause
inflation to rise, no matter how tight they made monetary policy,
and they wanted to be sure there was no money growth so no one
could blame them for what they thought would be a rise in infla-
tion.

This illustrates, I think, that you cannot give enormous power to
an institution that has no clear rules, that is not politically ac-
countable, and which can operate on the basis of erroneous theo-
ries, because the political consequences have been rather drastic.

So I think, Mr. Chairman, I'd like to have that on the record,
and that would conclude my statement.

Senator SYMMS. Thank you very much.
The committee stands in recess.
[Whereupon, at 11:45 a.m., the committee recessed, to reconvene

at 9:30 a.m., on Tuesday, June 5, 1984.]
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562, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Roger W. Jepsen (chair-
man of the committee) presiding.

Present: Senators Jepsen and Symms; and Representative Lun-
gren.

Also present: Dan C. Roberts, executive director; and William R.
Buechner and Robert R. Davis, professional staff members.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JEPSEN, CHAIRMAN
Senator JEPSEN. The Joint Economic Committee hearing will

come to order.
Congressman Patman, we welcome you today at our second

round of hearings on the institutional setting that influences mone-
tary policy. Your presence confirms that there is widespread dissat-
isfaction with the rules and accountabilities that govern monetary
policy. There is a bipartisan interest in a serious examination of
monetary performance, particularly regarding the appropriateness
of performance criteria established by Congress.

In addition to the issue of accountability for realistic goals, there
is also a problem of adequate information regarding monetary
policy. The simple obligation of informing the public about Govern-
ment policies is an essential part of a democratic society, and is a
tenet in virtually every level of government. A major exception
exists in the Federal Reserve System. The monetary policy arm of
the Federal Reserve, the Federal Open Market Committee, meets
10 times a year to set policy, but conceals that policy for about 6
weeks. The decisions reached at an FOMC meeting are not released
until after the next meeting, so the public is in a perpetual guess-
ing game about the course of monetary policy. In fact, no one in
Government knows the true course of policy except a select few in
the Federal Reserve System.

It is high time that the Federal Reserve stop operating in the
dark. Its policies can have a dramatic impact on economic growth
and interest rates in the short run, and determine the coui'se of in-
flation in the long run. How can America's business and labor lead-
ers carry out their tasks effectively while guessing about the direc-
tion of monetary policy? How can investors and savers enter the

(39)
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market with any degree of confidence? How can the public plan ap-
propriately for the education of their children or to provide for
their retirement years?

The advantage of more timely information about monetary
policy seems c,-Wewfelming. This immediately raises the question,
why is such information not provided now? I think the answer lies
in the first problem to which I alluded, the lack of a clear mandate
for monetary policy from Congress. As long as Congress persists in
the tendency to set goals for the Federal Reserve that are outside
the capabilities of monetary policy, the Federal Reserve has an in-
centive to remain secretive about the formation of policy. Ultimate-
ly, the roots of monetary instability must lie in the institutions, in-
centives, and accountabilities created by Congress.

I welcome you, Congressman Patman, and I would advise you
that your statement will be entered into the record and you may
proceed in any manner you so desire. Thank you for coming.

STATEMENT OF HON. BILL PATMAN, A U.S. REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE 14TH CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT OF THE
STATE OF TEXAS
Representative PATMAN. Thank you, Senator Jepsen.
Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I would like to

thank you for holding these hearings to investigate the appropriate
function and mandate of monetary policy. There is no more timely
subject before this Congress today. Banks are failing at the fastest
rate since the Great Depression. Already this year, 34 banks have
been forcdTo close, if that number has not risen since I prepared
my testimony. Just recently, Continental Illinois of Chicago was
saved from collapse only by an unprecedented Government rescue.
Third World debtors are threatening to default on their loans. A
siege of rumors caused Manufacturers Hanover Trust Co.'s stock to
plummet on May 24, 1984, and it dragged down with it the shares
of other money-center banks and various others who were not even
involved with the problem.

The Wall Street Journal aptly described it as a bad case of
nerves within the financial system and I believe that it is in large
part due to the action of the Federal Reserve Board and those ac-
tions of the Federal Reserve System. There have been many ques-
tions raised about the capability of the Federal Reserve to exercise
proper and prudent monetary control. But one thing is certain, the
secrecy surrounding the actions and monetary decisions of the Fed-
eral Reserve only compounds the problem of market uncertainty.

Since decisions made by the Open Market Committee are not
available until 45 days after the meeting, Government economists
and other economists are forced to rely on guesses and rumors as
the basis for their actions. Forty-five days is entirely too long to
wait for information that should be a mater of public record.

For this reason, I have introduced H.R. 1432, a bill to amend the
Federal Reserve Act. It would require that the Board of Governors
of the Federal Reserve System send to Congress as soon as possi-
ble-but not later than 7 calendar days after the Federal Open
Market Committee takes action-the changes that are likely to
result in the existing trend rate of growth of any of the monetary
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aggregates, credit aggregates, or any of its economic targets as set
by the Federal Reserve.

If H.R. 1432 were enacted into law, Congress would know within
7 days any decision likely to change the existing trend in these im-
portant indicators. This would alert us to a problem, and we would
be able to consider the necessary response in a timely manner. In-
stead, we must wait until the ox is already in the ditch and then do
our best to pull him back on the road again.

Each report would be required to state for each of several eco-
nomic indices the initial level and the estimated change in the
level that is likely to result from action taken by the Federal Open
Market Committee and the Federal Reserve. The Federal Reserve
would be asked to forecast the likely result in 3-, 6-, and 9-month
intervals on certain key economic indicators. Interest rates would
be included as well as the Federal funds rate, the rate of 3- and 6-
month Treasury bills, and the rate for securities with a maturity of
20 years that are offered by the Treasury.

We know from recent experience during the recession in 1982
that high interest rates had a devastating effect on small business-
es and farmers in addition to the rest of the ecomony. Since 1978,
the prime rate charged by banks to low-risk business borrowers has
shown considerable volatility., It's the volatility that causes a great
deal of problems in business today as well as with the consumer.
The prime rates went from 6.38 percent in 1977 to 18.87 percent in
1981 to 14.86 in 1982 to 11 percent in 1983. Most recently, on June
4, 1984, it was 12.5 percent. This has caused deep concern in my
areas, not just because of the rates the businesses have to pay, but
because of the influences on variable-rate mortgages which add an
element of instability and insecurity to the budgets of many fami-
lies throughout this Nation because of their obligations with home
mortgages based on variable-rate loans.

The high interest rates that resulted from policies of the Fed
have undoubtedly contributed to bankruptcy and the surge in busi-
ness failures. Compare the figures: 30,528 businesses filed for bank-
ruptcy in 1978, while 77,503 filed for bankruptcy in 1982. During
the last week of December 1983, 540 filed for bankruptcy, compared
to 228 the previous year. Business failures for the 1983 year totaled
30,334, compared with 25,346 the previous year.

These high interest rates have also contributed to the worst
trade deficit in history. The United States had a giant trade deficit
of $60 billion in 1983, compared to $42 billion in 1982, and we
expect the 1984 deficit to go over $100 billion. I think it's a matter
of deep concern also that the Federal Reserve has apparently em-
barked upon a course of spreading the weaknesses of these larger
banks due to their Third World indebtedness. Throughout the
banking system the reauthorization has been of many of these
larger money-center banks to take on other banks throughout this
Nation. These small banks are now in good shape, but they will be
rendered weaker and less effective by being taken over by a bank
with the weaknesses of these large money-center banks.

In addition to forecasting interest rates that would result from
actions taken by the Federal Reserve, the report would also be re-
quired to state the expected interest rate for bonds issued by cer-
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tain corporations, the rate of business and household bankruptcies,
and other such measures of economic performance.

The bill would require updates on actions by the Federal Reserve
until a new monetary early warning report is issued. This would
assure that we would always have the latest information in an
early warning report based on sound economic indicators. It's a
healthy thing for the Fed to take this action, assembling the mone-
tary early warning report prior to putting into effect any changes
that it makes in the monetary aggregates or other economic indi-
ces. It would make us more confident, I'm sure, that the Fed actu-
ally knows what it's doing and it foresees the long-range implica-
tions of its actions-actions which have been devastating in the
past.

Long-range economic policy planning is a necessity. Congress
must have all the facts from the Federal Reserve Board in order to
act with maximum responsibility.

The financial markets and businesses all over the world are in
need of stability. Business depends on long-range planning. Noth-
ing is more important than knowing as precisely as possible what
the monetary policies are going to be. Withholding that informa-
tion for 45 days accomplishes nothing. It does encourage rumors,
and makes financial forecasting a guessing game better played by
charlatans than those with a sound economic background.

The sunshine laws have proved that the public wants and needs
to know what its Government officials are doing. When first these
laws were passed, many predicted dire results. The opposite has oc-
curred. We are discovering that the more informed the public is,
the more likely it is to make the right decisions. Further, there is
less opportunity for "backroom deals" and other shenanigans that
benefit a few at the expense of many.

Why should we tolerate secrecy in the operation of the Federal
Reserve Board and the Federal Open Market Committee? These
are not even elected public officials, yet they are making decisions
profoundly influencing the economic conditions of this country and
the whole world.

It is time that we acknowledge what has been the case for years:
The business decisions on which our economic future depends are
based, more and more, on sophisticated computer models, and that
these models are useless unless they can be based on accurate and
timely information.

The same is true for the important policy decisions that Congress
must make. We must have timely information. We need an accu-
rate monetary early warning report.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator JEPSEN. I thank you, Congressman Patman.
In your opinion, what accountability is there for the conduct of

monetary policy and is that accountability effective?
Representative PATMAN. With the secrecy we now have, I think

there's little accountability, and that's one of the important things
that we seek in the monetary early warning report, a disclosure of
what the Fed itself sees to be the result of its actions. That would
give us the accountability I think in time.

Senator JEPSEN. Well, in your opinion, would the inclusion of the
Secretary of the Treasury and the Chairman of the Council of Eco-
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nomic Advisers as ex officio members of the Federal Open Market
Committee improve the administration's understanding and input
on the monetary policy and, by the same token, would such an in-
clusion be likely to improve the Federal Reserve's understanding of
the economic policy of the administration? We would have a liaison
built in there. Would that be a good idea?

Representative PATMAN. I think it would help the administra-
tion, but I think the Congress needs more communication with the
Federal Reserve and I think the Federal Reserve needs to make
more effort to communicate its decisions and its thinking to the
people throughout America. I think we saw in 1981 the Fed's put-
ting on the brakes while the Congress was stimulating the econo-
my. It seems as if they could have walked down a few steps down
the street and told either the Congress or the President what they
planned to do, and that they were actually going to undertake the
program that would negate what the Congress was trying to pro-
mote throughout the country.

Senator JEPSEN. Well, right now, Congressman, the Congress
presently requires the Federal Reserve to answer to both business
cycle and price stability and what problems are created by this
dual responsibility for the Federal Reserve, if any.

Representative PATMAN. They are not incompatible. I think that
those are just part of the many responsibilities of the Fed-price
stability and low inflation and economic viability for this Nation.
We have American manufacturers selling on the open market at a
penalty and at a handicap by paying the high interest rates that
we have in this Nation and competing against the Japanese enter-
prises that pay much lower interest rates. We are handicapped in
our sales by these policies and, in addition, artificially increasing
the value of the dollar which almost takes away our farm
markets in international trade and many other markets for Ameri-
can products.

Senator JEPSEN. In your opinion, what is the chief cause of the
interest rates moving upward here recently?

Representative PATMAN. I think that the Fed itself has encour-
aged that movement upward, with or without justification. It de-
pends on the person who examines the facts, but there are many of
us who feel like they are prematurely trying to stifle what business
uptake we have in the present economy and will likely cause an-
other recession for this Nation.

We need to know what they are planning on these things as
early as possible and that's one reason why I am very much inter-
ested in this monetary early warning report.

Senator JEPSEN. Congressman Lungren.
Representative LUNGREN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Congressman Patman, I wasn't here for most of your testimony. I

have reviewed it, however, and have looked at your legislation and
I congratulate you on being one of the champions of having the
Congress take a look at the Federal Reserve and monetary policy. I
guess the first step is recognizing that there's something there that
we should have some influence over. I think for a long period of
time, Congress hasn't recognized the authority we have over the
Federal Reserve. I do believe that we ought to have some sunshine
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thrust upon the Fed, but I am a little concerned about some of the
terms of your legislation.

Let me just phrase it this way. One of the causes of monetary
instability is that Congress gives the Fed so many conflicting goals.
If in fact we consider price stability the No. 1 goal of monetary
policy, does not the legislation you have sponsored raise the danger
that price stability particularly, and ultimately the interest rates
and economic growth, might be sacrificed for short-run consider-
ations?

In other words, I like the idea of shining the Sun on the Fed, but
your requirement causes them to hit or suggest they're going to hit
certain targets within a very short period of time over a number of
different indices.

Representative PATMAN. Congressman Lungren, actually what
my legislation would require is that the Fed just simply give us the
results that it anticipates from its actions, not that it targets these
indices in any way, not that they set a rate that it wants to target
for long-term Government bonds, 90-day Treasury bills; but that it
simply tell us and tell the American public what it anticipates will
be those rates when it takes the action it has taken. This is what
they should know at the time they take the action, of course, and
this won't require their achieving any particular target.

Representative LUNGREN. After a few short reports it might re-
quire that they start hitting those targets or there's going to be a
little concern out in the body politic, isn't there?

Representative PATMAN. I think people show a wide tolerance for
what the Fed has done and what targets it must have had and its
policies and this simply would require that they be more clear.

Representative LUNGREN. Let me ask you this. I know the chair-
man has asked you something about this, but I'd like to find out,
do you think price stability is the No. 1 goal that we would ask for
the Fed to achieve?

Representative PATMAN. Long-term price stability is critical to
this Nation. That is, controlling inflation. Of course, we've got
other problems, too-the deficit.

Representative LUNGREN. I understand that, but sometimes I
wonder if we set targets where we let people know what it is we
intend to happen in terms of interest rates over short terms of time
that that might interfere with the overall goal of price stability.
That's the problem I have.

Representative PATMAN. As I say, they could target very high in-
terest rates and report it to us as what they expect will result from
their policies and simply justify that by saying that's necessary in
order to control inflation, if that's what they actually believe, and
apparently they did believe that several times in the not too dis-
tant past. These policies put upon this Nation a recession that cost
this Nation, according to the testimony we received in our House
Banking Committee, $1 trillion. Another economist, this one was
from Harvard, Benjamin Friedman, who made that calculation
about the cost of this most recent recession, and another witness
before our committee, testified that the cost was $800 billion. I
haVen't even required that they estimate the cost of what their
policies will be to this Nation. But there are so many, many things
that result from the actions they take in the Federal Open Market
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Committee that I think we need to get a handle on them. Of
course, I do put in here not only are these standard and classic eco-
nomic indices reported on, but such other measures of economic
performance as are necessary to indicate the full effect of such
action upon the economy. That would include perhaps price stabili-
ty and a price index of some kind, either on commodities or other
components of the prices we pay.

Representative LUNGREN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator JEPSEN. I thank you, Congressman Patman. Do you have

any closing statement?
Representative PATMAN. No, sir. I appreciate very much your at-

tention and the opportunity to speak before this distinguished com-
mittee. It's an honor to be present here today and I thank you.

Senator JEPSEN. At this time I would ask Edward J. Kane, pro-
fessor, Ohio State University, and George G. Kaufman, professor,
Loyola University of Chicago to come to the table. I welcome both
of you to this hearing. Professor Kane and Professor Kaufman, and
we are happy to have two such distinguished academic economists
at our hearing today. Your willingness 1o share your expert opin-
ions on the underlying causes of monetary instability is greatly ap-
preciated and we look forward to your testimony.

Do you have any opening comment, Congressman Lungren?
Representative LUNGREN. No, Mr. Chairman.
Senator JEPSEN. I would advise you that your statement will be

entered into the record and you may proceed in any manner you so
desire.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD J. KANE, EVERETT D. REESE PROFES-
SOR OF BANKING AND MONETARY ECONOMICS, OHIO STATE
UNIVERSITY, COLUMBUS,
Mr. KANE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I appreciate your committee's willingness to hear my views on

whether and how to make monetary policy decisions more account-
able. It is a subject about which I am not very hopeful.

In politically or economically difficult times, incumbent politi-
cians engage in a bipartisan practice that has come to be called
Fedbashing. They pointedly blame the economic ills of the country
on the "misguided" policies of an "independent" Federal Reserve
System. Far from acknowledging a prior role in encouraging Fed
officials to select the very policies they currently wish to disavow,
Fedbashers seek to distance themselves from policies that are cur-
rently unpopular with potential swing voters. Other things equal,
more dissatisfied polls show swing voters to be with any aspect of
the national economy and the closer the date of the next election,
the more abuse Fedbashers tend to heap upon the Fed.

What makes the game work is that Fed officials take their bash-
ings manfully. Typically, their own defense is to point out that
fiscal policy and such unforseeable events as financial innovations
or oil shocks cause monetary policymakers insuperable difficulties.
This gracious acceptance of blame supports the perception that
monetary policy is a delicate art and increases the credibility of
Fedbashers' basic efforts to heap political guilt for questionable
policies onto the Fed.

38-417 0-84--4
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In turn, Fed officials profess an unswerving resistance to politi-
cal pressure and accept the role of scapegoat for two reasons. First,
because the structure of decisionmaking at their agency deperson-
alizes blame and second, because serving as scapegoats lets them
preserve a series of valuable bureaucratic privileges. These privi-
leges include budgetary funding for this agency, longer terms of
office for agency leaders, and greater prestige and policy control
than the agency leaders of the Comptroller of the Currency, the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Securities and Ex-
change Commission.

An essential place in the Fedbashing process is held by congres-
sional hearings convened, as today's hearings are, to eva'aate me-
chanical rules for dictating policy decisions to Fed officials and to
consider structural reforms that would reduce the Fed's special bu-
reaucratic privileges. By reminding Fed officials of their agency's
vulnerability to an organized congressional attack and of the value
of being able to call forth a Presidential veto in the clutch, these
hearings fan Fed interest in maintaining good relations with con-
gressional leaders on both sides of the aisle and, especially, in stay-
ing on the good side of the President and his staff. In charting a
policy course whose perceived effects on interest rates inevitably
harm the interests of some politically powerful economic sectors,
Fed officials can ill afford to antagonize these important players.

Past cycles of committee hearings confirm the value of the game
to bashers and bashed alike. Congress has enacted a series of mar-
ginal adjustments in Fed powers and responsibilities just large
enough to keep activist congressional reformers working at the
game. This year's marginal adjustment is likely to focus on the
timing and content of reports on policy decisions taken by the Fed-
eral Open Market Committee. It is no accident that, through the
Fed's 70 years of existence, Congress and the President have re-
mained content not to force the Fed to submit openly to their wills.
By leaving the Fed's high command a substantial amount of ex
ante discretion, elected politicians leave themselves room to blame
the Fed ex post for whatever aspects of its policies happen to go
wrong. Ths conception amounts to a scapegoat theory of the bu-
reaucratic structure of the Fed.

In offering ritualistic defense against congressional and executive
branch criticisms, Fed leaders cannot fail to appreciate that politi-
cal benefits accrue to them from allowing incumbents to use their
institutions as a scapegoat. Their patient acceptance of such criti-
cism contributes to the stereotype of Fed decisions as a continuing
series of policy errors. Although Fed officials would rather not be
seen as a collection of inveterate bumblers, the valuable bureau-
cratic privileges that politicians grant them for bearing this oppro-
brium make the game worthwhile.

What puzzles me about those who labor at reforming the Federal
Reserve is their presumption that the controlling problem is only
to show that a particular change in the structure of Federal Re-
serve decisionmaking would lead to better monetary policy per-
formance. The catch is there are a great many different structural
reforms that can be shown to lead to better policy. The truly con-
trolling question is why wasn't one of these fundamentally better
arrangements adopted years ago. The answer is twofold. First, im-
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portant segments of the electorate see themselves as having a dis-
tributional interest in preserving current arrangements. Second,
supporters of different reforms let efforts to support their particu-
lar idea of best become the enemy of the good. By not addressing
the structural and political incentives, economic reformers permit
their various schemes to cancel each other out.

If proposals for asserting congressional authority over monetary
policy are to have a substantial chance for success, their sponsors
must find a way to address the political and bureaucratic incen-
tives that make current arrangements so cozy both for incumbent
politicians and for the Fed. The Fed's acceptance of contradictory
goals and its discretionary use of a self-selected bevy of intermedi-
ate policy targets let it reverse its economic priorities quickly in re-
sponse to political pressure with mi,-mal embarrassment. Struc-
tural ambiguity permits Fed officials to fuzz over the important po-
litical compromises they effect between goals desired by different
sectors and lets these compromises be made with minimal short-
term political stress tbr elected politicians.

Fed leaders make uncomfortable compromises between their
need to respond to immediate political pressure and their desire to
improve the long-run performance of the national economy. Politi-
cal goals and constraints complicate the dilemmas inherent in the
Fed's economic policy mission. Over short accounting periods, mac-
roeconomic goals such as high employment and low inflation re-
quire contradictory action. Nondiscretionary policy rules, such as
gold standard or monetary growth rules, are naive brute-force ways
of reducing the myopic bias that day-to-day political pressure and
macroeconomic lags to impart to monetary policy. Policy rules
serve as a mechanism for ensuring consistent decisions over time,
decisions which could establish an enduring macroeconomic bal-
ance. But such rules create political frustration. They generate pal-
pable political costs that professional politicians cannot afford to
wish away. A policy rule establishes consistency in policy priorities
over time only by walling in the interim reaction of sectoral inter-
ests to foreseeable, and especially to unforeseeable, policy burdens
that such rules thrust upon them. Such rules are not politically at-
tractive to Congress. They seek to prevent losers from using the po-
litical system to protect themselves against both anticipated and
unanticipated losses caused by monetary policy. Such a rule prom-
ises to build up political pressure not only against itself, but even
against the larger political system of which it is a part.

A central bank is a political institution whose macroeconomic
mission has important political overtones. With the major excep-
tions of West Germany and Switzerland-countries whose postwar
constituencies against inflation proved unusally strong-politicians
in advanced countries have chosen to bind their central banks into
the formal political process far more tightly than U.S. politicians
have secured the Fed.

Although limited autonomy was given to the Fed ostensibly as a
way to assure less inflationary monetary policies, the fragility of
the Fed's special bureaucratic priviliges has turned its quasiinde-
pendent status into a political leash. If U.S. politicians' only goal
was to give our country better macroeconomic performance over



48

the long run, they would long ago have made themselves more di-
rectly accountable for central bank behavior.

Most incumbent politician-. revel in the political benefits of Fed-
bashing. Presidents and congressional leaders will keep the game
running as long as the political benefits of Fed-bashing exceed its
political costs. Before the balance of benefits and costs can reverse,
voters must place in office individuals whose concern about eco-
nomic performance is strong enough to overcome the symbiotic re-
lation that now exists between elected politicians and the Fed. For
this to occur, either the public must learn to see through biennial
and quadrennial efforts to scapegoat the Fed or critics of the Fed
must agree on a unified plan for reform. As it is now, internecine
squabbling among sponsors of sensible alternative central banking
arrangements serves to shorten the political leash under which the
Fed operates and to strengthen its institutional capacity to serve as
an after-the-fpkt scapegoat for unpopular macroeconoimc events. As
long as would-be monetary reformers speak with many voices, their
efforts serve to mystify the task of monetary policymaking and to
keep Fed officials battling to preserve their special bureaucratic
status, while the sheer level of the noise they make drowns out
their most telling criticisms about the absence of a clear line of po-
litical accountability for Fed actions.

Thank you.
Senator JEPSEN. Thank you, Mr. Kane.
Professor Kaufman.

STATEMENT OF GEORGE G. KAUFMAN, PROFESSOR, LOYOLA
UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO

Mr. KAUFMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am very glad to be
here today.

The disappointing behavior of the economy over much of the past
15 years has encouraged policymakers and analysts alike to reex-
amine how our economy works, what went wrong, and the role of
economic policy. Some have concluded that the failure of economic
policy to perform better lies at least as much in the existing insti-
tutional arrangements as it does in our lack of knowledge of eco-
nomic relationships and that this is particularly true for monetary
policy and the Federal Reserve System. Thus, it is fitting and im-
portant that the Joint Economic Committee conduct these hearings
at this time. I have considered this problem in some detail in
recent months and will summarize my thinking in this statement.

The Federal Reserve is unique in our system in that it is prob-
ably more independent of Congress and the administration de jure
than any Government other than the U.S. Supreme Court and the
Federal judicial system. This independence was introduced in 1913
when Congress established the Fed and reinforced in 1933 and 1935
when Congress overhauled the structure of the system. The inde-
pendence was intended to insulate the system from day-to-day po-
litical pressure from both the Government and the financial com-
munity. Thus, the terms of the Governors were progressively
lenghthened to 14 years, the Secretary of the Treasury and Comp-
troller of the Currency were removed as ex officio members of the
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Board in 1935, and the Fed did not have to go to Congress for its
annual funding.

History suggests that this structure may have made the Federal
Reserve more independent from political and business pressures
than other Government agencies-although there is strong evi-
dence that the System has not been as frp~e from Presidential influ-
ence as is often believed. But it clearly did not isolate the System
from day-to-day economic and financial concerns. The ?:ed has op-
erated on a fine-tuning basis throughout most of its entire history.
It responds to a large number of concurrent forces in the economy
in an attempt to be immediately responsive to a large number of
intermediate and final targets. In addition, despite widespread
knowledge that its actions affect macrotargets only with a consider-
able time lag-in some cases, months or years-the Fed generally
waits until the undesirable condition, particularly inflation, is upon
us before taking action-a "do not fire until you see the whites of
their eyes" philosophy. These strategies, although well intentioned,
are to blame for much of the country's relatively poor overall ma-
croperformance in terms of price stability and unemployment. In
attempting to serve many masters, the Fed has served none very
well. To improve these results, it would be desirable for the Federal
Reserve to limit its goals to one or, at mo3t, two that it can struc-
turally achieve and to wait out time lags. This also implies that
Congress should not ask the Fed to achieve goals that are beyond
the Fod's powers to achieve; for example, short-term full employ-
ment or real sector growth. Monetary policy affects primarily
nominal variables.

Such a change would be more far-reaching than it may at first
appear. For thoe Fed, it would mean that it may expect to be held
strictly accountable for the achievement of the specified target.
This will surely clip its wings. For Congress and the administra-
tion, it means that they cannot continue to use the Fed as a scape-
goat for poor economic performance. Congress and the administra-
tion themselves would- have to accept direct responsibility for the
country's economic performance. Because we live in a highly com-
plex and uncertain world, the resulting increase in responsibility
and accountability for conditions that may at times be beyond their
control would not be welcomed by the Fed, Congress, or the admin-
istration.

No Government agency-or, for that matter, any of us-wants
its wings clipped, particularly one that treasures its independence
as much as the Fed. Thus, it has fought back hard to preserve its
independence and power whenever they were threatened. Like
Congress, the Fed has generally laid the blame for the poor per-
formance of the economy on others, particularly on fiscal policy
and the Federal deficit. Indeed, such behavior was predicted in
1933 by' Senator Huey Long when he argued against removing the
Secretary of the Treasury from the Board: "When the Secretary of
the Treasury is dissociated from the Federal Reserve Board, then
the Federal Reserve Board will constantly 'pass the buck' and say,
'it is the Treasury Department that is responsible' and the Treas-
ury Department will pass the buck' back and say that it is the
Federal Reserve Board that is responsible."
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How right he was. The Fed tends to spend as much time in its
speeches discussing fiscal policy-over which it has no control-as
monetary policy, which is its responsibility.

Whenever Congress has attempted to increase its control over
Federal Reserve monetary policy in the post-Korean war period,
the Fed has responded by emphasizing the economic undesirability
or technical impossibility of being evaluated by one or two perform-
ance measures. In the mid-1970's, in response to dissatisfaction
with both the performance of the economy and Fed policy, Con-
gress required the Fed to specify target rates of growth in mone-
tary aggregates over the next 12 months. The Fed responded by in-
creasing the number of money supply definitions and by continual-
ly shifting the base period, making it difficult, if not impossible, to
evaluate its success in achieving these target ranges. This defensive
strategy was used even in the 1979-82 period when the Fed was
supposedly placing increased emphasis on monetary aggregates. It
is now clear that the Fed adopted its 1979-82 operating procedures
both to signal an increase in the intensity of its anti-inflation pro-
gram and to escape from being tagged with the responsibility for
the higher interest rates that could be expected to occur as a
result.

But, as has been well documented, not only did interest rates in-
crease and become more volatile, as was widely predicted, but
money supply also became more volatile, which was neither pre-
dicted nor should have occurred had the Fed actually operated to
control the money supply. The reasons for the Fed's behavior in
this period have been analyzed elsewhere-and I will not go over
them here. Moreover, when the Fed's concern shifted again from
inflation to unemployment in 1982 and lower rather than higher
interest rates were a goal, it deemphasized monetary aggregate tar-
geting. As is shown in the accompanying charts, since 1975 the
Federal Reserve has almost consistently missed its own monetary
growth targets, generally overshooting them.

The struggle against increased congressional intervention in its
policies has been waged with almost equal intensity regardless of
who was the Chairman of the Board-whether short or tall, econo-
mist or noneconomist. Indeed, not only has the Fed been reluctant
to be judged by any one measure of performance, it has been reluc-
tant to accept any one theory of how the economy operates. As was
recently reiterated by Gerald Corrigan, president of the Federal
Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, in his 1983 annual report, eclecti-
cism and judgment are the key words for Fed operations:

The economy and expectations about the performance of the economy are simply
too complex to assume that simple and infexible rules hold the key to economic
success. * * * There are no simple formulas for economic prosperity I * *. The
policy process must be sprinkled with a generous dose of judgment and flexibility
and a willingness to adjust policy and policy targets as changing econornic and fi-
nancial developments warrant.

Why has Congress permitted the Fed to operate in such a free-
wheeling manner, particularly as it has held other agencies to
stricter standards of accountability? I believe that there are two
primary reasons. One, because economic performance is not always
on target, Co.:gress and the administration wish to avoid responsi-
bility and being voted out of office. They prefer to shift the blame
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to the independent Fed over which they are perceived to have little
control. Two, the Fed uses its leverage as the lender of last resort
to argue that, unless its freedom to determine its own mode of op-
eration is maintained, it cannot be held responsible for any major
economic crises that may arise when its hands are tied. Because of
the complexity of the economic process and the electorate's relative
unfamiliarity with it, it is easier to shift the blame for poor eco-
nomic policy than for most other Government policies.

It follows from the above that to change the Fed's operational
style seriously requires a modification of its institutional structure.
As we eventually learned about other regulatory agencies, it is not
the person in charge that generally matters, but the nature of the
agency. Just as, with rare exception, most ICC, FCC, or CAB chair-
persons could not be distinguished, in retrospect, by the actions of
their agency, the recent Fed chairmen cannot be easily distin-
guished by the resulting monetary policy or strategy. The organiza-
tion tends to capture its managers, and central banks operate simi-
larly in almost all countries under almost all shades of govern-
ments-they tend to be "economic meddlers."

Recommendations for institutional modifications of the Federal
Reserve to correct this problem vary greatly. Former Chairman of
the President's Council of Economic Advisers, Herbert Stein, for
example, has recently proposed that the Fed's economic staff be re-
duced in size to cut back on the amount and diversity of informa-
tion that the Fed can analyze. This should force it to focus more on
a limited number of macrogoals. Under this proposal, the Fed
would maintain its independent status, although it would lose
much of its regulatory powers, which encourage it to mix micro
and macro objectives. Others have questioned the appropriateness
of an independent agency in a democratic political structure. De-
spite the fact that military policy is probably at least as important
and technologically complex as monetary policy, we do not have a
de jure independent Joint Chiefs of Saff or Department of Defense.
The operation of the country, including the economy, is evaluated
every 2 or 4 years by the electorate who can and do throw the "ras-
cals' out if they do not like what they see. Thus, whether they
wish to avoid it or not, Congress and the administration bear the
ultimate responsibility for the Fed's monetary policy, just as they
do for fiscal policy and military policy, and are accountable to the
electorate. If the Fed is unwilling to accept greater accountability
to Congress or Congress is unwilling to surrender its favorite eco-
nomic scapegoat to permit Fed independence from day-to-day temp-
tations, which is my preferred arrangement, the- Fed should be
brought into the Treasury Department with much the same struc-
ture as the Comptroller of the Currency. Thus, monetary and fiscal
policies--the two major tools of macroeconomic policy-will be
combined under one authority for the electorate to evaluate.

Whether this structure would work better than the current
structure depends on what is meant by "work." If the extant
system has worked by most generally accepted measures, this com-
mittee would not be holding today's hearings. The United States
has remained a world military power even though the Joint Chiefs,
Department of Defense, and even the CIA are organized within the
administration and are accountable in a meaningful sense to Con-
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gress. It is difficult to imagine that we would have been better off
if this had not been so or that we would be much worse off if the
Federal Reserve was structured in a similar way.

Mr. Chairman, a number of my fellow economists have given
thought to this topic and I list some of their publications in the ref-
erence attached to this testimony.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Kaufman- follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF GEORGE G. KAUFMAN

TIe disappointing behavior of the economy over much of the

past 15 years has encouraged policymakers and analysts alike to

reexamine how our economy works, what went wrong, and the role of

economic policy. Some have concluded that the failure of economic

policy to perform better lies at least as much in the existing

institutional arrangements as it does in our lack of knowledge of

economic relationships and that this is particularly true for mone-

tary policy and the Federal Reserve System. Thus, it is fitting

and important that the Joint Economic Committee conduct these hear-

ings at this time. I have considered this problem in some detail

in recent months and will summarize my thinking in this statement. 1

The Federal Reserve is unique in our system in that it is

probably more independent of Congress and the Administration de jure

than any government agency other than the U. S. Supreme Court and

the federal judicial system. This independence was introduced in

1913 when Congress established the Fed and reinforced in 1933 and

1935 when Congress overhauled the structure of the System. The

independence was intended to insulate the System from day-to-day

political pressure from toth the government and the financial com-

munity. Thus, the terms of the governors were progressively

lengthened to 14 years, the Secretary of the Treasury and Comptroller
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of the Currency were removed as ex-officio members of the Board in

1935, and the Fed did not have to go to Congress for its annual

funding.2

History suggests that this structure may have made the Federal

Reserve more independent from political and business pressures than

other government agencies -- although there is strong evidence that

the System has not been as free from presidential influence as is

often believed.3 But it clearly did not isolate the System from

day-to-day economic and financial concerns. The Fed has operated

on a "fine tuning" basis throughout most of its entire history.

It responds to a large number of concurrent forces in the economy

in an attempt to be immediately responsive to a large number of

intermediate and final targets. In addition, despite widespread

knowledge that its actions affect macro-targets only with a con-

siderable time lag -- in some cases, months or years -- the Fed

generally waits until the undesirable condition, particularly

inflation, is upon us before taking action -- "do not fire until

you see the whites of their eyes" philosophy. These strategies,

although well intentioned, are to blame for much of the country's

relatively poor overall macro performance in terms of price sta-

bility and unemployment. In attempting to serve many masters, the

Fed has servednuh~e very well. To improve these results, it would

be desirable for the Federal Reserve to limit its goals to one or,

at most, two that it can structurally achieve and to wait out time

lags. This also implies that Congress should not ask the Fed to

achieve goals that are beyond the Fed's powers to achieve; e.g.,

short-term full employment or real sector growth. Monetary policy

affects primarily nominal variables.
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Such a change would be more far-reaching than it may at first

appear. For the Fed, it would mean that it may expect to be held

strictly accountable for the achievement of the specified target.

This will surely clip its wings. For Congress and the Administration,

it means that they cannot continue to use the Fed as a scapegoat

for poor economic performance. Congress and the Administration

themselves would have to accept direct responsibility for the coun-

try's economic performance. Because we live in a highly complex

and uncertain world, the resulting increase in responsibility and

accountability fcr conditions that may at times be beyond their

control would not be welcomed by the Fed, Congress, or the

Administration.

No government agency -- or, for that matter, any of us --

wants its wings clipped, particularly one that treasures its

independence as much as the Fed. Thus, it has fought back hard to

preserve its independence and power whenever they were threatened.

Like Congress, the Fed has generally laid the blame for the poor

performance of the economy on others, particularly on fiscal policy

and the federal deficit. Indeed, such behavior was predicted in

1933 by Senator Huey Long when he argued against removing the

Secretary of the Treasury from the Board:

When the Secretary of the Treasury is dissociated from
the Federal Reserve Board, then the Federal Reserve Board
will constantly 'pass the buck' and say, 'it is the
Treasury Department that is responsible,' and the Treasury
Department will 'pass the buck' back and say t~at it is
the Federal Reserve Board that is responsible.

How right he was! The Fed tends to spend as much time in its

speeches discussing fiscal policy -- over which it has no control --

as monetary policy -- which is its responsibility.
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Whenever Congress has attempted to increase its control over

Federal Reserve monetary policy in the post-Korean War period, the

Fed has responded by emphasizing the economic undesirability or

technical impossibility of being evaluated by one or two perfor-

mance measures. In the mid-1970s, in response to dissatisfaction

with both the performance of the economy and Fed policy, Congress

required the Fed to specify target rates of growth in monetary

aggregates over the next 12 months. The Fed responded by increasing

the number of money supply definitions and by continually shifting

the base period, making it difficult, if not impossible, to evalu-

ate its success in achieving these target ranges.
5 This defensive

strategy was used even in the 1979-82 period when the Fed was sup-

posedly placing increased emphasis on monetary aggregates. It is

now clear that the Fed adopted its 1979-82 operating procedures

both to signal an increase in the intensity of its anti-inflation

program and to escape from being tagged with the responsibility for

the higher interest rates that could be expected to occur as a

result.

But, as has been well documented, not only did interest rates

increase and become more volatile, as was widely predicted, but

money supply also became more volatile, which was neither predicted

nor should have occurred had the Fed actually operated to control the

money supply. The reasons for the Fed's behavior in this period

have been analyzed elsewhere.6 Moreover, when the Fed's concern

shifted again from inflation to unemployment in 1982 and lower

rather than higher, interest rates were a goal, it deemphasized

monetary aggregate targeting. As is shown in the accompanying

charts, since 1975 the Federal Reserve has almost consistently
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missed its own monetary growth targets, generally overshooting

them.

The struggle against increased Congressional intervention in

its policies has been waged with almost equal intensity regardless

of who was the Chairman of the Board -- whether short or tall,

economist or noneconomist. Indeed, not only has the Fed been reluc-

tant to be judged by any one measure of performance, it has been

reluctant to accept any one theory of how the economy operates. As

was recently reiterated by Gerald Corrigan, President of the Federal

Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, in his 1983 annual report, eclecticism

and judgment are the key words for Fed operations:

The economy and expectations about the performance of
the economy are simply too complex to assume that simple
and inflexible rules hold the key to economic success.
... . There are no simple formulas for economic pros-
perity . . .. The policy process must be sprinkled with
a generous dose of judgment and flexibility and a will-
ingness to adjust policy and policy targets I s changing
economic and financial developments warrant.

Why has Congress permitted the Fed to operate in such a

freewheeling manner, particularly as it has held other agencies to

stricter standards of accountability? I believe that there are

two primary reasons. One, because econoniic performance is not

always on target, Congress and the Administration wish to avoid

responsibility and being voted out of office. They prefer to shift

the blame to the "independent" Fed over which they have "little"

control. Two, the Fed uses its leverage as the lender of last

resort to argue that, unless its freedom to determine its own mode

of operation is maintained, it cannot be held responsible for any

major economic crises that may arise when its hands are "tied."

Because of the complexity of the economic process and the
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electorate's relative unfamiliarity with it, it is easier to shift the

blame for poor economic policy than for most other government poli-

cies.

It follows from the above that to change the Fed's operational

style seriously requires a modification of its institutional struc-

ture. As we eventually learned about other regulatory agencies, it

is not the person in charge that generally matters, but the nature

of the agency. Just as, with rare exception, most ICC, FCC or CAB

chairpersons could not be distinguished, in retrospect, by the

actions of their agency, the recent Fed chairmen cannot be easily

distinguished by the resulting monetary policy or strategy. The

organization tends to capture its managers, and central banks

operate similarly in almost all countries under almost all shades

of governments -- they tend to be "economic meddlers."

Recommendations for institutional modifications of the

Federal Reserve to correct this problem vary greatly. Former

Chairman of the President's Council of Economic Advisers, Herbert

Stein, has recently proposed that the Fed's economic staff be

reduced in size to cut back on the amount and diversity of infor-

mation that the Fed can analyze. This should force it to focus

more on a limited number of macro goals.8 Under this proposal,

the Fed would maintain its independent status, although it would

lose much of its regulatory powers, which encourage it to mix micro

and macro objectives. Others have questioned the appropriateness

of an "independent" agency in a democratic political structure.

Despite the fact that military policy is probably at least as

important and technologically complex as monetary policy, we do

not have a de jure independent Joint Chiefs of Staff or Department

of Defense. The operation of the country, including the economy,
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is evaluated every two or four years by the electorate who can and

do throw the "rascals" out if they do not like what they see.

Thus, whether they wish to avoid it or not, Congress and the

Administration bear the ultimate responsibility for the Fed's

monetary policy, just as they do for fiscal policy and military

policy, and are accountable to the electorate. If the Fed is

unwilling to accept greater accountability to Congress or Congress

is unwilling to surrender its favorite economic scapegoat to per-

mit Fed independence from day-to-day temptations, which is my

preferred arrangement, the Fed should be brought into the Treasury

Department with much the same structure as the Comptroller of the

Currency. Thus, monetary and fiscal policies -- the two major

tools of macroeconomic policy -- will be combined under one auth-

ority for the electorate to evaluate.

Whether this structure would work better than the current

structure depends on what is meant by "work." If the extant sys-

tem has worked by most generally accepted measures, this Committee

would not be holding today's hearings. The U.S. has remained a

world military power even though the Joint Chiefs, Department of

Defense, and even the C.I.A. are organized within the Administration

and are accountable In a meaningful sense to Congress. It is dif-

ficult to imagine that we would have been better off if this had

not been so or that we would be much worse off if the Federal

Reserve was structured in a similar way. (A number of economists

have devoted attention to problems of monetary policy formulation

and to the appropriate institutional structure of the Federal

Reserve. I cite some of their studies in the attached list of

references.)
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Senator JEPSEN. I thank you, Mr. Kaufman.
I note that the monetary base, which the Fed controls, has

slowed from an 8-percent growth rate last year to less than 5 per-
cent the last 2 months. I believe in the month of April it was grow-
in at the rate of zero.

Do you think that the growth rate was slowed primarily to
achieve a long-run target of price stability or it affects other eco-
nomic variables? One result has been that the Fed has raised inter-
est rates. Isn't that correct?

Mr. KAUFMAN. I would like to think that the slow growth is for
the purpose of slowing the rate of inflation. I happen to not be a
fan of the base because two-thirds of the base is currency and cur-
rency is supplied pretty well to satisfy the needs of the public. I
prefer to look at Ml and M1 is right back, as a result of what hap-
pened in the last few weeks or so, at its targets.

Did it affect interest rates? No, I do not believe so. I believe that
all empirical evidence, as I interpret it, indicates that the main de-
terminant of the rates of interest are the state of the economy and
expectations about the rate of inflation.

Given the nature of the expansion, which at a minimum has
been average and in some parts even faster than average, I was
surprised that interest rates have not risen sooner because of the
strengthened economy. The short-term rise in interest rates is very
typical at this stage of the cycle. The rise in long-term interest
rates is more troublesome and more difficult for economists to ex-
plain. Possibly it just represents the fear of the public that given
the large deficits and possibly that the Fed has to monetize it or
having to monetize it in the future that we might be headed for an
acceleration in the rate of inflation.

Senator JEPSEN. I'd like to examine those two areas and then
talk about the increased demand for credit. We hear talk about
holding inflation down and concern about raising the rate of infla-
tion. In fact, under the old formula, the one that up until 18
months ago was used to figure inflation and to compute all the
labor contracts, it could have been formulated that our rate of in-
flation recently has been somewhere between 1 and 2 percent,
closer to 1.3. That picture doesn't sound to me like inflation is run-
ning out of control. It's been hovering down in that area for a long
time and a lot of people are saying that, given this monetary policy
that holds inflation down and inflation in fact has been lower than
it's been for many, many years and has been there for a long, long
time, who is it that keeps telling us that inflation is running out of
control? Has it?

Mr. KAUFMAN. At the moment, it has not. I think what it's tell-
ing us is that it is the market that determines the high interest
rates. Given the rapid growth in the money supply in the last 11/2
years, some of which are shown on this chart. I do not think, that
the rise in interest rates is the result of a slow growth in the
money supply or a too slow growth in the money supply.

As I mentioned in my testimony, one of the dangers of monetary
policy is that the Fed-and I think to some extent all of us-are
reluctant to take on factors that have not occurred yet. You point
out the rate of inflation is reasonably slow, but there is a fear that
it will pick up later. Monetary policy has its impact in the future.
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What the Fed does now will determine what the economy does
later on. So consequently, if there is a fear by predictors and people
who make their living out of projecting, that there is danger of in-
flation in the future the Fed has got to take action now. We cannot
wait until inflation is on top of us.

Senator JEPSEN. I don't mean to debate this, but the inflation
rate has hovered ini a very low range, not in fact lower than it
would have been before the formula change, but that's the figure
that generally now is reported and talked about. Under the old
basis of inflation, which is what we used back in the early 1980's
and what was used through most of our history up until about 18
months ago, it's been not only low but it's been there for a long
time.

At what point are interest rates too high. When interest rates
are combined with the agricultural economy, for example in my
State-the agricultural economy and the housing economy have
been brought practically to their knees-and any increase in inter-
est rates is devastating. And when they look to the reason for that
and we hear explanations being given that we want to make sure
that we don't reignite inflation-when in fact inflation has been, as
I say, basically low for a long time-who makes that judgment?
How does that decision come about? How do they justify it?

Mr. KAUFMAN. I think that if the public believed that inflation
was dead, we would have lower interest rates. I believe the rate of
inflation has been slow, but not by historical standards. If we re-
member back in 1971, I believe President Nixon at the time im-
posed wage and price controls when the rate of inflation was only 2
or 3 percent. I think we sort of got adjusted to double digit infla-
tion and maybe now 5 or 6 is not bad. The public may feel differ-
ently about this, but as I view the rapid growth in money supply,
which to me has been quite rapid, given my readings of past rela-
tionships, I am fearful that we will have acceleration in the rate of
inflation even though at the moment, as you know, it is quite slow.

Senator JEPSEN. We had a buildup of inventory of about $27 bil-
lion in the last quarter compared to $9 in the quarter previously
and $4 previous to that. That $27 billion buildup in inventory cre-
ated a demand for increased credit. That, coupled with the fact
that the Fed has tightened the money supply going into the first
months of this year-and I believe it was the month of April that it
was zero growth rate-that combination of increased demand for
money and credit due to what some people now call not an econom-
ic recovery but an overly expanding economy-the economic recov-
ery has been passed and it's now an overly expanding economy-
that combination, most students of economics tell me is the reason
we've had an increase in interest rates. Is that wrong?

Mr. KAUFMAN. Well, if you take a look at May, the money supply
rose very, very sharply again. I've observed the Fed for many,
many years and I've learned that you can't go on a month-by-
month, week-by-week basis. This is more or less a random move-
ment and every time you feel the Fed is slowing down one month,
the next month they speed up and conversely. I think one has to
take a look at the performance of the money supply over a longer
period of time within the target ranges. I believe now, last time I
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looked, we are very close to the M1 target at the top part of that
range again.

Senator JEPSEN. Well, the fact is, we don't have monetary insti-
tutions that lead to public confidence and price stability, so we
come back to the institutional reform, don't we?

Mr. KAUFMAN. Yes, sir.
Senator JEPSEN. Professor Kane, on the one hand, you warn

about the political game of criticizing the Fed, and I agree this gen-
erally has been unproductive, but it seems that some progress must
be made and this progress is more likely if we recognize that the
problem is one of institutional incentives, not a problem of individ-
uals. Would you agree .with that?

Mr. KANE. The need to focus on altering institutional incentives
is the major thrust of our panel's testimony: Congress must recog-
nize the effects of existing institutional incentives and help the
electorate to trace them back to the politicians that control them.
As Professor Kaufman emphasized, Congress and the President
have the job of deciding who should be held accountable for mone-
tary policy. Under current arrangements, neither the executive nor
the legislative branch is accountable for monetary policy decisions.

Senator JEPSEN. Congressman Lungren.
Representative LUNGREN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We can have as many economists appear before this panel and

other panels as possible and they can all tell us about the different
approaches we can use for monetary policy and they all sound
equally persuasive, which leads me to this question. Professor
Kaufman, you have indicated that the market is indicating its fear
of inflation. Well, the market responds to a lot of things. They re-
spond to certain people on Wall Street that have a reputation for
being right. And until they have been proven wrong 10 times out of
10, people still listen to them. They find out 1 or 2 months after the
Fed has decided what it's going to do with respect to their mone-
tary targets and then respond to that, judging whether in fact they
had properly anticipated what the Fed did when no one knew what
they did. We've had Mr. Volcker before this committee and I've
asked him what are the important indices that are used by him
and his colleagues, and I said, "Are you concerned about unemploy-
ment?" And he says, "Oh, yes, we look at unemployment." I said,
"Are you concerned about price stability?" He says, "Oh, yes; we
look at price stability." I said, "Are you concerned about market
basket price of commodities?" He said, "Oh, yes; we look at that."
"Are you worried about aggregates?" "Oh, yes; we look at that."
"Are you worried about GNP growth?" "Oh, yes; we look at that."

His statement to this committee at the beginning of the year
was, "It looks like we are now settling down to a GNP growth rate
that is more sustainable." I said, "What is sustainable?" He said,
"We were running 6 or 6.5 percent and most economists would say
that's not sustainable. It should be about 4.5 percent." I said,
"Well, would that be sustainable?" He said, "Well, I wouldn't like
to be held to that. It's something like that."

I mean, if you think the market somehow can rely on that sort of
inventory, you certainly have a lot greater faith in the ability of
individuals than I do. I think they are confused as much as politi-
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cians are confused, and is that a healthy environment for the econ-
omy?

Mr. KAUFMAN. No; I don't think so. I always believe that more
information available to the public is better than less information
unless there's some danger to the security of the United States. I
believe that releasing the minutes, or at least the directive of the
Open Market Committee on the day that it's adopted will benefit
and stabilize the economy.

Representative LUNGREN. Is there anything wrong with us in a
sense requesting from the Fed the rationale for their decision?

Mr. KAUFMAN. Well, as you mentioned earlier, almost all econo-
mists differ, though I think the disagreements are not so great
within the community, and it's not too difficult to build hypotheti-
cal models that would show the economy would fall apart if you
released that information. I'm just fearful that if you ask for this
kind of report you might very well get back a model that justifies
what the Fed did. It's very simple to build economic models to jus-
tify almost anything.

Representative LUNGREN. Well, I understand, but as elected offi-
cials-you could have two elected officials or two people espousing
to the same elected office and both being equally persuasive and
under our system .we require the voters to make a decision, and
they do make a decision. By and large, I think they make some cor-
rect decisions and they make some bad decisions as well, but we
require that sort of information to be put in the public domain and
I have yet to find an economist to suggest that, in fact, he is in-
volved in an exact science, and that is that economists can disagree
and disagree regularly. And what is wrong with requiring them to
at least put out there in the public domain what it js they are
thinking about when these economists have been given a very im-
portant part in the decisionmaking responsibility?

Mr. KAUFMAN. I couldn't agree with you more. I believe that,
providing this information as soon as possible to the market as a
whole, while it might produce some unemployment among Fed
watchers, could only benefit the economy as a whole and stabilize
it and, more importantly, it would permit everybody to start at the
same base. It would provide the same amount of knowledge to ev-
erybody in the market rather than having it filter down from
people who are specialists in this area being the first to know. I
agree with you fully.

Representative LUNGREN. One of the things that disturbed me
not too long ago is the fact that one member of the Fed gave a
speech-I forget where-and sort of suggested what, in fact, they
were doing and he was criticized by the rest of the Fed for letting
that information out. We have a strange situation where you are
not allowed to give that information to the American public.

I am not, Mr. Kane, I believe, involving myself in Fed-bashing. I
am an incumbent politician. But frankly, I couldn't care less if we
didn't have anything to criticize the Fed for. Your suggestion that
incumbents revel on the political benefits of Fed-bashing is interest-
ing, but a lot of us up here are just trying to figure out what the
Fed is doing and trying to figure out what the proper relationship
between the government of those who are elected and the Fed
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ought to be, and frankly, I am not sure that we all know at this
point.

What institutional reforms would you suggest that we might
embark upon so that we get away from the idea of Fed-bashing?

Mr. KANE. Well, I think the most important thing would be to
establish clearly who is to be the Fed's boss-either Congress or the
President. What's hard about our system of government, as com-
pared to most others, is that we raise a kind of Chinese wall be-
tween the legislative branch and the executive branch. We don't
have a parliamentary majority party that takes executiv responsi-
bility for economic policies. This leaves our central bank floating in
the middle. Congress has been unwilling to give up its right to con-
trol the Fed, but in repeatedly asserting this right without taking
firm control, Congress has actually increased the President's influ-
ence on Fed officials. Basically, what is needed is to make a struc-
tural choice as to where we are going to put political responsibility
for monetary policy. Once this issue has been decided, voters can
blame or applaud the politicians to which the Fed is accountable
for the policies that we have.

Representative LUNGREN. Well, let me ask you this. Short of
doing that, is there a standard, is there a direction is there a single
goal or two goals that we could give the Fed as opposed to giving
them a multiplicity of goals which in their response to our ques-
tions indicates to me gives thw-- no goal whatsoever?

Mr. KANE. Well, I agree that Fed officials chase too many goals
today, but these impossible goals were assigned to them. They are
contained in the Employment Act as it has been amended over the
years.

Representative LUNGREN. I understand that. That's what I'm
asking you, whether-.-

Mr. KANE. I've been a staunch critic of asking the Fed to do ev-
erything. By giving the Fed a set of contradictory goals, you simul-
taneously give them a builtin excuse for failure and license every-
one to criticize them for whatever happens to go wrong in the econ-
omy.

Representative LUNGREN. If there was a single or just a couple of
goals that you would think would be the appropriate goals for us to
give to the Fed that would not be taking them entirely into the ex-
ecutive or the legislative branch, what would those goals or that
goal be?

Mr. KANE. Well, if you were going to give them just one goal, the
preferable goal would be price stability. But such an assignment
would greatly affect the rights of incumbent politicians. They
would no longer be able to criticize Fed officials for taking action to
slow the rate of inflation and continuing that action even as the
rate of inflation slows and unemployment becomes serious, a right
that many Congresspersons and some administration officials exer-
cised advantageously during the last couple of years. Incumbents in
one branch or the other would have to confess that the buck stops
there.

Representative LUNGREN. Well, how do you define the price sta-
bility?

Mr. KANE. Price stability to me is the absence of price inflation.
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Representative LUNGREN. Which would be essentially maintain-
ing the value of the currency.

Mr. KANE. The purchasing power of the currency.
Representative LUNGREN. Of a single unit of currency.
Mr. KANE. Yes. But you can see why politically it's a very diffi-

cult thing to tell the Fed to concern itself exclusively with price
stability when the Fed has the power in the short run to help the
Nation attain other desirable goals. When one sees the suffering
that unemployment causes people who become unemployed, it is
hard not to want to use monetary policy to relieve their distress.
But such a switch in emphasis amounts to assigning contradictory
goals to the Fed again.

Representative LUNGREN. So you're suggesting that those who
say that employment and lack of inflation are contradictory goals
are, in fact, correct?

Mr. KANE. Pursuing both goals requires contradictory actions in
the short run. There s no doubt that these goals conflict in the
short run. By "short run" I mean over periods as short or shorter
than electoral cycles of 2 or 4 years. However, over longer periods
of time such as decades, price stability and full employment are
not contradictory goals. The problem is whether politicians are
willing to stand around and wait for well-conceived, but painful
policies to have a salutary long-run effect.

Representative LUNGREN. I wonder if sometime if we could do a
study to show, for instance, in the cycle of recessions and recover-
ies that we've had since World War II, we have apparently come
out of each cycle with a higher inflation rate and a higher unem-
ployment rate. If you take that and suggest that if we had some
sort of stable monetary policy, some price stability, which would
affect that in some major way, that the overall unemployment, as
taken across the board, would be less than what it in fact was, you
could build a political base for supporting the goal of price
stability.

Mr. KANE. I think you could. To explain the upward drift of un-
employment, we must acknowledge that the decline of educational
productivity in this country and the rise in the minimum wage
have had important effects, too. For several decades, the education-
al establishment in this country has neglected math, science, and
writing skills. This has made the labor force less productive than it
could be.

Representative LUNGREN. I agree on those points as well.
Professor Kaufman, if you were to give a goal or two goals to the

Federal Reserve as opposed to a multiplicity of goals, what would
they be? How would you express them?

Mr. KAUFMAN. It would be very similar to what you just stated-
price stability. What we mean by price stability would be deter-
mind by Congress-2 percent or 3 or 4-but some limit given the
nature of the economy at the time and knowing it can be modified.
Certainly it could not be zero as in the old days. It would be diffi-
cult to lower it to zero. But maybe 2 or 3 percent, and hold the Fed
to that over a 2- or 3-year period, and that would be in a popular
price index. Most of them tend to move together more or less. Have
a maximum range or maximum rate of inflation that would be de-
termined by Congress and the administration.
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Representative LUNGREN. Then require the Congress and the ex-
ecutive Branch to accept the responsibility for other elements in
the economy as they interplay with a given, which would be price
stability?

Mr. KAUFMAN. Yes, sir.
Representative LUNGREN. Because Mr. Volcker couldn't answer

it, maybe you two gentlemen can't answer it, but could you tell me,
as you view it from the outside, what is the driving force or the
predominant goal that the Fed is pursuing at the present time?

Mr. KAUFMAN. I'd say it's very difficult to quantify. Obviously,
they are trying to do their best I think to achieve some sort of mix
between low unemployment and a low rate of inflation, plus all the
other pressures that are put on it for keeping interest rates, low
and making sure that certain sectors of the economy-the automo-
bile sector and the agricultural sector-do not deteriorate sharply.

I think it's a multiplicity of goals and they sort of reach a com-
promise in seeking what is the path of least resistance.

Mr. LUNGREN. Professor Kane.
Mr. KANE. I would say that the Fed's primary goal today is not

to give up the gains it has recently made on inflation. It's very con-
cerned that it helped to put the economy through a wringer and
that people who suffered the medicine of unemployment should not
see a quick dissipation of the salutary macroeconomic effects their
suffering permitted. That's Fed officials' major goal.

At the same time, they are very concerned, as they have to be,
about maintaining the stability of our financial system. Many
thrift institutions are barely hanging onto existence. Rapid in-
creases in interest rates would aggravate the trouble they are expe-
riencing. Less-developed countries and many energy companies are
finding it a difficult time to service their debt. As interest rates
rise, much of the increased distress these borrowers and thrifts ex-
perience passes through to the banking system. Many banks are in
a precarious condition.

Representative LUNGREN. Let me ask you one last question and
address it to both of you. The Chairman of the Federal Reserve told
us, as I said, it looked like we were going to have a more sustain-
able rate of growth this year, somewhere around 4 or 4.5 percent.
Instead of 6 percent or so the first quarter, It was 8.3 or something
like that.

How can we accurately make calculations as to what is a sustain-
able rate of growth when we're in a recovery that's coming out of
one of the toughest recessions we've had, when even with the tre-
mendous improvement in unemployment we have had over 18
months we're now down to 7.5 percent which is where we started
and which traditionally is extremely high, when as a politician I go
back to my district and I see a lot of small business folks and they
tell me, "Hey, we're just beginning to feel the recovery." When we
look at the productivity figures, they still appear to be pretty good.
We don't seem to be developing any bpttlenecks that some suggest-
ed we would have in the economy by this point if we had this rapid
GNP growth.

How do we determine what is in fact -a sustainable-I mean,
other than an after-the-fact evaluation-how do we anticipate that
and if in fact we can't anticipate that very well, how is that then a
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guide that can be used by the Federal Reserve in determining what
it is they are going to be doing?

Mr. KANE. First, I believe that Mr. Volcker was merely trying to
use marketing or advertising skills to announce that the rate of
growth in the economy had slowed. It is not unusual for unpleasant
news to be reported as if it were good news. In the long run, sus-
tainable growth depends on growth in the Nation's productive re-
sources and in the productivity of these resources. Coming out of a
recession, the economy has the additional and temporary possibili-
ty of increasing greatly its utilization of idle resources, just as you
observed. This is why at this time- our economy could probably take
8-percent real growth for a couple of quarters without reigniting
double-digit inflation.

Representative LUNGREN. The question I have is you've got the
head of the Federal Reserve saying that we are going to have a sus-
tainable growth rate of 4 or 4.5 percent because 6 or 6.5 percent is
unsustainable and leads to inflation and so forth. What's the signal
to the market when 2 months later or 3 months later the figures
come out that we had a growth rate of 8.3 percent? Isn't that the
fear of inflation then? People say, "My God, the Chairman of the
Federal Reserve said 3 months ago that we should have half this
rate of growth because otherwise we would go to inflation. We've
got twice it now. This must mean the Fed is going to do some-
thing." And then you have inflationary expectations. Is the cat
chasing its tail in that situation?

Mr. KAUFMAN. I think this points out the difficulties of having
short-range goals and then not being able to-perhaps it's impossi-
ble for the Fed or Congress or anybody-given all the forces in the
economy that we are not able to control-to meet those short-term
goals.

I suspect that if we had been sitting here in 1976 that we would
have had much the same conversation. We were coming out of a
deep recession at that time, the rate of inflation had slowed, inter-
est rates were starting to rise, and we wondered why we can't
speed up and reduce unemployment faster. We followed that policy.
Interest rates rose to record levels again and unemployment rose
even further. I think we can't expect the economy to do too much.
We can't expect miracles overnight.

I personally believe the best way to reduce unemployment on a
continuing basis is to do it at a moderate rate. If we speed up and
accelerate the real growth in the economy, I think we will ignite
inflation and then we go back to the stop-and-go cycle. We have to
be patient and I understand how very difficult it is for you to go
back to your States and districts and ask for patience because you
may not be around when the good things come about.

Representative LUNGREN. I don't care about that. I care about all
those people that don't have jobs. What do you tell the small busi-
nessman? The Federal Reserve is doing it behind closed doors and
when I tell them that we're concerned about this economy over-
heating too badly right now, the guy has just begun to hire back
the people that he laid off.

Mr. KAUFMAN. I agree. I think one thing you could do immedi-
ately to put pressure on the Fed is to pass legislation to release the
directive as soon as it's adopted. That would equalize the knowl-
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edge. It may be that the Fed will react in such a way that what
they release will be less valuable than what they provide now be-
cause after all they are human beings and if someone pushes them
one way they will push back the other way. But I think that's a
good beginning.

The other thing I would warn about is that we can't expect over-
night miracles. A reduction in unemployment to be lasting and sus-
tained has to be at a slower rate than some people would like to
see.

Mr. KANE. May I speak to that? I think this line of questioning
overvalues the macroeconomic role of official pronouncements by
the Fed. Everything anyone says should be taken in context. Let's
think of lawyers in a court case. In one context, they espouse one
principle and, in another case, they feel free to espouse an opposite
principle. Something like this happens with the Chairman of the
Fed. He has many goals. When he s speaking to you about an econ-
omy that is coming out of a recession, he's effectively presenting
his case in a particular way. I recognize his power to say things
that influence the stock markets. But his power to interpret the be-
havior of volatile variables such as the rate of growth of the money
supply or GNP, which jiggle up and down endlessly, is limited by
well-recognized uncertainties. It is hard to know how to adjust
monetary and GNP growth rates for the season of the year, the
state of the business cycle, or technical change. However, such vari-
ations can be sorted out by the market as long as market partici-
pants are confident that they understand the overall intentions of
the Federal Reserve and how Fed policy instruments operate.

While it's useful to ask the FOMC to report the reasoning that
underlies changes in their directive, we must understand that if
Fed officials don't want to publish this information in a clearly di-
gestible way, they can find words that will make it hard for outsid-
ers to decode their intentions and policy procedures. People who
were unsure of what was going on in the past can be kept rela-
tively unsure about what's going on, particularly when Fed targets
are formulated as a wide range of numerical values and when Fed
officials fail to be embarrassed about missing even these loose tar-
gets in the short run.

Representative LUNGREN. Thank you.
Senator JEPSEN. Thank you. Do either of you have a closing

statement-anything for the record you'd like to make?
Mr. KANE. I would like to return the question of whether we

should give the Federal Reserve only one goal and whether that
one goal should be price stability. I want to make it clear that, as a
matter of rational political behavior, I don't think that Congress
will give up its right to say sometimes it's concerned about the
tradeoff between the Fed's single goal and various other goals.
That's why I don't think just giving the Fed one goal and letting it
run as it has operated in the past would lead to better policy. I
think better monetary policy can be brought about by making the
Fed responsibility for the same choices it's responsible for now but
making it accountable to a designated set of politicians who-in
Harry Truman's famous words-cannot pass the buck.

Senator JEPSEN. Thank you very much, Professor Kaufman and
Professor Kane.
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I would now welcome Mr. Frederick Deane, the chairman and
CEO of the Bank of Virginia; Mr. James Evans, in the machine
tool business, L.G. Evans & Co., Lombard, IL; and Mr. Steven
Givot, member, Chicago Board Options Exchange.

You each have an important insight into the economic environ-
ment in the past decade. Also, you each have what I suspect is an
interesting insight about how monetary policy contributes to a poor
business climate. We would be interested in your views as well as
your opinions on what policy priorities Congress should establish to
prevent the recurrence of stagflation which business can ill afford.

Your prepared statements will be entered into the record and you
may proceed in any manner you so desire. W6 will start with Mr.
Deane.

STATEMENT OF FREDERICK DEANE, JR., CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER, BANK OF VIRGINIA CO., RICHMOND, VA
Mr. DEANE. Mr. Chairman, it's a pleasure to be here this morn-

ing. I'm sure that to read another statement in its entirety might
be a little too much and therefore, with your permission, I will just
summarize it and be happy to answer any questions that you may
have at the conclusion of the presentation.

Senator JEPSEN. We appreciate that.
Mr. DEANE. I also, after listening to the other gentlemen up here,'would like to say that although sometimes Fed-bashing may appear

to be popular, I really don't think that politician bashing is some-
thing we ought to get into this morning. I have for many years
been personally acquainted with all 10 Congressmen and both Sen-
ators from the State of Virginia and I can say with some degree of
satisfaction that they all seem to me to be very fine people and are
doing the best they can. That's not to say that now and then we
don't have our differences of opinion.

To set the stage a little bit, I have been with the Bank of Virgin-
ia for 31 years and its chief executive officer for 10, and our bank is
not a little country bank in Virginia but, on the other hand, not a
money center bank, it's about the 85th largest bank in America. So
therefore, we fit somewhere in the middle range of regional banks
and I bring that perspective to you.

Having said that, I'm very honored to be here and I think that a
lot can be accomplished by additional legislation that may emerge
from the hearings of this committee.

The basic question, obviously, as you just said, Mr. Chairman, is,
Can we eliminate stagflation and at the same time get rid of this
very undesirable financial volatility we have been living with? I
honestly think the answer to that is yes, if we would get around to
etting our priorities straight and improve our procedures a little
it.
In that connection, it's sort of like th-. cartoon which I'm fond

of-and I hope you are too-of Peanuts, when Lucy now and then
appears as psychiatrist and sometimes the psychiatrist is in and
sometimes is out and one time she gave a little lecture to Charlie
Brown and said, "In the cruise ship of life some people put their
deck chair in the bow to see where they are going and some people
put it in the stern to see where they have been. Where is your deck
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chair, Charlie Brown?" To which he replied, "I can't get it unfold-
ed." [Laughter.]

I really think that's about where we are in connection with set-
ting the appropriate priorities for the Federal Reserve and modern-
izing their procedures.

So having said that, I would say that in my judgment the appro-
priate priority for the Federal Reserve at this time should be the
one single one of stable prices. That is an absolute must if we are
to have the sustained growth and the full employment that that
sustained growth brings over a long period of time.

As the Congressman said a minute ago, it is only over a long
period of time that we can judge this. But the makers of monetary
policy need to know that they have one objective only, and that is
to produce stable prices.

In my business, we operate on a program known by most consult-
ants as management by objectives. We set the objectives and at the
end of the year we- see how the people did, and it seems to me that
this is exactly what the Congress needs to do with the Federal Re-
serve, which is their creature. It needs to set the objective of stable
prices and then it needs to measure the Federal Reserve against
that objective.

The real facts are that this has never been clearly set forth in
the law or in the rhetoric, and the time has come, it seems to me,
to do that.

Now there have been lots of other reasons why we may not have
achieved all the objectives we would have liked to have achieved in
this great Nation of ours. In the 1950's and 1960's there was a tre-
mendous outcry for all kinds of services and there was lots of stim-
ulative legislation that was enacted and that caused unbearable
pressure on limited resources.

Own topof. that, we obviously had some terribly bad luck. -We had
..... two severe oil shocks and we had a worldwide collapse in agricul-

tural products. But because of a lack of clear direction to the mone-
tary authorities, during that period of time they pumped money
into the economy and funded what we now know was the worst in-
flationary binge this country has seen since the early 1920's-not
because they were evil people or poorly intentioned, but because
they were not given a single clear assignment and measured on
that assignment.

The results have been bad in many ways, but perhaps the worst
part is the high degree of public uncertainty about what's going on,
which many of the prior witnesses have mentioned and your ques-
tions have been directed toward. The public understands that clas-
sic mathematical formula called the Rule of 72, which is very
simply the number into which a compound rate maybe divided to
find out how long it takes the base to double. So that if you have a
compound rate of inflation of 12 percent and you divide that into
72, it tells you that the price structure doubles every 6 years. If you
have a compound rate of 6 percent, which is what some of the
economists are estimating inflation may be running by the end of
this year, then that means prices will double every 12 years.

The public may not understand that formula, but they under-
stand what's going on and this uncertainty is in the public's mind,
this feeling that there is no commitment to stable prices, leads to

38-417 0-84--6
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frightful decisionmaking. It perverts the investing and producing
decisions of the Nation. Among other things, it makes that smart
alec chief financial officer the king of the castle instead of the man
who runs the production line that must produce what we all con-
sume.

So if we do simplify these priorities and send the right messages,
what has to be done?

Well, first of all, let's be honest. The Employment Act of 1946
and the Humphrey-Hawkins Act of 1978 say about 10 different
things to the Federal Reserve all at once and, as was indicated
here a minute ago, allows anyone td hide behind any bush that
occurs to them at the moment. That needs to be changed. The state
of the law is just about like Ring Lardner's famous comment on the
futility of the law when he said, "Prohibition is better than no
liquor at all," and that's kind of the way it is with the directions
that are given by Congress to the Federal Reserve in my opinion.

If we are looking for price stability and balanced, sustainable
growth over the years ahead and not just for brief periods in the
cycle, such as right now with regard to inflation, we have to give
this clear direction and, in addition, procedural changes are also in
order.

First of all, I'd like to mention something that has not come up
here before and that's the matter of tinkering or fine tuning. When
you hire a large number of very intelligent, very capable people,
they automatically feel obliged to do something, azd they feel
obliged over at the Federal Reserve to tighten this valve or loosen
that one, month by month, week by week, and day by day. If you've
ever been in the trading room in the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, you would know that behind the traders sit a bank of very
intelligent, capable people who could not possible be expected,
given the current circumstances, to just sit there. They have to
tinker and tinkering is impossible in terms of achieving any of
these objectives we're talking about in an economy that is as com-
plex and difficult as ours is.

We need to assign the objective of stable prices over a long
period of time and say directly and indirectly that tinkering is not
part of what you expect. In addition to that, it just doesn't work. It
simply doesn't work. As one of the other witnesses said, what you
do today when you tinker affects the economy next year and that
is not exactly the kind of action that we really need.

Second, I would say that the time for elimination of the secrecy
problem is here-ought to be here. There really is no need for this
business of delaying what goes on in the Open Market Committee
meetings. There s even good argument for saying that the immedi-
ate release of public policy initiatives may in fact bring them about
faster than keeping them secret does. So I would very much urge
that that secrecy be eliminated.

So in summary, Mr. Chairman, I would say that I guess the time
has come to help Charlie Brown unfold the deck chair and put it in
front of the cruise ship, and by that I mean to give the Federal Re-
serve that clear and simple order that their primary and only ob-
jective at this time is stable prices.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Deane follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF FREDERICK DEANE, JR.
Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to a pear at this hearing and offer

my views on ways to improve economic policy making and performance. Unques-
tionably these hearings are addressing serious contemporary issues. At the heart of
these issues is whether or not we can eliminate economic stagflation and financial
volatility. From my perspective, the key to achieving stable economic growth is to
reset our economic policy priorities and procedures. Price stability must become
paramount since it is an essential ingredient of sustained growth and full employ-
ment. At the same time the makers of monetary policy need to be clearly aware of
this priority. They also must produce stable money growth and resist the temptation
to fine tune the policy levers. Increased independence to implement more stable
monetary policy is a prerequisite.

Simultaneously, accountability must become clearer and firmer.
Without a doubt there are opportunities for positive changes at the Federal Re-

serve. It is not accurate though to describe recent economic problems as monetary
failures. Policy miscues by the Federal Reserve are only one of many forces that
have caused stagflation and volatility. Loudly articulated public preferences for low
unemployment and rapid growth in the 1950's and 1960's produced too much highly
stimulative legislation. The Federal Reserve has never been in a position to ignore
such preferences. For the most part it has been explicitly accommodative.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

After two decades of relative economic stability following World War II, sharp
fluctuations occurred duing the 1970's and 1980's. Output growth has ranged be-
tween -9 and +9 percent; inflation rates have been between 2 and 15 percent; and
interest rates have risen or fallen by as many as ten percentage points inside 6
months. Although arcane economic explanations are extant- it seems clear that
public priorities, policy shortcomings, and bad luck are the principal causes.

An inflationary bias has emerged in the US. economy as the public has placed
ever increasing mands on limited resources. Congressional actions to meet the far
reaching demands of a wide range of public preferences have shown little regard for
resource availability. These actions range from unnecessary emphasis on employ-
ment to a pro consumption bias in the tax laws to anticompetitive regulation. As a
result, we have seen substantial imbalances that have led to inflationary price in-
creases. These shortcomings of fiscal policy have been compounded by generally ac-
commodative monetary policy. It is apparent that the Federal Reserve has pumped
money into the economy with something other than price stability as its number
one priority. Exacerbating these conditions were three pieces of bad luck: during the
1970's two whopping increases in energy prices and major weather related crop fail-
ures.

Behind he obvious negatives of high inflation, high interest rates, and high un-
employment, there have been other unfavorable results. Public uncertainty has
risen to a post World War II high. Specifically, decisions to consume and invest are
driven more by an urge to hedge against inflation than by critical fundamentals
such a3 production efficiencies, market opportunities or relative costs. Impaired in
this process are savings flows, capital spending, and productivity growth. The ability
of the economy to supply the burgeoning demand for goods and services has been
stunted. Even in the face of consistenty positive economic news, the economy re-
mains dominated by uncertainty.

Another unfavorable result of the economic conditions of the last 15 years have
been tho. problems of depositry financial institutions. Savings and loan associations
are the extreine example but commercial banks have also been adversely affected. It
has long, been th(,ught that high interest rates were a bonanza for banks. The reali-
ty is starkly different, Rapid and large increases in interest rates raise the costs of
bank liabilities more quickly and by larger amounts than they do the yields on bank
assets. Bank of Virginia was caught in that squeeze in 1980-81 when nearly 20 per-
cent of its $2-billion plus in assets were at a huge negative spread. Only if the bank
made all floating rate loans could it be protected from another rate run-up. That,
however, would be another decision driven more for inflation protection than for
the long-run interests of the public and banks.

POLICY PRIORITIES

In the years following World War II the American public and Congress were still
highly sensitized to the conditions of the Great Depression. As a result, priorities
rn toward full employment and rapid economic growth. Those were desirable prior-
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ities at that time. But by the early 1970s conditions had changed dramatically.
Rapid growth was achievable with only minimal policy assistance. The most devas-
tating economic effects of recession and unemployment were mitigated by numerous
assistance programs. The real challenge for policy bad become stable growth and
stable prices. Whether the policy restraint required for stability was politically fea-
sible at that time is a moot point ten years later.

What is not moot today, however, is that the dominant economic policy legislation
in this country continues to be the Employment Act of 1946 and the Humphrey-
Hawkins Bill of 1978. The problems with this legislation are twofold: one, they are
not relevant in the 1980's and two, they impose conflicting goals on the Fed that are
too many steps removed from its range of influence.

Today we need to address price stability and balanced, sustainable growth. Such
growth cannot come from government spending and monetary policies that stimu-
late aggregate demand beyond the reality of limited resources. This statement is not
an argument in favor of supply side economics per se but rather a recognition of the
need for policies to seek balanced growth between both the consuming and produc-
ing sectors of the economy.

For decades economists and others have argued about the trade offs between in-
flation and unemployment. Is an increase in unemployment the only cure for infla-
tion? Will too low an unemployment rate cause inflation? In my estimation, these
questions miss the crucial issue: sustained growth and high employment can be
achieved only in an environment of price stability. Not just low inflation rates at
certain points of the cycle, but the expectation on the part of everyone that prices
will be stable over long periods of time.

MONETARY POLICY

The formulation and implementation of monetary policy by the Federal Reserve
is a process that has evolved and changed over seven decades. Early on the Fed
relied on the Real Bills Doctrine which called for the district banks to supply re-
serves to the banks in response to the volume of commercial notes available to dis-
count. The effect was to put policy in a passive position that reflected the EBB and
flow of bank commercial lending. The catastrophic result of this policy was the huge
decline in the money supply in the early 1930s that turned a serious recession into a
full blown Depression.

During World War II policy was driven by the Treasury's need to finance huge
sums at low rates. Thus only after 40 years did the Fed achieve a measure of inde-
pendence and policy activism. In the 1950s and 1960s concern for low and stable in-
terest rates dominated policy. Although this was a basically flawed approach, the
flaws were not manifest until the mid 1960s when the Fed unwittingly generated
inflationary money growth as it tried to hold down interest rates. The Fed main-
tained this approach until late 1979. At that time it was announced that henceforth
policy would focus on money and bank reserves instead of interest rates. During the
ast 41/2 years however, money growth, interest rates and economic conditions have

fluctuated violently.
Several conclusions are evident. One, the Federal Reserve has never been a truly

independent body removed from near term social and political pressures. If it were,
monetary policies beginning in 1951 would have focused on the long-term relation-
ship between money growth and price stability. Two, Fed policymakers have not
mastered the extraordinarily difficult task of knowing what to do today to achieve a
desired result the day after tomorrow. Three, fine tuning is counter productive.
Over the years the Federal Reserve System has built a large staff of very competent
professionals. The natural tendency of such a group is to work actively and fervent-
y. In many cases that is a productive approach. In the case of monetary policy,
however, that approach has led to considerable fine tuning that has caused greater,
not reduced, fluctuations. Our ever changing and complex economy does not lend
itself to day-to-day manipulation of the policy levers.

Fourth, a deep and well meaning concern that a small segment of the financial
markets could profit from knowledge of monetary policies has led to the Fed's
penchant for secrecy. If ever correct, that line of thinking is certainly outmoded by
today's large, broad and electronic markets. Although the research is contradictory
in some respects, there is wide support for the notion that public knowledge of
policy would facilitate its accomplishment. Five, the Federal Reserve is not held ac-
countable for its actions in any consisten'; and predictable manner. The current
process that requires money growth targets and quarterly appearances before Con-
gress by the Chairman is a superficial, highly politicized process that principally
provides grist for the news media.
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In summary, the institutional framework for contemporary policy making does
not meet the needs of our society and economy in the 1980s. From the perspective of
the business and banking communities I offer some suggestions for improvement.

CHANGES AND SOLUTIONS

The first area for change is policy priorities. Clearly, the public remains con-
cerned about unemployment, particularly in highly industrialized regions and
among the poor and minorities. Those problems are real and must be addressed. But
they are reflective neither of widespread economic conditions nor the majority view.
Price stability is our most critical policy priority and should be recognized as such.
New legislation to replace the Employment Act of 1946 and the Humphrey-Hawkins
Bill and to reset priorities is essential immediately.

An important component of such legislation must be the transmittal to the Feder-
al Res fve of price stability as its number one priority. No institution can function
effecti iely without clear direction. The Constitution assigned responsibility for in-
tegrity of the currency to the Congress, who in turn created the Federal Reserve to
manage this function. The clearer that Congress can be about its priorities and ex-
pectations, the more effectively will the Fed be able to perform.

Once Congress has called for price stability, the Fed must be allowed to pursue
that end free of political encumbrance. Institutions function best in an environment
of clear direction coupled with autonomous and independent operation. That princi-
ple is especially important in this case. The daily or monthly concerns of 500 legisla-
tors and 220 million.

Persons cannot be imposed on monetary policy if it is to produce the desired
result.

At the same time that Congress is coming to grips with realistic policies the Fed
must also recognize its limitations. The evidence of the last two decades overwhelm-
ingly calls for the elimination of fine tuning and interest rate targets. Instead the
Federal Reserve must seek stable prices through stable money growth. Annual or
longer money growth targets cannot be shunted aside every time the economy or
financial markets hiccup. Since the 1950s the Fed has been concerned with main-
taining stable financial markets on an almost daily basis. The result has been an
accommodation and magnification of the economy's inflationary bias. Over the past
few years we have learned that the financial markets are extremely resilient. More-
over, if the Fed remains committed to its long-term goals and the financial markets
become so convinced, their actions will be driven by expectations of stability, not
instability. In all likelihood, the result will be reduced short-term fluctuations.

If the Congress wants the Federal Reserve to concentrate on achieving sustained
price stability through stable money growth, the accountability process cannot be
dominated by short-tel ni concerns. Annual presentations would be frequent enough
to avoid focusing on the latest unemployment rate or price index growth rate. The
discussions should be directed toward the Fed's designated responsibilities, not semi-
related matters. At the same time, the Chairman, Governors and Presidents must
feel accountable for achieving their specified goals.

CONCLUSION

Today, I have shared with you my views regarding the sources of our economic
problems as well as some ideas for resolving those problems. My solutions have pur-
posely been broadly defined in the hope of generating an immediate and broad con-
sensus. Only after such consensus has been reached, can the details be negotiated.
Near term action is highly desirable.

Great strides have been made since 1982 in controlling inflation. Capital spending
has shown unusual strength for this stage of the cycle. If these gains are lost, stag-
flation will dominate, undermining our economic competitiveness and social fabric.
Alternatively, new priorities and procedures can lay the foundation for sustained
economic growth and social development.

Senator JEPSEN. Stable prices?
Mr. DEANE. Stable prices.
Senator JEPSEN. Stable money growth, is that part of what you

must have to get stable prices?
Mr. DEANE. In my judgment, a sustainable rate of growth with-

out inflation in the United States would be something that would
arise from a combination of how fast the labor force is growing and
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how fast capacity is growing, because if you outrun either the ca-
pacity of your labor force or the actual, real capacity of your facto-
ries, you set off an inflationary spiral.

It is, as I understand it, the consensus that the sustainable rate
of growth, given the current growth in our labor force and the cur-
rent growth in our capacity, is somewhere around 4 percent. If that
is the case, then it would seem that the thing that the Federal Re-
serve ought to do is to feed in about a 4-percent increase in the
money supply year after year, assuming that velocity doesn't make
huge changes.

Now you can't get from where we are right now to that growth
rate overnight without some difficult dislocations; and as you obvi-
ously know the targets now run as high as 8 percent for M-1 this
year, but that's down from last year's target. And Mr. Volcker, al-
though he does tend to hedge his statements, talks about a time in
the future when they would supply about 3.5 percent or 4 percent
money growth each year in order to have a sustainable rate of
growth.

Senator JEPSEN. James R. Evans, of the L.G. Evans & Co., Lom-
bard, IL, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF JAMES R. EVANS, L.G. EVANS & CO., LOMBARD,
IL

Mr. EVANS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the opportu-
nity to testify on a subject so critical to our Nation's economic
future.

I an- not a professional economist, although I have authored two
books on the philosophy and principles that underlie a free market
economy and hence a free and ordered society.

I don't believe that I'm a monetarist, a supply-sider, nor a
Keynesian. What I am, I believe, is a pragmatic businessman who
has run his own company for more than 30 years. During that
period I was also privileged to spend some 15 years on the board of
directors of a major publicly-held American corporation. I am a
past president of the American Machine Tool Distributors Associa-
tion, which is the distribution arm of the machine tool industry.

I would like to, with your permission, take a little different tack
on this problem because I do not believe that you can separate the
actions of the Federal Reserve from the other conditions in which
business functions.

The negative effects on the business community of all kinds of
governmental) policies impacting on taxes, interest rates, inflation,
and wage levels have been evident for some time and today in par-
ticular it seems that those policies, both in place and threatened,
are more virulent than ever. But I think sometimes we have to go
back to square one and remind ourselves of the true makc'io of
American business and what it does and how it does it, particularly,
if we agree on something which I'm going to repeat several times,
and that is, whether we like it or not, if there were no employers,
there would be no employees; and if there were neither, we would
have no deficit because we would have no income in Washington.
So whether we like them or not, these businessmen are the geese
that lay the golden eggs.
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I think it's often forgotten that less than one-half of 1 percent of
all the businesses that produce products and services in the United
States have more than 500 employees. Roughly 96 percent of all
the functioning businesses out there have fewer than 100 employ-
ees. Some 30 percent have about 20 employees or less, and they
provide-these small businesses-more than half of all of the em-
ployment in the United States and the value of the goods and serv-
ices of these businesses with under 100 employees is the fourth
largest economic power in the world in terms of that production,
led only by the United States as a whole, Soviet Russia, and Japan.

I mention that because all business is important, but the reaction
of that small segment is a bit different. There are also a number of
studies which indicate that these small businesses provide the
great bulk-certainly more than half-of all inventiveness and
innovation.

At the risk of poetic license, I would like to for a moment remind
us that these entrepreneurs-Henry Ford was one-they all started
with one or two men-were those rather questionable characters
who said at some point, "You know what I'm going to do? I'm
going to start a business and I'm going to furnish all the capital
required, jobs for employees, raw materials, salable products. I'll
advertise them. I will sell them. I'll do the accounting. I'll pay the
operating expenses and I will do this fully realizing that I have one
chance in five of surviving"-according to the chamber of com-
merce- "and if I'm fortunate enough to be profitable and success-
ful, I will use most of those profits to reinvest in additional equip-
ment and facilities to create more jobs; and if I'm successful, I'm
still going to pay my employees 19 times what I pay myself and I'm
going to pay the various levels of Government three times what I
pay myself." And that kind of entrepreneurial insanity is a little
hard to understand, except that it has created the highest standard
of living the world has ever seen.

What does business really do? And I will come around to the
Federal Reserve position in a moment. It makes it possible for a
man earning $5 or $6 an hour moving dirt with a shovel to sudden-
ly earn $15 to $20 an hour because somebody provides him with a
3-cubic-yard Caterpillar earthmover. Gentlemen, that is not infla-
tionary at all. That Caterpillar earthmover is the source of his pro-
ductivity and his drastically improved standard of living, and the
source of that piece of equipment is the capital that's been provid-
ed almost totally through corporate profits and savings and private
savings.

The same example applies to the necessary acquisition of com-
puter numerical controlled machine tools of all varieties, comput-
ers, office automation equipment, and a myriad of other "tools"
which make it possible to achieve productivity, jobs, higher "real"
wages, and a constant flow of new and better products and services.

Now, although iK is not the subject of discussion today, I cannot
resist reflecting on the -1act that American business, large and
small, has been eminently successful, in spite of the fact that for
four decades we've been double-taxing corporate profits as well as
the interest on savings, which is a direct onslaught on the seeds
that have made the country successful. But the taking of risk does
require prospective reward, and lest we labor under the delusion
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that there have not been deleterious effects on our productivity-
which incidentally is the major method of defeating inflation-
please bear with the following analogy.

There seems to be a constant assumption that spreads through
everything we read and even hear here this morning, that growth
automatically means inflation. It doesn't. Let's assume for a
moment-and I'm not going to take a position on this analogy be-
cause it's the way it is, whether we like it or not. If you're a stu-
dent and you study very hard for an examination and receive a
grade of 90 and a fellow student, either due to ignorance or lazi-
ness, receives a grade of 60, it makes little difference, between you,
you have produced about 150 points of intellectual product. Now,
the professor advises you that he feels the arrangement is unfair
because one of you is smarter and worked harder so he's going to
take 15 points from your grade and give it to the other student so
you will each have 75. You have still produced a total of 150 points
of product, but two very interesting questions arise. How hard are
you going to study or the next examination knowing that they're
going to take some away, and how hard is the other student going
to study knowing that he's going to get something for nothing? The
point is, the next year you re going to produce 140, and then 120,
and about at 100 the Japanese or someone else are going to look
over the horizon and say, "Hey, guys, we're producing at 150. Let's
go over and beat their economic brains out."

Gentlemen, that's what happened in the 1970's and that's
where a good percentage of this inflation we talk about came from.

Now in order to put all of this in context, relating it to monetary
policy, we need once again to remind ourselves that business,
whether we like it or not, is government's only source of income,
and any directive, any aim of the Federal Reserve, aside from all of
these economic details, has got to maintain to some extent a strong
business climate. Otherwise you lose your tax income and deficits
go through the roof.

Within this already difficult environment the American business-
man has found himself assailed over the past several years, and
with increasing frequmcy and intensity, with pronouncements and
economic forecasts from the Fed, both official and leaked, from the
Treasury' Departmeni, the Office of Management and Budget,
Members of Congress, and a multitude of bank economists with
various credentials creating an almost Alice-in-Wonderland atmos-
phere. This tends to leave the businessmen with the feeling that
they have almost no control over their own futures. The, reason is
that most of what they hear seems to bear little relationship to
common sense-and an extremely high percentage of the forecasts
prove to be dead wrong. Of course, of equal or greater significance
has been the roller coaster ride of instability created by the vacil-
lating Federal funds rates.

Over the past 4 years businessmen have watched the prime in-
terest rate plunge from close to 20 percent to 11.5 in one single 90-
day period and then bounce up to almost 20 and back down to
where it now sits at 12.5 with threats in the paper every day of
rises as high as 15. Most of the above, frankly, courtesy of the Fed-
eral Open Market Committee.
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While reeling from that, the businessman is then told that the
economy has grown at more than 8 percent during the first quarter
of 1984 with reduced inflation and what used to be good news is
now bad news and so the Fed really feels they are going to have to
increase interest rates and encourage Congress to increase taxes in
order to slow the economy down. And probably the most mind-bog-
gling entry into that myriad of rainbows that the businessman is
trying to deal with is the realization that much of the tax policy is
based on the forecasts of the Office of Management and Budget on
future deficit projections one year ahead, which interestingly
enough, over the last 13 years have an average error rate of 254
percent a year. T cannot imagine anybody basing legislation or any-
thing else on that.

So I can assure you that the surest way to put the brakes on the
ecomomy is to provide the businessman of all sizes with increased
doses of the three most difficult problems he ever faces. These
apply to all businesses of all sizes, but are particularly critical to
the small businesses. High interest rates, high taxes, and economic
instability which makes intelligent planning near impossible.

I think the key point is it should be obvious that the most effec-
tive method with which to increase deficits in one big hurry is to
kill off the government's only source of income.

The machine tool industry, the one that I've been part of for so
many years, one that is very critical to our national defense, has
been literally decimated over the last 2 years as a consequence of
fluctuating interest rates, tax rates and the inability of our indus-
try and its customers to plan ahead. While the Japanese have
walked in and taken, in the areas of Computer Numerical Con-
trolled Machining Center and Turning almost 60 percent of the
market, of course, interestingly enough, they're taxed at less than
half of our levels and they have no capital gains tax.

Now I do not believe that the Federal Reserve should be domi-
nated by the administration. Neither do I believe that it should be
responsible to no one. Some form of congressional oversight, along
with guidelines that can help eliminate the instability, is in order.
I guess the details I would leave to you in the Halls of Congress
who are much brighter than I am in those areas, but I would en-
dorse measures that would include once again the Secretary of the
Treasury as a member of the Open Market Committee, ex officio or
not. I think you need it for liaison and I think it at least removes
the confusion. Certainly measures that require the Federal Reserve
to announce their decisions at the time they are made, and perhaps
even the realignment of the term of office of the Federal Reserve
Chairman to run concurrent with that of the President. It would
seem that some congressional bipartisan influence is necessary to
ensure that the Fed's policies regarding interest rates bear some
resemblance to the attitudes of the Congress and the people it rep-
resents.

I can't find anyone in the United States that wants high interest
rates, but we seem to be getting them. But it is fundamentally im-
portant, above all, that we constantly remember that it is the busi-
ness community, both small and large, that provides all of the
funds; and an environment that encourages its success is as impres-
sive as the continued efforts to reduce the size and expense of a
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government that is still out of control. I think we must constantly
keep that in mind as we attempt to solve the problem.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for permitting me to participate.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Evans follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JAMES R. EVANS

Mr. Chairman and.members of the committee, I appreciate the opportunity to tS-
tify on a subject so critical to our Nation's economic future.

My name is James R. Evans. I reside in Wheaton, Illinois. I am not a professional
economist although I have authored two books on the philosophy and principles
that underlie a free-market economy and hence, a free and ordered society.

I am not a monetarist, a supply-sider, nor a Keynesian. What I am, I believe, is a
pragmatic businessman who has run his own Company for more than 30 years.
During that period I was also privileged to spend 15 years on the board of directors
of a major publicly held American corporation. I am a past President of the Ameri-
can Machine Tool Distributors Association, the distribution arm of the American
machine tool industry.

The negative effects on the business community of governmental policies impact-
ing on taxes, interest rates, inflation, wage levels and other contributors to fluctua-
tions in economic activity have been evident for more than two decades. Today, the
consequences of those policies-both in place and threatened-are more virulent
than ever. To understand them, however, we must remind ourselves of the true
makeup of American business as well as what it does, how it does it, and what its
real contributions are.

It is often forgotten that less than one half of one percent of America's corpora-
tions have more than 500 employees. Approximately 96 percent of our corporate en-
tities have fewer than 100 employees and roughly 30 percent fewer than 20 employ-
ees. These small businesses provide more than half of America's private work force
and the value of the goods and services they produce makes them-alone-the
worlds fourth greatest economic power, led only by the United States as a whole,
Soviet Russia, and Japan.

These same small businesses provide, by far, the major percentage of new jobs as
an economy is emerging from a severe recession. In addition, a variety of studies
indicat@that small firms and their individual inventiveness account for more than
50 percent of all our innovation in terms of products and high technology.

At the risk of poetic license I should like to point out that these are that great
cadre of entrepreneurs who have said, in effect, "I am going to start a business. I
will furnish allthe capital required, jobs for new employees, raw materials from the
far corners of the world; I will devise salable products and advertise them, sell
thom, do the accounting, pay all the operating expenses and assume all of the risk. I
will do this fully realizing that I have one chance in five of surviving for more than
5 years. If I am profitable, I will use most of those profits to invest in additional
equipment and facilities with which to provide more jobs and productivity even
though 1 will be paying my employees approximately nineteen times what I pay
myself, and the various levels of government three times what I pay myself'. The
consequences of this entrepreneurial insanity have been the creation of a standard
of living previously unimagined and without historical precedent. What else does
business do? It makes it possible for a man earning little more than a few dollars an
hour for moving earth with a shovel to find himself earning fifteen to twenty dol-
lars per hour because he has been provided with a 3 cubic yard Caterpillar earth-
mover with which to accomplish the same job. That Caterpillar earthmover is the
source of his productivity and his drastically improved standard of living, and the
source of that piece of equipment is capital that has been provided almost entirely
through corporate profits and savings.

That same example applies to the necessary acquisition of computer numerical
controlled machine tools of all varieties, computers, office automation equipment
and a myriad of other "tools" necessary in order to achieve productivity, jobs,
higher "real" wages, and a constant flow of new and better products and services at
prices that Americans at all economic levels can afford.

Although it is not the subject of discussion today, I cannot resist reflecting upon
the fact that American business, large and small, has been eminently successful in
accomplishing these ends in spite of the fact that we have seen fit for several dec-
ades to double tax corporate profits as well as the interest on savings. This obvious-
ly constitutes a direct onslaught on the basic seeds of capital that make all these
good things possible. The taking of risk, however, requires prospective reward and
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lest we labor under the delusion that there have not been deleterious effects on our
productivity (the major element in defeating inflation) please bear with the follow-
ing analogy.

Assume that you are a student who has studied very hard for an examination and
received a grade of 90, but that a fellow student-due either to a lack of intelli-
gence, effort, or whatever-receives a grade of 60. Between the two of you, you have
produced 150 points of intellectual product. When your professor advises that he
feels that the arrangement is unfair and he is, therefore, going to take 15 points
from your grade and give it to the other student so that you will each have 75,
simply ask the following questions:

(a) How hard are you going to study for the next examination?
(b) How hard is the other student going to study for the examination?
The answers are obvious. You are certainly going to produce less on the next test,

knowing that your efforts are going to be redistributed to another who will also
study less knowing that he will receive unearned benefits. The net result is that the
next year the two of you together will produce perhaps 140 points of product, and
the following year perhaps 120-and'when your productivity gets down to about one
hundred points, someone (perhaps the Japanese and others) will look over the hori-
zon and realize that in view of the fact that their productivity is one hundred and
fifty it would seem propitious that they come over and literally beat out our eco-
nomic brains. It has been, and still is, our tax policies that tend to limit our growth
as well as our ability to compete in world markets.

Finally, in order to put all of this in context prior to relating it to monetary policy
and federal reserve activity, we need to remind ourselves that business is, whether
we like it or not, government's only source of income. If there were no risk-taking
employers, there would be no employees and, in turn, no deficit problem as there
would be no income from which to generate spending.

Within this already difficult environment the American businessman has found
himself assailed over the past several years, and with increasing frequency and in-
tensity, by pronouncements and economic forecasts from the Fed (both official and
leaked), the Treasury Department, the Office of Management and Budget, Members
of Congress, and a multitude of bank economists with various credentials creating
an almost Alice-in-Wonderland atmosphere that tends to leave businessmen with
the feeling that they have almost no control over their own economic futures. The
reason is that most of what they hear seems to bear almost no relationship to
common sense, and an extremely high percentage of the forecasts prove to be dead
wrong. Of even greater significance has been the roller coaster ride of instability
created by vacillating Federal Funds rates.

Over the past four years businessmen have watched the prime interest rate
plunge from 20 percent to 11V2 percent in one single 90-day period and then bounce
up to 20V2 percent and back down to 11 percent by August of 1982, and now in May
of 1983 at 12 Vpercent with threatened rises to as high as 15 percent before year
end-all of the above courtesy of the Federal Open Market Committee.

Still reeling from that roller coaster ride, the businessman is then told that be-
cause the economy has grown at more than eight percent during the first quarter of
1984 with reduced inflation that what used to be good news is now bad news and the
Fed will further increase interest rates and encourage the Congress to increase
taxes in order to slow down the economy. Even more mind boggling is the discovery
that much of the Congressional consideration relative to tax raises is based to some
degree on the Office of Management and Budget deficit projections which, interest-
ingly enough, have an average error percentage over the past 13 years of 254 per-
cent!

I can assure you that the surest way to put the brakes on the economy is to pro-
vide the businessman with increased doses of the three most difficult problems he
ever faces (these apply to all business, but are particularly critical to the small busi-
nesses we have been discussing). They are: (1) high interest rates (2) high taxes (3)
economic instability which makes intelligent planning near-impossible.

It should be obvious that the most effective method with which to increase deficits
is to kill off government's source of income!

The machine tool industry, for example (an industry most critical to our national
defense), has been decimated over the last 2 years as a conseuence of interest and
tax rates and particularly the inability of our industry and its customers to plan
ahead while riding the interest rate roller coaster. The Japanese (who are taxed at
less than half of our levels) have captured almost 60 percent of the CNC Machining
Center and Turning market and 36 percent of the entire domestic machine tool
market.
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I do not believe that the Federal Reserve should be dominated by the administra-
tion. Neither do I believe that it should be responsible to no one. It is obvious that
Congressional oversight of some sort, along with guidelines that will eliminate the
serious monetary instability that we continue to experience, is much in order. The
details I would leave to the Congress, but I would strongly endorse measures that
would include the Secretary of the Treasury as a member of the Open Market Com-
mittee; measures requiring the Federal Reserve to announce its decisions at the
time they are made; and the re-alignment of the term of office of the Federal Re-
serve chairman to run concurrent with that of the President. It would seem that
some Congressional bi-partisan influence is necessary to ensure that the Fed's poli-
cies regarding interest rates bear-some resemblance to the attitudes of the Congress
and the people it represents.

It is important, however, that we constantly remember that it is the business com-
munity, both small and large, that provides all of the funds; and an environment
that encourages its success is as imperative as continued efforts to reduce the size
and expense of a government that must still be classified as "out of control".

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for permitting me to participate in these hearings.

Senator JEPSEN. Thank you, Mr. Evans.
Steven Givot, member of the Chicago Board Options Eichange,

you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF STEVEN I. GIVOT, MEMBER, CHICAGO BOARD
OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Mr. GIVOT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do appreciate the oppor-
tunity to appear today.

Rather than review my prepared statement, I'd like to add a few
things and highlight a few things if I may.

I attached my resum6 to the statement to give you some i4iterest-
ing information about my background. I am one of the few surviv-
ing insane entrepreneurs that Mr. Evans referred to. I began in
business 10 years ago. The business I started now has 10 employees
and we do approximately $400 million a year in business. I think I
can bring to this forum some insight into the difficulties of starting
and operating a new business, particularly in the environment that
exists today.

My business is centered on the Chicago Board Options Exchange
which is the second largest securities exchange in this country. The
exchange began in 1973 and in the 11 years since it was created it
has not only become the second largest exchange but as recently as
a week ago it traded the equivalent to 75 million shares of stock in
terms of options that is-options covering 75 million shares of
stock.

It is easy to understand why the Chicago Board Options Ex-
change has prospered, because the business of the options exchange
is providing people a way to hedge risks, risk, instability, and vola-
tility are all the same thing and that is the purpose for which we
are meeting today.

Certainly instability has been characteristic of the period in
which the exchange has existed. In my particular business, insta-
bility is good for me in that it generates the need to hedge risks.
On the other hand, I can only profit if I predict which way things
are going to be unstable successfully. For example, a 1-percent
error in my estimate of interest rates over the course of a year can
cost my firm $200,000. That's approximately eight times what we
made in our best year.
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When Professor Kaufman refers to the market as the judge of
various things, I am one very infinitesimally small component of
that market, so perhaps if you have some questions as to how the
market operates I could be of some help there as well.

I am not here today to address the subject of the performance of
the Federal Reserve. I am here to address the subject of the exist-
ence of the Fed. Other knowledgeable speakers have and will con-
tinue to address the many shortcomings of Fed policies and actions.
They will offer their recommendations for changes in these policies
and actions. They implicitly and sometimes explicitly predicate
their recommendations on continued existence of some sort of cen-
tral bank. For example, in today's hearings no one has even ques-
tioned whether or not the Fed should continue to exist and wheth-
er or not we might be better off with some other organization or
lack of organization altogether.

I believe that the shortcomings and faih rts of the Fed that have
been discussed today are inherent in any central bank arrange-
ment. While it is possible to attempt to make things a bit better
and keep the Fed in business, it is not possible to achieve the best
solution for this country while that agency is still in existence.

I believe that there is no possible change in the policies of the
central bank that will provide the tremendous degree of improve-
ment that we would have if the system were abolished altogether.

I would liken this, if I may, to something I found most interfst-
ing when I was in high school. I learned that the State of Utah was
unique in that it offered people on death row a choice between
being shot or hung. As a citizen, I feel somewhat like the fellow
whose mother has been murdered and the murderer is on death
row. Gentlemen, I don't care if he's shot or if he's hung, it doesn't
solve my problem.

The problem is that the system is wrong and that the use of an
agency such as the Fed can't work.

I believe this is true for a number of reasons which are outlined
in my prepared statement one of which is the fact that any entity
as large as the Fed and as dominant as the Fed in a marketplace is
inherently destabilizing. I'd ask you to consider what it would be
like having 40 men in a lifeboat of a sunken ship. If everyone
weighed the same amount, 100 pounds, people could move about
somewhat. They may jostle the boat but it wouldn't tip over. But
ask yourself what it would be like if one of the people in the life-
boat weighed 1,000 pounds and ali the rest weighed 100. It might
be possible to move everyone around so the 1,000-pound person
could move across the boat once or twice, but without an enormous
amount of coordination and planning this would almost certainly
sink the boat. In fact, that s what's happening in the markets
today.

I would propose that the Fed be abolished. I think that the ques-
tion of price stability, which most of' us have agreed is the primary
issue, can best be dealt with by keeping the Government out of the
business of deciding how much inflation we have. In fact, there's
an advocate for returning to a stable currency and returning to a
commodity-based currency in the Congress, that being Congress-
man Paul from Texas. The Government should foreswear any fur-
ther intervention into this marketplace forever. Each bank should
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be left to decide what reasonable reserve levels it should have in its
portfolio and we must allow each bank to purchase private deposit
insurance which consumers would demand from whichever compa-
ny it chooses.

I gave two examples in my prepared statement and I'd like to
deal with them somewhat. The first example strikes close to home
for Mr. Evans and myself-Continental Illinois National Bank,
which was mentioned earlier. I think it's quite clear that if the
Continental Bank were insured privately that that private insurer
would have made substantial limitations on the riskiness of Conti-
nental's portfolio and that the Continental situation never would
have gone to the point where it did.

The fact that the Federal Reserve Board recently indicated that
5 percent of assets is adequate capitalization for a bank is clearly
disproved by the fact that Continental had the problems it had.
The activities of the Fed certainly did not stop the Continental sit-
uation from arising and probably helped it to exist by creating a
lack of accountability.

The second point I'd like to deal with was also in my prepared
statement. It relates to the financing of the Federal deficit. I think
it's important that this whole concept be put in the most simple
terms to understand it. The Federal Reserve Board receives the
deficit. It does not create it. I'm sure everybody agrees with that.
The Federal Reserve Board has only two possible actions available
to it. Either it monetizes the deficit, which directly causes inflation,
or it does not monetize it, which directly leads to a rise in interest
rates. Nothing could be more simple.

When Congress passes to the Fed a deficit, the Congress is forc-
ing the Fed to choose between inflation or higher interest rates. As
Mr. Kaufman and Mr. Kane both said earlier, it appears that there
is a lack of accountability. I would suggest that if the Fed were
abolished that accountability would fail directly where it belongs-
on the Congress and the President. It directly deals with the issue
of accountability by requiring that those that create the deficit de-
termine how much of it will be inflated and how much of it will
result in higher interest rates. If we really want price stability, we
will not monetize the deficit. We will not inflate. Then Congress
can directly bear the heat for the high interest rates that we have
seen. If we do wish to inflate, Congress can then expect to feel the
results that voters feel as a result of that issue. But in neither case
is there,a good argument for keeping the Fed around.

That concludes my testimony.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Givot follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF STEVEN I. GivOT
My name is Steven Givot. I am not here today to address the subject of the per.

formance of the Federal Reserve Bank. I am here to address the subject of the exist-
ence- of the Federal Reserve Bank. Other knowledgable speakers will address the
many shortcomings of Federal Reserve policies and actions. They will offer their
recommendations for changes in those policies and actions. They implicitly, and
sometimes explicitly, predicate their recommendations on the continued existence of
some sort of central bank. I believe that shortcomings and failures are inherent in
my central bank system. There is no possible change in the policies of the central
bank that will provide the improvement which will be realized when the position of
the central bank is abolished.
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Before I comment further, I would like to describe my daily involvement with the
Federal Reserve System in my normal business-that of a securities and commod-
ities trader. The Federal Reserve Board's policies affect my business in two distinct
ways: first, and foremost, the Federal Reserve Board's actions in attempting to pro-
vide monetary stability and otherwise manipulate the economy and the perceptions
which people have about those actions, have a direct impact on the direction and
degree of movement of security and commodity prices. This should come as no sur-
prise to any of you. Second, the Federal Reserve Board directly regulates the avail-
ability and indirectly regulates the cost of capital which is employed in my business.
As such I have a daily interaction with both the results of the Federal Reserve
Board's action and the results of various interpretations and guesses as to the Fed-
eral Reserve Board's actions.

What is stability? Systems dynamics tells us that a system is in a stable equilibri-
um when any change in the system inherently generates a force which pushes back
toward the equilibrium point. If not need return to the original equilibrium point,
just be pushed back toward that point. Unregulated economic markets tend to be
very stable because exogenously generated changes in the market (weather changes,
technological changes, etc.) generate price changes which affect both producers and
consumers back toward the original stability. A decrease in the supply of one good
will generate an increase in price which will encourage greater production and
smaller consumption pushing the unregulated market back toward the pre-change
equilibrium point. This is a stable market.

What destroys stability in a system? Many things can, but generally in economic
systems it is the presence of a participant large enough to be able to individually
affect market price. Without such a participant, the actions of any single party will
have no material effect on the actions of other in the market. Everyone will be a
market taker, no one will be a market maker. The existence of such a market
maker has a very perverse effect on the stability of the market. If the sellers in the
market anticipate that the market maker is going to sell and drive prices down,
they will try to sell first, before the price has changed. Buyers, on the other hand,
will try to postpone their purchase in anticipation of lower prices in the future.
Either of these groups, buyers of sellers, acting unconsciously in concert would have
moved the market price. Acting simultaneously they will completely destabilize the
market. Prices will plunge. The anticipation of action by the market maker can gen-
erate forces which move the market away from equilibrium, not back toward equi-
librium. The perverseness of this situation is that the market maker need not do
anything-in fact it may not have planned to do anything. But its very existence
destabilized the market.

The Federal Reserve Bank is such a destabilizing force in money markets. Its ac-
tions, inactions, shifts, signals, and pronouncements as interpreted by legions of Fed
watchers and tea leaf readers is by far the biggest factor in money markets. Its pur-
chases and sales of government securities represents 25 percent of the entire
market. In its regulatory capacity it controls every bank, savings and loan, and
every credit union in the country. If such an agency were run by an omniscient and
omnipotent being, it would still be a destabilizing factor in money markets for the
reason given previously. As it is, rin by well-intentioned human beings and subject
to overwhelming political pressure, it is the loose cargo in the hold of a ship-
always rocking the boat and threatening, in rough weather, to sink the ship.

What is the alternative? Abolish the Feeral Reserve Bank immediately. Reestab-
lish a dollar based on a commodity standard. Allow the market to establish the
proper price level fbr the currency, and foreswear any government intervention in
the market ever Allow each bank to decide what constitutes a reasonable reserve
level for its portfolio, and allow each bank to purchase deposit insurance from
whichever private insurance company it chooses.

These changes will go further toward stabilizing the monetary system than any
changes which could be made to the policies of the Federal Reserve. It is not the
policies which are destabilizing; it is the very existence of the Federal Reserve
Bank.

Before I conclude, let me address a few topical examples of life without a central
bank. Continental Illinois National Bank and Trust Company is a very important
institution in my community and to me personally as a trader. Although I am not a
customer of that bank, Continental provides substantial credit and banking for my
industry. Conventional wisdom in Chicago and in the financial markets nationwide
says that we are all very fortunate that the Federal Reserve bailed out this failing

_institution. This b the much more critical question of whether Continental would
have gotten into this mess if there was no central bank available to bail it out. Con-
ventional wisdom says that a capitalization rate of 5 percent of assets is sufficient
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for a bank. It was reported in the press that the Federal Reserve recently "encour-
aged" those institutions below this level to bring capitalization up to 5 percent. In a
free market is 5 percent sufficient? What other business is considered well capital-
ized with a debt/equity ratio of 19 to 1? My own opinion is that 5 percent was not
sufficient for the riskiness of Continental's loan portfolio, but my opinion is immate-
rial. What is material is the opinion of the business which would write deposit in-
surance for banks in a deregulated environment. With their money at risk, you can
be sure that the insurance underwriters' opinions would be well-informed and would
be material. In such an environment banks would be much more careful about
where they invested their money, and the risks of a bank the size of Continental
abruptly going out of the business would be non-existent. Long before Continental
got in as deep as it is now, private insurers would have forced the bank to liquidate
assets and raise capital. Continental would be both smaller and sounder in a free
market.

Another topical question concerns funding the federal government. Without a cen-
tral bank to act as purchaser of last resort, could the government reasonably expect
to find a market for all of its debt? Speaking as a trader, I assure you that there is a
rate of interest which will allow the government to sell any amount oi its securities.
The more important result would be that the Federal Reserve would nt, longer be
available as a whipping boy for recalcitrant Congressmen and Senators who repeat-
edly refuse to balance revenues and expenditures. Neither would there be the possi-
bility of Congress inflating its way out of the debt it creates. The Federal Reserve
has accommodated the government by financing 70 percent of the last 15 yc 1s cu-
mulative deficits by new money creation. With a commodity-based currency, this
would be impossible. People would see directly where money was coming from and
where it was going. Without the hidden tax of inflation. The net benefit would be to
all those in the country who are paying more tax dollars as they watch their stand-
ard of living decline.

In conclusion let me quote from Milton Friedman's "To Promote Prosperity".
"To summarize this 69-year-old record: two major wartime inflations; two major

depressions; a banking panic far more severe than was ever experienced before the
Federal Reserve System was established; a succession of booms and recessions; a
post-World War II roller coaster marked by accelerating inflation and terminating
in 4 years of unusual instability-the whole relieved by relative stability and pros-
perity during the two decades after the Korean War. Granted, the Fed alone is nct
to blame for this dissmal record. Yet it is-to put it mildly-hardly an impressive
performance compared to either our nation's experience before the Federal Reserve
System was established or to the record of some other nations with a different mon-
etary structure. It is time for a change."

Senator JEPSEN. I thank you.
The panel might note on the charts to your right, a volatile M1

money growth leads to volatile patterns in spending. The chart
shows that two quarters growth rates of gross national product has
followed 6-month growth rates of M1 by a lag of about 4 months.
Now that chart implies that monetary contraction produced the re-
cession in 1981-82 and the monetary expansion contributed to the
strength of the recovery in 1983.

Would that be your interpretation?
Mr. GIVOT. Senator, I think that I would interpret it that if you

increase the money supply you can lead to short-term growth, yes,
but at a price.

Senator JEPSEN. Would this imply that the Fed should be encour-
aged to maintain a stable money growth? I'm asking any of the
three of you. I've heard you and you think the Fed Dught to be
abolished.

Mr. GIVOT. I would like to respond, if I may.
Senator JEPSEN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GiVOT. I believe that if we dealt with issues Mr. Evans talked

about, that if we allowed productivity to cause economic growth
rather than try to artificially create it through printing worthless

i
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paper money, that we would have some meaningful growth. That's
the way it should grow.

Mr. DEANE. If I might be, directly responsive to your question and
also indirectly comment on my neighbor's to the right testimony in
reverse order, I'd like to say that he might be right. I really would
sort of doubt it, but it reminds me of Lloyd George's famous
remark. He said, "Nothing is more dangerous than leaping a
chasm in two bounds," and I tell you to abolish the Federal Re-
serve System at the moment might be a sort of a two-bound leap
over that chasm.

Anyway, to respond directly to your question, Mr. Chairman, I
think that that chart is a good example of what I said ought not to
happen and that is that the Federal Reserve ought not to tinker,
that they ought to be in the business of providing a steady, moder-
ate increase in the money supply in sufficient amount to allow the
economy to have a sustainable rate of growth, instead of doing
what one of the earlier witnesses said, waiting until they see the
whites of your eyes and then tighten up or loosen it up in a hasty
way.

The volatility that you see in that chart has been disastrous, ab-
sblutely disastrous for this country, in my opinion. The inflationary
bias that is now set into the public's mind and will take a very long
time to go away is also disastrous. One of the reasons interest rates
are as high as they are now while inflation is as modest as it is
now is because people do not yet believe that inflation will stay
modest because they don't believe that the signal has been given to
the Federal Reserve that the primary target is stable prices. There-
fore, you get all kinds of disruptive decisions being made.

So that kind of volatility is bad news and the Federal Reserve
ought not to tinker and that's an answer to your direct question.

Senator JEPSEN. Do you believe that the Federal Reserve or the
formula that's used by either the financial community or the Fed-
eral Reserve or any other group of individuals dealing with our
economy have adequate formulas or methods of measuring the
money supply, given the deregulation and change in the money
markets and the changes in character?

Mr. DEANE. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think that as of now things
have settled down from the deregulation confusion so that the
money aggregates are probably again reasonably reliable. There
was a period in there of about 18 months when it was disastrous. I
agree with that.

Senator JEPSEN. Do you think that's reflected anywhere there,
anything in the chart that might have been amiss? I questioned
Chairman Volcker pointedly publicly and privately on how do you
know what the money supply is and why can't you keep this stabil-
ity and how do you measure it, and in my opinion, I have never
quite gotten an answer other than if I could try to describe what I
think I was told, it is that it's very difficult, given the changes.

Mr. DEANE. Mr.;Chairman, I really believe that part of the diffi-
culty of his response arises from the lack of clarity of the charge
given to the Federal Reserve. They clearly are under pressure to
worry about unemployment. They clearly are under pressure to
worry about the level of interest rates. They clearly are under all
kinds of pressures, given the legislation that it now outstanding.

38-417 0-84---7
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Furthermore, they are required to report on all these things in
the very short run, and I think that is is impossible to conduct sen-
sible monetary policy on a 60-day basis or a 90-day basis. For exam-
ple, the central bank of Switzerland has an absolutely excellent
record in meeting its monetary aggregate targets year after year
after year. Within any 1 year, they can be way over or way under
as they go through the year and no one in Switzerland gets par-
ticularly upset about it. But by the time the year is over, you will
find that the central bank of Switzerland is right in there very
close to where they said they were going to be.

I think it's entirely possible and in fact probable that if you clari-
fy the charge to the Federal Reserve System and do not hold them
to targets of a 30-, 60- and 90-day basis but perhaps an annual
basis, that they can come very, very close indeed.

Mr. EVANS. The tinkering I think that you referred to is particu-
larly important, but you cannot separate the monetarist approach,
good, bad or indifferent, from the rest of the tax structure. In other
words, you can put yourselves into the shoes of the man who lis-
tens to St. Paul who suggested that we've got to raise taxes to get
rid of the deficit at the same time that interest rates are high, and
even the non-economist-minded tool and dye maker with the 20-
man shop that is providing an awful lot of goods and services along
with all of his friends says that that just doesn't make any sense
because the only way we are going to get rid of the deficit is to
create enough GNP to pay some of it off.

Obviously, the first rule is to get rid of Government expenditures
or get them down, but that doesn't seem to be possible. I happen to
agree with-I'm with illustrious company-I agree with you and
Milton Friedman, that probably we would be better off without the
Federal Reserve. But on the other hand, I'm a pragmatist and I'm
not just sure how you do that without taking two jumps, as you
suggested. But it is just absolutely disastrous if you talk to these
men who run all kinds of businesses of all sizes-some are a little
sophisticated and some not at all-but they are producers and they
just put their heads down. But what is their reaction in the middle
of a volatile period such as we have right now when they once
again hear that good business is bad news and therefore we're
going to slow it down? They dig in their heels and stop. There goes
your income. There goes the deficit. And it really doesn't make any
difference what the Federal Reserve does. It's a very serious prob-
lem.

Mr. GivoT. I'd like to comment on the question of measurements
and their accuracy. I don't think the measurements are accurate
from time to time. Obviously, over the long haul the errors tend to
wipe each other out. But in the short term errors of plus or minus
10 percent can exist, for example, from one reporting period to an-
other and you might get a 20-percent measurement, but over a
year you probably have a much smaller error.

A clear analogue is that I don't think we would have sent Sena-
tor Glenn up in the space capsule if the best guide you could give
him was- to stick his finger out to find out which way he was going.

Centralizing authority in a single monetary authority which is 25
percent of the activity in the money markets right now is that
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heavy man in the lifeboat and I think 'that is a major destabilizing
factor.

Senator JEPSEN. Representative Lungren.
Representative LUNGREN. Mr. Evans, I'd like to ask you a ques-

tion because we often hear from the big boys-IBM, General
Motors and so forth-whenever we make a decision, and you point
out very persuasively the impact of the small or medium business
community on employment in this country.

What does it do to a person in your position, or someone similar-
ly situated, with respect to the employment prospects of either
maintaining your employment force or making a decision to in-
crease your employment force when you have '. deal with a vola-
tile money growth policy which gives you one 6-month period of
time a fear of inflation and another 6-month period of time a fear
of deflation in a sense?

Mr. EVANS. Well, I think, fortunately, I almost don't have to
make that decision. My customers make it for me. That really is
the story of the American economy. In the big companies-and I
found this when I spent a good number of years on the board of
directors or a large corporation-you're responsible to stockholders.
That's a completely different thing than in the small company
where you're responsible, unfortunately, to run your business with
your heart as well as your head, so you keep people employed even
though you are perhaps losing money and so forth and so on be-
cause you don't run it all with your head, and also, when you re-
quire funds you're dealing with the situation where a few interest
points-a manufacturing concern, large or small size, will purchazo
and finance a piece of sophisticated equipment that will create
both productivity and jobs at maybe, in one case, 11-percent prime
rate, and he stops dead in his tracks at 13. So they kind of follow
that. If you ask them what the Federal funds rate is, they don't
know.

There's a little short story and I'd like to take just a minute to
tell it that I think illustrates the way the economy works better
than any other and it's the story of the marine private during
World War II by the name of Izadoke Gisselman and he was the
worst Marine that the Corps had ever experienced. He was never
in the right place at the right time. He kept losing his rifle and
ammunition. Finally, in frustration, his platoon lieutenant trans-
ferred him to another platoon. Sixty days later, Private Gisselman
received the Navy Cross and Distinguished Service Medal for hero-
ism in action, wiping out a couple enemy positions and saving some
comrades under fire. And in total frustration, his former platoon
lieutenant saw his current commander and he said, "What in the
devil did you do to Gisselman?" The response was, "Absolutely
nothing. Ie was everything you said he was. I couldn't stand him
either. I called him in the office and said, 'Gisselman, here's an M-
15 rifle, 500 rounds of ammunition, a dozen hand grenades. You're
in business for yourself. Report back in 30 days.'"

Now think about it. That is what makes the system go. A fellow
by the name of Mott and a fellow by the name of Durant started
General Motors that way and the only reason it got big is because
it's capital intensive. Your business is not capital intensive, so you
can run large volumes with small numbers of people. We run what
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used to be a $15 million business with about 20 people, but in the
machine tool industry, which is critical to our national security, as
is steel, we have an industry that's been down-and don't believe
your statistics because statistics are interesting but they aren't ex-
actly accurate-I don't mean yours; I mean those that you read in
the Wall Street Journal. That industry has been down 75 percent
for 21/2 years. It's lost 40 percent of all the people in it. As someone
said, "If Costa Rica declared war on the United States of America,
Jimmy the Greek might put his money on Costa Rica," because we
won World War II with production. So we've got some very big
problems and this is part of it and the tax system. They all go to-
gether. When can anyone convince the people in Congress to get
away from the politicizing on a simple little thing that would
double their money? Never has the Federal Government ever
taken in more than 9 percent of its income from corporate income
taxes. If they abolished them tomorrow, they would double their
income overnight and we would probably have to begin to import
outside labor to fill all the new jobs.

But it's a political thing. All of these hinge together and it's diffi-
cult to separate them. But I still think it comes out to one thing,
you have to remember where the bloody taxes come from.

Representative LUNGREN. Mr. Deane, if I could ask you some spe-
cific questions on this, as I understand it, you would approve of the
idea of casting a little sunshine on the Federal Reserve.

Mr. DEANE. Oh, yes, sir. I think that the guessing game that goes
on now is very unproductive and that in fact if the Open Market
Committee minutes or a summary of them were released the same
day or the next morning that we would probably be far better off.

Representative LUNGREN. What about making the Secretary of
the Treasury at least an ex officio member of the governing board?

Mr. DEANE. Well, I can see pluses and minuses to that. I think
probably on balance it's a plus from the point of view of liaison.

Representative LUNGREN. At least we would have more coordina-
tion than we have now?

Mr. DEANE. Yes. I think that as a nonvoting member that it
would probably be very helpful to have that kind of liaison.

Representative LUNGREN. Another question which could take us
many, many days but one at least I'd like to get your opinion on, is
the means by which we achieve price stability. Many would suggest
that a dichotomy exists between trying to achieve price stability
through a money growth rule versus a price rule. There is a move-
ment afoot in the Congress that suggests that maybe we ought to
go back to a price rule where we control-if not be a gold standard,
some commodities market basket standard. Again, I know it's a
very complex issue, but could you comment on that?

Mr. DEANE. Well, to think about it in terms of going back to an
absolute gold standard, for example, I really think that the world
has become too complex a place to abdicate your ability to increase
or in fact decrease the money supply of the United States and hand
it over to the whim of the public whenever they might become dis-
turbed for one reason or another to demand payment in actual
gold. In fact this is what happens if you go back to the ,old stand-
ard as is advocated by some.
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Representative LUNGREN. Well, what if we go to a market basket
commodity? The reason is, essentially that then the market estab-
lishes what the value of something is? We like to talk about the
money growth rule here and so forth. We've talked about the fact
that we've had trouble defining what in fact the money was and is
it necessarily an improvement over trying to get a more accurate
reflection of what the market sentiment is with inspect to the
value of something that is in a sense not political?

Mr. DEANE. Well, Congressman, I'm really not at all clear about
how you would implement such a program. My frank opinion is
that we would be much better off to proceed under the current ar-
rangements with better direction and more accountability, given
that that accountability ought to be on a little longer, rather than
a little shorter basis as it is now, and set the money targets and
meet them.

Representative LUNGREN. But set the money targets based on a
goal of price stability as opposed to a multiplicity of other things?

Mr. DEANE. Based on the goal of price stability. At the moment,
we have money targets higher than those necessary to achieve ab-
solute price stability because to go from the kind of inflation rate
we had to a zero inflation would have been too much of a jolt for
the economy; but the stated objective of the chairman is that he
would like to move from the current targets to one of about 3.5 or 4
percent in a few years, which is their current judgment as to what
it would take to have a noninflationary stable growth rate.

Let me comment if I may, in addition to that, on the matter of
unemployment versus prices, which is always a big problem. You
yourself said a minute ago that as we've gone through these cycles
we've come out with higher rates and more unemployment each
time.

I do believe, as you said, that if the mandate were given to have
stable prices, that political support for that already exists. I think
the majority of the people of the United States are now prepared to
support that as the No. 1 objective.

Once you get a conviction on the part of the public that stable
prices are going to be with us, then you get people again willing to
buy long-term bonds which finance small as well as larger busi-
ness, and I fully agree with these comments, by the way, about
small business. Small business has produced all the new jobs in the
United States virtually in the last 15 years-all of them There
have been no net new jobs created by the Fortune 500 companies.
By the way, there have been no net new jobs created in Europe in
the same period of time-none. The United States has created mil-
lions of jobs in spite of the troubles we've had and there have been
none created in Europe.

Senator SYMMS. Is the rate of taxation higher in Europe than it
is here?

Mr. DEANE. Well, it's a little hard to tell because what people ac-
tually pay and what the stated rates are, sometimes are very, very
different.

But one of the problems appears to be that business activity in
Europe is centered in very large units. It's centered in either little
mon-and-pop affairs or in very large units, a large number of which
tend to be socialized, and if large units don't create net new jobs in
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the United States, then the same thing is likely to be the case in
Europe.

On the other hand, Asia is an entirely different matter where
this entrepreneurial spirit he's talking about is just everywhere. If
you go to Japan or Taiwan or Hong Kong or Singapore or any-
where in Asia that is relatively free, jobs are being created every
day by just this kind of thing.

Senator SYMMS. Well, I'd like to pursue this question a little
more. Mr. Evans, ycu mentioned that if we would abolish corporate
income tax that we would have to start importing more people to
fill the jobs. I happen to agree with that and the interesting thing
about it is the President also happens to agree with that and he's
told me personally that his long-term goal would be to abolish this
demogoguery of the corporate income tax. He made an off-hand
comment about it up in Boston when he gave a speech and before
he got off the podium the apologists at the White House are telling
the press, "Well, the President really didn't mean that."

What are you doing as businessmen in terms of trying to help
get some economic understanding to the people who write in the
newspapers so that the demogogues don't always carry the day? Be-
cause the big word around here is we're going to tax more corpo-
rate income tax next year, as you all know. I think the President
will be reelected and I hope he will, but whoever is elected Presi-
dent, I think there's going to be a big effort for tax reform in the
Nations's Capital next ye-.r. You can see the seeds of it growing.

So what that really means is that Congress doesn't have guts
enough to cut spending, so they are going to have tax reforms so
that they can raise taxes by some methodology here of saying that
we're going to have a broader based flat-rate income tax. What it
will end up being is a tax increase if we're not careful.

Now you've got a President in the White House who believes we
shouldn't tax dividends or the interest on savings and that we
shouldn't tax corporations double taxation because it's basically
dishonest and it's anticapitalistic and it's antiproductive and it's
antipeople because people pay all the taxes anyway.

So how are we going to get the word out to the public when you
have a news media that just runs completely opposite with the
basic general bias against capitalism in the news media today in
America? What do you do as businessmen?

Mr. EVANS. Boy, that would take a big hearing to cover that.
Senator SyMMS. Do you teach your employees about capitalism

and the virtues of it?
Mr. EVANS. To the extent that I can, yes. Of course, some of us

are not typical. I spent part of my time lecturing at colleges doing
this and the following year was at the study institute and so forth,
but most of the small businessmen--

Senator SYMMs. I notice you have a gold bug on your tie there.
Mr. EVANS. It seems to be. Mr. Lipsett told me if I came out with

that I would be in trouble.
Senator SYMMS. The reason politicians hate gold is it would

make the banking system be honest down here.
Mr. EVANS. Today is Adam Smith's birthday. That's the reason

for that.
Senator SYMMs. I should have had mine on today.
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Mr. EVANS. You should have. You'll be fined.
Senator SYMMS. Well, I will compliment you as a banker, Mr.

Deane. You bankers did something that I thought was outstanding
when you mailed out mailings to all your accounts to tell them
what Congress is trying to do to their savings accounts.

Mr. DEANE. I hope you tell Senator Dole that.
Senator SYMMS. I told him that. I said it on the floor of the

Senate, that for once, they did something right and then the Re-
publicans attacked them, and I couldn't understand it. For once,
they did something intelligent and then they got criticized for it.

Mr. DEANE. I'll tell you, this has turned out to be a lovely morn-
ing.

Mr. EVANS. At the risk of being flippant because this is in your
bailiwick and not mine, the thing that s disappointing is when you
look at the members of the Joint Economic Committee, the ones
that ought to be hearing this, even though we fully recognize that
we aren't going to change the world this morning, are not here.
And that's what's distressful to me, but that's because they have
other things to do I guess.

Senator SYMMs. Well, one of the things I found out that I like
about the Joint Economic Committee is we don't have any legisla-
tive authority so we can't mess anything up. We can have hearings
but we can't hurt anything, and most people that are here want to
pass laws so they're off to committees that are meeting to pass
laws to further screw up things.

The fact is, if we just stopped, I think the business community
could adjust to what we have now. If we wouldn't let anybody
touch anything for 10 years, we could survi,,e it.

Mr. EVANS. It might be amazing what we could do.
Senator SYMMS. We would learn how to use the present tax code

to get around it but the Congress operates like a roller ball. Once
people start to learn how to use the rules that Congress passes,
then we change the rules. That's exactly what the IRS does. I
notice that there's a story where they are now fining people for
writing these smart aleck remarks on their tax returns and that
just makes me sick to think that could be happening under a Re-
publican administration, but somehow the Republicans try to make
government efficient so they're going to run the IRS better than it
was run in the past and go out here and harrass everybody a little
bit more.

Mr. DEANE. What do you say to that?
Mr. EVANS. We are all in agreement.
Senator SYMMS. Have any of you studied the Hoover/Bush tax

plan? You know, this is the one that the Hoover Institute has come
up with and their plan-it's a little hard to oversimplify, but essen-
tially they are interested in the flat rate tax also, but not so many
of the more popular flat rate taxes that we hear about. They are
really only affecting the personal income side. They incorporate ev-
erybody under the tent. It's a 19-percent rate and it's basically a
tax on consumption because it taxes all income that is consumed
once closest to the source that's used, so business gets involved in it
also, but the rate is 19 percent and any dollars that would be
plowed back in like in a small business, if you take a small busi-
ness that wanted to expand their plant, whatever they're doing, if
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they took their earnings and invested it back into plant and equip-
ment, there's no taxes on that. If people have money to put in their
savings account, there's no taxes on that, no taxes on dividends, no
taxes on interest received, but only taxes on money consumed. In
other words, income that would be spent. And it would raise the
same amount of money that we now have.

Mr. DEANE. It's indirectly a sales tax.
Senator SyMMS. What it, would amount to is we would have a tax

where people would be encouraged to work and save and invest
and produce, instead of-right now our Tax Code discourages you
from working and discourages you from saving and discourages you
from investing. Essentially, over a period of 30 or 40 years, we've
developed a bigger and bigger anticapitalistic Tax Code and then
we have people at the Treasury right today that are down here in
the Republican administration talking about ways that they're
going to put more taxes on corporate income tax next year to help
solve this deficit, and I think the business community ought to be
informed of this and be aware of what's going on in Washington
this year or what may happen next year which I think would be
tragic if that happened. But if you ask the tax people at Treasury
what they're talking about, they are talking about increasing taxes
or corporations which is totally-it would be one of the most stupid
things Americans could do.

Mr. EVANS. And the quickest way to increase the deficit.
Senator SyMMS. Because business hires people and people pay

taxes.
Mr. DEANE. People pay all the taxes.
Mr. GiVOT. Our exchange has about 1,700 members.
Senator SYMMS. What is your business?
Mr. GIVOT. I'm in the securities business. I'm a member of the

Chicago Options Exchange. These are people very close to the fi-
nancial markets on a daily basis.

Mr. EVANS. Risk takers.
Mr. GIvoT. We are risk takers. We really have benefited and

prospered very much from all the volatility that Washington has
created for us in the last couple of years because we sell essentially
insurance on the price of stock. And you've seen the stock market
and that is the result of some of the stuff that's going on here.

I don't speak for them formally, but overwhelmingly, the impres-
sion is-and these are businessmen-that there are revenues and
there are expenditures in the Government just as there is in their
business, but the Government only wants to talk about the reve-
nues and not about the expenditures. It's as though by lowering
the revenues or allowing them to be lowered, the deficit can be cre-
ated, and it's sort of off to the side and it doesn't matter. I think
their view, overwhelmingly, is, let's not worry so much about reve-
nues. Let's get at the real source of the problem, what is really
forcing revenues up in the past couple years? That's the expendi-
ture side, and certainly that s the place where either House of Con-
gress can stop it. They don't see either House stopping it or the
President stopping it in a definitive, absolute way. That is the root
cause of price instability. There's no question about it. As I said
before you got here, the Fed is handed the deficit and it has two
choice. It monetizes, which we call inflation as the end product.
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Senator SYMMS. Counterfeiting.
Mr. GIVOT. Alternatively, if they don't monetize, we see high in-

terest rates. Those are the only choices they have.
Mr. EVANS. Don't you think the Fed created about half the defi-

cit in the 1980's?
Senator SYMMS. Well, I think the Fed overreacted, but historical-

ly, they will always overreact. They are overreacting probably
right now.

Mr. DEANE. That's why we need to have less tinkering.
Mr. GIvoT. Or get rid of them.
Mr. EVANS. How do the two of you feel about-because you're in

these areas--of Milton Friedman's idea of inflationary index bond.
In other words, the creation of a bond that simply would be both
long and short term?

Mr. DEANE. Well, I really think that it would further undermine
any will we might have to try to eliminate inflation. You make it
easy by doing that to live with inflation. When you make it easy to
live with inflation, the pressure is not on and Brazil is a classic ex-
ample of that. They made it easy to live with inflation by indexing
everything and now they're in a fix. So I'm against that.

Senator SYMMS. On the bright side of this, there is one-there
was an editorial yesterday in Barron's by Bob Blyberg about the
bright side of the bond picture. You may have read that. Senator
Boschwitz of Minnesota did an op-ed piece for the New York Times
about 2 weeks ago where he pointed out that in the last 6 months
Government revenues have actually gone up by 10 percent, where
spending has only gone up by 4 percent. So this is the first time
this happened and even as meager and paltry as this deficit reduc-
tion package is that's before the Congress it's the first time Con-
gress has ever done anything like this in an election year. As bad
as I think the bill is because it does have tax increases in it, I
would have to say, because of the psychology I think, if it didn't
pass it would probably be an unmitigated disaster because the
market makers, Mr. Givot, that you work with would be in a state
of near hysteria if something would happen and this bill wouldn't
pass. It's like the money supply figures. I think the Fed-one thing
they have done that's smart is release the money supply figures on
Thursday instead of Friday so you don't have all these bond trad-
ers worrying all weekend about what's going to happen. They
should do it so it gets absorbed and taken into account in the
market before anybody can worry about it. It's just we all are hys-
terical-you know, the people who are in the markets, the Con-
gress, and the politicians-the press fan the thing on too because
they get wrapped up in it. We all share some of the blame, but
there's an overreaction to everything and part of it I think is be-
cause of instanteous-they can hit you over the head 50 times with
a news release is what I'm saying-bang, bang, bang-on television
every day with something that's happening which could be a trage-
dy. It makes people believe it after a while. But the budget deficit
actually is running about 20 percent less than for the same period
in fiscal year 1983.

Mr. DEANE. I read that article.
Senator SYMMS. But you never hear that in the news media. You

never hear that. It's silence. It's absolute silence. They would
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rather focus in on what they consider to be a hyped campaign of
Jesse Jackson or something that somehow that's got more interest
in it to the public-and maybe it does have-than what the econo-
my is doing, but the economy feeds on momentum and we just go
on and part of this is psychological, there's no doubt in my mind,
and I think part of the budget deficit has been overstated.

For whatever we think about it, the budget is balanced. I mean,
they are borrowing the mnney to do it, but their checks still cash
and people forget that. The problem is we spend too doggoned
much money and we're spending 25 percent of GNP and who wants
to raise taxes by 30 percent? Certainly not me and not anybody
else that I know in the Congress want to raise taxes by 30 percent
because that would destroy us.

Mr. GivoT. Senator, if the Congress would vote not to raise ex-
penditures next year or cut them back to the point where revenues
would equal them, would you get news coverage?

Senator SYMMS. Well, if Congress would do it. I think the news
would report it.

Mr. GIVOT. There's your problem.
Mr. EVANS. Of course.
Senator SYMMS. But Congress is not in the frame of mind to do

that right now.
Mr. GIvoT. I recognize that.
Senator SYMMS. My hope is that maybe after Reagan gets re-

elected, well, then there's no tomorrow and he can fire all his poll-
takers and his political hacks down there who want to be sure they
advise him to do everything to make everybody happy, and then he
can do what's right for the country-my personal opinion is that
the best politics is to be pragmatically principled, that it would
have been easier for Reagan to get reelected if he would come in
here and wants to reduce the rate of increase proposed than it
would be to have a $200 billion deficit because he would have had a
more credible consistent position. But that has not been the con-
ventional wisdom of the White House and I have argued with them
until I'm blue in the face down there. They don't agree with that. I
personally feel that that's the fact. The public is way ahead of
Washington in terms of what has to be done and you talk to many,
many people, the receivers of COLA's, for example, pensioners and
so forth, and they keep asking the question at the town meetings
around the country, "Why are you raising our stipend every
month? Why are you raising it if we're really in deficit?" Now 44
percent of the budget goes to senior citizens right off the top, 44
percent of it, and unless we're willing to talk about that problem
you can't solve the budget problem. Everybody has been afraid of
that. Who better to do it than a 74-year-old President? So maybe
after the election we'll get some results on this, I hope. If we don't,
I think surely what will happen is we'll have to go through the
wringer. We will have a depression with hyperinflation all at the
same time and have monetary chaos and then the tools of produc-
tion will still be in place so we will pick up the pieces afterward
and start over. But it's very frightening to think about that hap-
pening.

Mr. DEANE. As a banker, it's very frightening.
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Senator SYMMS. Well, we could end up with a military dictator-
ship if something like that happens. People don't seem to realize
how critical stable money and stability in the economy is to a cap-
italistic economy and to our form of Government and with all of
this intervention that's going on it's not very helpful, in my judg-
ment, to stability.

We certainly appreciate your contribution to our series of hear-
ings on this. The Joint Economic Committee is able, as I men-
tioned, to explore some of these areas without the threat of legisla-
tion being the main thing. The legislation comes out of other com-
mittees and it sometimes, I think, gives us a forum where people
can speak freely about the ideas without having the ideas compro-
mised in the actual passage of legislation because we certainly
have a lot to benefit in this economy if we could have stable
money, reasonable tax levels, and a sound fiscal policy. Personally,
I don't believe that we can get lasting monetary reform that would
do any value to the economic system without fiscal reform and a
fair tax policy along with it because if you try to use a gimmick
like monetary reform and still have basically an immoral fiscal
policy, it confiscates the earnings from the people who earn it and
give it to the people who don't earn it, which is basically a dishon-
est system-and that's what's going on now with this chain letter
we have where we take the money from the workers and then
transfer it over to the nonworkers under the guise of security-if
we allow that to continue on, there's no kind of monetary reform
that will work. I don't care if we got on a gold standard. The Con-
gress would have to meet the change in gold once a week to keep
up with it and that won't work either. So we have to get an hones-
ty involved in the fiscal policy and the tax policy and the monetary
policy, all three together, and then this economy could really take
off.

I don't personally think the Asians could even compete with us if
we would have the same set of rules to work under. I believe we
could produce more and we could produce it better and even what
we have done in the little meager attempts in our automobile indus-
try, look at the improvement in American automobiles to meet the
market in the past 5 years and just with a little bit of help from
the UAW and they haven't gotten that much help but they've
gotten a little bit of compensation and look how much better
they've done. So I think Americans really can do better than we
do.

The committee is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 12:10 p.m., the committee adjourned, subject to

the call of the Chair.]
[The following information was subsequently supplied for the

record:]
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Monetary Policy: The Rhetoric vs. the Record

by

Raymond E. Lombra*

I. INTRODUCTION

For decades the makers of U.S. monetary policy have gathered every

4-6 weeks in Washington to make monetary policy. All the rhetoric,

including periodic Federal Reserve reports to the Congress on monetary

policy decisions and even minutes of the policymaking meetings, indicate

a fervent, abiding desire by policymakers to make policy both less

inflationary and less procyclical. With the record of the 1950s and

1960s disappointing to policymakers themselves, it is not surprising,

given such desires, that by the early 1970s, the Fed (and a number of

other central banks) came to believe that formulating and implementing

an improved monetary policy would be facilitated by altering the basic

interest-rate strategy guiding policy decisions. In particular, It was

argued that by shifting policy guides so as to stabilize and lower the

growth of the money stock, and the various monetary aggregates more

generally, a less inflationary and more stabilizing policy performance

would emerge.

Good intentions aside, the 1970s were characterized by outcomes

that differed considerably from announced plans and objectives and thus

*Professor of Economics, Pennsylvania State University. I would like to
thank Tom Fox, Tom Havrilesky, Jim Herendeen, Tom Mayer, Marv Rozen,
Fred Struble, Mike Wasylenko and seminar participants at Penn State and
the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City for helpful comments on an
earlier draft.
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a remarkably low correlation between the rhetoric and the record: the

trend rate of monetary growth rose, the variations around the trend

remained quite procyclical, and the inflation and un'mployent rates

both rose, on average. Some ascribe these outcomes to "bad" policy,

while others attribute them to bad luck (e.g., oil price "shocks", a

"mysterious" decline in productivity growth, and the weather). Belea-

guered policymakers, quite unwilling to plead guilty to malpractice,

downplay their powers and responsibility by emphasizing the complexity

of the economy, the apparent breakdown and unreliability of important

structural relationships (e.g., the money demand function), the monetary

control problems created by financial innovation, the lack of fiscal

discipline, and bad luck.

That much has been written on these issues in recent years is

testimony both to the importance of a professional "sorting out" and to

the lack of a broad-based consensus on the causes, and hence the cures,

of our economic malaise. Against this background, the present paper

provides a largely diagnostic and positivistic analysis of the

policymaking process (there being no shortage of normative analyses).

The resulting "field guide" to policymaking should help to explain the

low correlation between the rhetoric and the record and thus contribute

to a narrowing of the gap between theory (political and economic) and

practice. The central theme developed is that uncertainty, the short

time horizons of policymakers and their constituents, and the associated

tendency to discount both forecasts and the longer run cumulative

effects of current policy actions, represent fundamental impediments to

substantial sustained progress which can not be analyzed or understood

in purely economic terms.
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I. PR)XIMATE VS. ULTIMATE CAUSES OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS

Since economic instability persists, it is natural to ask whether

ctual policy has been an aggravating or moderating factor. The answer

to this question, despite thousands of computer printouts and volumes of

analysis, remains elusive. Policymakers argue they "lean against the

wind", while others argue they often "lean with the wind". William

McChesney Martin, for example, a former Fed chairman, once reportedly

likened the Fed to someone who removes the punch bowl at a party just as

the fun begins. In contrast, Edward Kane argues, "The Fed has come to

function like a chaperone at a fraternit party. It legitimizes the

process without changing it very much" (Kane, 1982a, p. 212).

In general, alternative views of what drives policy and enhances or

limits its effectiveness, are rooted, at least implicitly, in various

competing theories of inflation and stagflation. The alternatives may

be usefully classified, for our purposes, as essentially nonmonetary or

monetary. The nonmonetary theories usually emphasize one or more of the

following as driving forces behind the trend (or underlying) rate of

inflation and fluctuations around the trend: oil price shocks;

productivity shocks; agricultural price shocks; fluctuations in money

wages; fiscal policy instabilities; international linkages (openness);

and rising aspirations and associated societal conflicts over the

distribution of income. The common thread linking all such theories is

that while monetary policy is understood to be potentially powerful and

can from time to time be an independent source of alterations in

aggregate demand, it is viewed as a mostly passive force, largely

accommodating the financial requirements generated by the factor(s)

believed to be the ultimate cause(s) of economic fluctuations.
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Imploring the Fed to "do better" is thus misplaced and ineffective;

monetary policy is largely endogenous and thus only a proximate cause of

most economic fluctuations.

As Ira Kaminow (1982) has forcefully argued, the problem with these

nonmonetary theories of inflation and stagflation is that the nested

hypothesis concerning the conduct of monetary policy, and thus the

process linking the money stock to the "exogenous" ultimate cause(s), is

usually unspecified and untested, and, therefore, incomplete. Mindful

of this missing link, statistical analysis of the relationship between

nonmonetary variables and variables influenced by or controlled by

monetary policymakers (e.g., monetary growth, reserve growth, and

changes in short-term interest rates) has begun to appear (see, for

example, Beck, 1983; Willett and Laney, 1982; Barth, Sickles and Wiest,

1982; Havrilesky, 1979; and the references cited therein).

The other class of theories shares the common bond of monetarism.

Major economic fluctuations and sust;ied inflation are ascribed to the

Fed's unwillingness to stabilize monetary growth around a lower trend.

When, in response, the Fed argues that such a policy is difficult to

implement in the face of financial innovation ani shifting economic and

financial relationships, the debate shifts to technical matters of

monetary control; how can the Fed change its regulations and its

procedures to tighten its control over money and, therefore, improve its

ability to deliver a more stable policy? In effect, according to

monetarists, the Fed is a key proximate and ultimate cause of economic

fluctuations and inflation.

I have long found the resulting literature on reserve requirements,

reserve accounting, discount window policy, and nonborrowed reserves vs.
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monetary base vs. federal funds rate approaches to monetary control,

somewhat of a puzzle. It is generally agreed within this literature

that these issues are important in assessing and improving the degree of

short-run (week-to-week and month-to-month) monetary control.

Accordingly, and without denying the usefulness of adopting various

changes in Fed procedures and regulations, it is extremely doubtful that

the secular rise in inflation in the 1970s and associated secular

decline in monetary discipline can be attributed to technical aspects of

policymaking or to defects in the "plumbing" linking Fed actions to

monetary growth. Even though most would agree that the current set of

procedures and regulations are suboptimal and inefficient, the available

research clearly suggests that the Fed could still control monetary

growth within a relatively narrow range over 6-12 month periods.

Perhaps monetarists, facing Fed intransigence, and the truism that the

long run is nothing but a series of short runs, simply want to keep the

Fed's feet to the fire in an ongoing "war of attrition". Alternatively,

it may be that the plumbing gets more attention than it deserves because

the political-sociological factors are harder to handle, it is easier to

get agreement on technical issues, and research deiing with noneconomic

factors may be considered less "scientific" and hence attract less

attention to an author's work. Whatever the motivation for such

research, the fact that such control has not been consistently exercised

and that policymakers have been reluctant to adopt reforms which could

improve short-run monetary control, does raise some fundamental issues.

Despite the Fed's formal adoption of monetary aggregates as inter-

mediate targets in 1970 and rhetoric proclaiming a commitment to control

38-417 0-84---8
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monetary growth, I would argue that the record--that is, the failure to

consistently exercise such control--does reveal something about the

Fed's thinking (preferences?) and the thinking (preferences?) of their

principals (the President and the Congress). Examinations of the policy

process (Lombra and Moran, 1980; Karamouzls, 1984) indicate that the Fed

frequently vacillated on the analytical significance of the monetary

aggregates; are the monetary aggregates (individually or collectively)

important strategic variables to be controlled or information

(indicator) variables to be used along with other data in setting policy

instruments? Distinguishing clearly between these possible roles for

the aggregates, and the associated scope for policynmaker discretion,

would seem to be crucial and logically prior to the formulation and

implementation of policy. If the aggregates are to be controlled,

policymakers should respond to a divergence of actual monetary growth

from target by resetting their instruments accordingly. If, in contrast,

the aggregates are information variables, then a deviation of actual

monetary growth from target might be tolerated. Absent an analytical

consensus, the resulting ambiguity and vacillation frustrated communica-

tion among policymakers and their principals and contributed to

Inconsistencies and circularities in policy formation. The periodic

widening of target ranges for the monetary aggregates, proliferation of

targets, shifting emphasis accorded particular aggregates, several

redefinitions of the aggregates, and adjustments to the base periods

from which target paths are computed, however technically motivated, are

manifestations, in part, of the shifting role of monetary growth in

guiding policy decisions as the U.S. economy undergoes change.



107

A basic theme of this paper is that such behavior by policymakers

cannot be analyzed or understood in purely economic terms. To blame

only the Fed for the evolution of policy and associated economic

outcomes, is to accept the dubious proposition that the Fed Is

independent and/or omnipotent. It will be argued below that the

proximate causes of monetary control problems are not independent of the

constraints (actual or perceived) generated by the political and

economic environment within which policymakers operate.

III. THE ROLE OF ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE IN POLICY ANALYSIS:
SOME FIRST PRINCIPLES

Since economics and political science are both social sciences

broadly concerned with behavior, it is not surprising that members of

both disciplines devote considerable effort to analyzing the behavior of

policymakers. Unfortunately, such efforts by one discipline are often

viewed with considerable disdain by the other, if not ignored completely.

(How many economists read the American Political Science Review?) Turf

problems aside, it is unlikely that our understanding of the policy

process is enhanced by such professional squabbling.

At the conceptual level, Beck has suggested a starting point for

understanding how economics and political science can play complementary

roles in policy analysis: "The discipline of economics can deal with

the question of how different economic policies lead to different

economic outcomes, but it cannot explain the basis for the rankings of

the various economic outcomes" (Beck, 1983, p. 1). Simply put, policy

actions would comprise the exogenous variables for economists and the

endogenous variables for political scientists.
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While specialization and a division of labor are usually desired

developments destined to increase efficiency and productivity (economic

and intellectual), it can be argued that policy analysis needs more

integration. The problem with an unduly narrow conc,.ptlon of policy for

economics has been aptly summarized by Hirsch and Goldthorpe:

"Confronted by political and social disturbances, economists...have slid

easily and often unthinkingly into the assumption-cum-conclusion that

the non-economic factors are the extraneous variables that can be

expected in the end to adapt to an overriding and objective economic

reality. Technical remedies are available and adequate; all that is

necessary is for them to be accepted at the political and popular

levels" (Hirsch and Goldthorpe, 1978, p. 2). A discomforting result of

such an approach, which emerges from at least one branch of economic

analysis relevant to the present examination, has been identified by

Maier: "Monetarism focuses on keepers of the printing press and summons

them to abstinence, but rarely explains what pressures sustain or

overcome their resolution" (Maier, 1978, p. 39).

Proceeding on the premise that a more pluralistic approach to

policy analysis will yield a more complete understanding of "what they

do and why they do it," the following sections examine the role of and

interaction among political and economic forces bearing on the monetary

policy process.

IV. POLITICAL ASPECTS OF U.S. MONETARY POLICY

In the process of making policy, the Fed must implicitly or explic-

itly select quantitative goals (e.g., 6 percent unemployment and 5

percent inflation) and choose a method or procedure (e.g., a monetary
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aggregates approach or an interest rate approach) for pursuing its

goals. Then, in executing policy, the Fed's manipulation of its instru-

ments (open market operations, reserve requirements, and the discount

rate) is guided by the operative set of goals and procedures. Making

such decisions independent of political considerations is difficult to

imagine (see, for example, Acheson and Chant, 1973).

On a normative level, the incongruity between apolitical policy and

our democratic form of government is obvious. Ideally, one would expect

elected officials to specify the goals (ends) that the Fed should

pursue. The Fed might then be left considerable discretion in selecting

the means to achieve such ends. On a positivistic level, since the set

of goals, procedures, and instrument settings comprising a given policy

strategy has nonneutral effects on the body politic, it is not

surprising that "enlightened" self-interest leads individuals or groups

to rank policies differently. As Kane argues, "Some opinions are better

informed and less self-serving than others, but all of them are affected

by the owner's perspective as an interested member of various political

and economic groups. Perspectives on macroeconomic issues [including

policy] differ markedly between creditors and debtors, between workers

and employers, between job holders and the unemployed, between landlords

and tenants, between a product's producers and its consumers, between

bureaucrats and the public that pays their salaries, between Fed staff

economists and their counterparts in academe, and between incumbent

politicians and those seeking to unseat them" (Kane, 1982a, p. 222).

The different perspectives and the alternative policy rankings

which flow from them constitute ongoing sources of pressure which

policymakers seek to selectively fend off or embrace. That monetary
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policymakers engage in such political activity is undeniable. How it

affects policy decisions per se is somewhat less obvious.

Goal Selection

The selection of economic goals and the weight each is to receive

is presumably logically prior to the formulation of policy. But where

do the goals and weights come from? Few would argue that the deliber-

ately vague and often contradictory directives (suggestions?) contained

in various pieces of legislation in any serious way guide or constrain

policymakers. While the resulting ambiguity and lack of specificity

imparts an incompleteness and thus indeterminacy to the policy process,

some argue such ambiguity and incompleteness is a necessary part of and

actually facilitates policymaking: "We have a political process

precisely because people have multiple goals that somehow must be

reconciled into a single course of government action. The resultant

course of action may be called a policy, but that term is misleading if

it is regarded as implying one mind, one will, and one theory.

Legislation requires ambiguity in the statement of goals so that

coalitions can be formed in support of it, and each group can believe

that the legislation serves its own special purposes" (Rein and White,

1977, p. 123); "The first role of the successful political process is,

'Don't force a specification of goals or ends.' Debate over objectives

should be minimized partly because ends and means are inseparable. More

important, the necessary agreement on particular policies can often be

secured among individuals or groups who hold quite divergent ends"

(Schultze, 1968, p. 47).

Succinctly stated, the economist's ideal, scientific approach to

policymaking--specify objectives, develop alternatives, assess costs and



111

benefits of options, chose policy--is viewed as unreasonable,

unnecessary, and unattainable (Lindblom, 1979; Wildavsky, 1978); within

the context of comnlex problems, all analysis will be incomplete. Thus,

"disjoined incrementalism"--a kind of enlightened "muddling through"--is

perhaps the most that can be hoped for, and calls for complete policy

processes are naive.

If "good" policymaking consists only of being able to make deci-

sions, the virtues of ambiguity and incompleteness follow. However, if

the standard against which policy decisions are to be judged is defined

in terms of the economic outcomes such actions help to produce, then

ambiguity, a shifting compromise among multiple goals (Knott, 1983), and

the associated confusion of means and ends would seem to impede rather

than facilitate the making of "good" policy.

A careful reading of the Memorandum of Discussion from Federal Open

Market Committee (FOMC) meetings--a nearly verbatim transcript available

through March 1976--makes it painfully obvious that the FOMC, as a

group, did not have a specific set of ultimate objectives guiding the

formulation of monetary policy. Of course, everybody was for "low"

inflation and "low" unemployment and individual members no doubt had

quantitative income, employment, and price objectives in mind as they

each spoke and voted on the policy options under consideration. However,

the failure to flesh out the specific objectives, weights and trade-offs

conditioning each FOMC member's policy preferences contributed to FOMC

decisions where it was not clear to the policymaker3 themselves in which

direction policy was moving or why.

The November 1970 FOMC meeting is a typical u:xample. The Committee

was of two, diametrically opposed minds. Some felt monetary restraint
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should be exercised to slow inflation, while others favored a more

stimulative policy stance that would give priority to reducing the

unemployment rate. Faced with such conflict, the usual practice was to

modify the wording of the Directive--the set of instructions guiding

open market operations, transmitted by the FOMC to the manager of the

Fed's portfolio of securities--and/or adjust the various policy

alternatives slightly so as to generate unanimous or near-unanimous

approval. Despite a nearly even split of policy views at the November

1970 meeting, a directive? was agreed to by an 11-I vote. Unfortunately,

it was not clear to the policymakers themselves whether the actions

approved would, over the near term, have a greater tendency to slow

inflation or to stimulate the real sector of the economy. Divided over

the appropriate direction for policy, the consensus reached may in fact

be a reflection of a type of policy paralysis which frustrates

achievement of both objectives and contributes to stagflation over time.

The policy process in place at the Fed, and the unspoken disagree-

ment it facilitates, is successful in the sense that policies are

adopted. However, the ad hoc approach to goal selection (and

policymaking) has not consistently produced economic outcomes

satisfactory to economists, large segments of the body politic, or to

policymakers. To avoid misunderstanding, it is important to emphasize

that eclecticism is not the issue. With a committee making decisions,

eclecticism is probably inevitable. Moreover, given uncertainty and

some nonzero probability that various competing theories are "true", it

may well be optimal to pursue a policy that blends theories so as to

minimize the maximum error. The use of more than one theory or

objective to guide policy is not the central issue; eclecticism implies
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a fleshing out of theories and implications which did not generally

occur. As Benjamin Friedman has argued, "Policymakers must first

determine what they are doing and why, before they set about doing it"

(Friedman, 1977, p. 100). The alternative is inherently self-defeating.

Intermediate Target Selection

As is well known, the Fed, and other central banks, employ an

intermediate target approach to policymaking, the basic features of

this approach, along with the evolution of Fed policy over the past 30

years, are depicted in Figure I. The advisability of employing such an

approach, and the case for and against certain interest rate and

monetary aggregate variables typically considered as candidates for

intermediate targets, has spawned a voluminous professional literature

(see, for example, Bryant, 1980, 1983, and the literature cited

therein). Considerably less attention has been accorded the role that

political factors play in influencing such decisions.

Analytically, the failure to specify explicit quantitative goals,

as outlined above, renders the selection of a "dial setting" for a

particular intermediate target variable problematic. Such incomplete-

ness or indeterminacy is deliberate. In addition to facilitating

decision making internally, it helps shift the focus of policy

discussions externally away from politically sensitive goals (ends) to

more technically-related issues regarding means. Since everyone is for

"sustainable, noninflationary growth", the basic issues to be decided

involve the procedures and tactics to be utilized in pursuing this

ill-specified goal.

Despite numerous hearings and other exchanges on monetary policy,

it is obvious that the Congress and the President have not pressed the
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Fed to adopt a more complete and explicit strategy. The reason, as

argued persuasively by Kane, is that "overseeing a complete strategy

would undercut Fed 'independence' and implicate incumbent elected

officials in monetary policy before the fact" (Kane, 1982b, p. 193);

"Whenever monetary policies are popular, incumbents can claim their

influence was crucial in their adoption. On the other hand, when

monetary policies prove unpopular, they can blame everything on a

stubborn Federal Reserve and claim further that things would have been

worse if they had not pressed Fed officials at every opportunity" (Kane,

1980, pp. 206-07). Given the internal and external payoffs yielded by

incompleteness, its continued existence is hardly surprising.

Politically, the choice of specific intemEJiate target variables

is not independent of the public's perception of what the Fed's proximate

role is. As Kane argues, "in the popular mind and in the financial

press, the Fed is a politically beleaguered institution whose chief task

is to act as the arbiter of nominal interest rates" (Kane, 1980, p.

200). This perception, along with the distributional effects of changes

in interest rates, and the-continuing tendency to link "high" interest

rates with "tight" policy and "low" interest rates with "easy" policy,

generates an understandable desire by policymakers to put some distance

between their actions and fluctuations in interest rates. Such

considerations have undoubtedly played an important role in central

banks' adoption of various monetary aggregates as intermediate targets

(Bouey, 1982). Frank Morris, President of the Federal Reserve Bank of

Boston, confirms this conjecture: "We know that in targeting interest

rates the Federal Reserve is subject to a lot more political pressure

than it is in targeting a variable which is not politically sensitive,
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such as the money supply;.. .this is the kind of political sheltering

which we should not want to give up" (Morris, 1982, p. 14).

Policy Execution

Grandiose or not, plans, however formulated, must eventually be

transmitted into actions. How much is lost in the translation has been

the subject of an expanding empirical literature attempting to link

movements in various variables under the Fed's control to a fairly long

list of economic variables (e.g., the inflation rate, the unemployment

rate, wage growth, the budget deficit, oil prices, etc.) and political

variables (e.g., political party in office, proximity of an election,

etc.). Recognizing the possible interdependences among the various

economic and political variables, and the possibility that policymaker

responses to such variables may be somewhat idiosyncratic instead of

systematic across time, application of an increasingly sophisticated

arsenal of statistical techniques has become commonplace.

Taken together, the results of these statistical studies (see, for

example, Beck, 1983; Barth, Sickles and Wiest, 1982; Willett and Laney,

1982; and the literature cited therein), and some thoughtful and

insightful case studies (Mayer, 1982a, 1982b), are consistent with the

notion that Fed actions, consciously or not, are primarily the joint

product of a complicated confluence of short-run, domestic, political

and economic forces (see Woolley, 1984, for an illuminating examination

of these and related issues). However, the sensitivity of the empirical

results to the time periods, variables, knd techniques employed,

suggests that the Fed does not follow simple rules in reacting to such

forces. Rather the Fed is "flexible". Such flexibility is the
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political fruit borne by the incompleter-ss of the Fed's strategy; it

serves to "stabilize" the short-run political environment while running

the risk of destabilizing the economic environment over the longer run.

Free to respond flexibly to various political and economic pressures in

the short-run, the resultant actions of policymakers have been

characterized as myopic. However, if those affected by policy--the

electorate and thus incumbent politicians--are themselves myopic, as the

(mis)management of fiscal policy, for example, clearly suggests,

long-run destabilization is not perceived as an actionable problem.

Thus, imploring the Fed to "take the long view" is politically naive.

Failing to come to grips with an abiding focus on the short run,

proposed changes in procedures, even if adopted, may alter the form of

policymaking, but not the substance.

V. ECONOMIC FACTORS CONDITIONING U.S. MONETARY POLICY

Whether motivated by the pursuit of economic, political, or social

goals, policymakers must confront certain economic realities. First,

policy operates with a lag; actions taken today initiate a dynamic

process of adjustment and reaction in the financial and real sectors of

the economy. The resulting passage of time between policy actions and

their several effects requires one to distinguish analytically between

the short-run period of time (say a year) encompassing the enactment of

policy and its initial effects, and a longer run period characterized by

the gradual emergence of the more enduring effects of policy. Such a

conceptualization leads directly to the second point, the short-run

effects of policy on the financial and real sectors of the economy can

differ markedly from the longer run effects. In the short run, for



117

example, a stimulative policy (particularly if unanticipated) will

usually lower interest rates, stimulate aggregate demand, and lower

unemployment. Over the long run, such a policy stance will raise the

inflation rate, inflationary expectations, and all nominal magnitudes

(e.g., nominal interest rates and nominal wages), and have little or no

effect on real magnitudes (e.g., real output and employment). How long

it takes for such "policy neutrality" to emerge is, of course, the

central focus of ongoing research on how rational economic agents form

their expectations and how such expectations affect behavior.

Third, uncertainty is pervasive. More specifically, policymakers'

(and ecunomists') knowledge of key structural relationships (such as the

slope and stability of the short-run Phillips curve), despite an ever

growing empiricism in policy analysis, is severely limited. As recently

summarized by an emenient econometrician, "the theoretical model and

empirical results under discussion do not, unfortunately, lead to any

simple resolution of the main disputed points in macroeconomics" (Sims,

1982, p. 137). The apparent fragility of received empirical work, and

associated forecasting errors, imply that the effects of'policy on the

economy, especially in the short run, are somewhat unpredictable.

Fourth, the openness of an economy has a fundamental influence on

the effectiveness and proper conduct of monetary policy (Frenkel and

Mussa, 1981). No open economy is immune from foreign disturbances, many

of which may be inherently unpredictable and whose effects may be

difficult to analyze. Domestically, the effectiveness of interest rate

ceilings, reserve requirements, and other policy instruments are

weakened by the widening of the opportunity set available to borrowers

and lenders which accompanies international financial integration. In
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addition, exchange rate fluctuations influence the short-run effects of

policy on real output and prices. More generally, openness increases

the difficulties associated with determining the size, source, and

duration of disturbances and thus tends to weaken the ability of

policymakers to measure, assess, and react to emerging developments.

Given knowledge deficiencies, openness, and associated

uncertainties concerning the lagged effects of policy on the economy,

how do policymakers make policy? To begin, however uncertain

policymakers are, they must still have some basic underlying view of the

determinants of economic activity and thus of how policy (monetary and

fiscal) effects the economy. Understandably reluctant to be pinned down

on their precise views--another manifestation of the Fed's

flexibility--the Fed's "model" is not published in any official release.

Rather, it must be gleaned from various documents the staff prepares for

FOMC meetings, containing analyses of past, present, and perspective

economic developments, and from policymaker discussions contained in the

minutes (Memorandum of Discussion) of FOMC meetings.

The consensus view of the relationship between policy, inflation

and unemployment prevailing within the Fed *in the 1970s (as outlined in

Lombra and Moran, 1980; and Karamouzis, 1984) followed a mainstream,

closed-economy, Neo-Keynesian track (see Gordon, 1981). Presumably, an

ongoing "rational" evaluation of the scientific evidence influenced this

view over time. As Wallich notes, however, even here politics apparently

plays a role: "Monetarism has enjoyed a considerable vogue among

politicians, understandably, since it tends to absolve them from respon-

sibility for the consequences of poor fiscal policy. In that view, most

of the responsibility rests with the Federal Reserve, which therefore
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tends to acquire some Keynesian leanings (including an emphasis on

fiscal policy) in self defense" (Wallich, 1982, p. 243).

In general, assuming the economy was operating below its potential,

it was believed that policy-induced alterations in aggregate demand

first affected inventories, production, capacity utilization and unemploy-

ment; with a lag, these "real" effects, and associated changes in labor

market conditions, affected wage demands and, therefore, unit labor

costs; changes in unit labor costs, in turn, explained systematic,

"underlying" variations in the inflation rate, as opposed to transitory,

shock-induced variations. Changes in interest rates, operating through

wealth, cost of capital, and availability channels, are the cutting edge

of monetary policy within this view of the transmission mechanism.

Moreover, given the long lag believed tu exist between policy actions

and inflation, and thus between policy and a change in inflationary

expectations, shirt-run, policy-induced changes in nominal interest

rates are equated with changes in real rates.

Given the above view of the transmission mechanism linking Fed

actions with inflation, policy decisions, and the analysis and forecasts

which underlaid them, were conditioned by the belief that current policy

actions would not materially alter the near-term (4-6 quarter) inflation

outlook and that real output and employment would bear the brunt of

restrictive policies in the short run. Therefore, fighting inflation

was viewed as "costly" in the short run in terms of lost output and

employment. An unmistakable implication has been suggested by Wallich:

"Differences on the relative evils of inflation and unemployment are

wide, and they tend to be associated with different evaluations of the

cost of dealing with either. It would be a rare advisor [or policy-
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maker] who believes inflation could be dealt with at moderate costs but

prefers expansion, or who sees the cost as enormous but nevertheless

proposes to incur them" (Wallich, 1982, p. 243).

However sensible this general Neo-Keynesian view may be, an

unfortunate characteristic of the specific forecasts produced by the

staff was that the projection errors were large over the 2-4 quarter

horizons one would normally expect to dominate policymaker deliberations.

In addition, the forecasts were biased in the sense-that real GNP tended

to be overestimated, while inflation was underestimated. A failure to

take adequate account of policy-induced changes in inflationary

expectations, and an attendant failure to distinguish between changes in

nominal and real interest rates in the formulation and execution of

policy, is consistent with the tendency to overestimate the real effects

of policy and underestimate the nominal effects.

The size of the errors led policymakers to discount the forecasts

heavily. This imparted a short-run bias to policy discussions and a

resulting focus on current rather than projected economic conditions in

selecting among policy alternatives; that is, policymakers acted as if

no lag existed between policy actions and effects. Given the actual

lagged effects of policy actions, such a focus undoubtedly contributed

to procyclical policies.

The biasedness of the forecasts, reflecting the staff's inability

to pin down the slope of the short-run Phillips curve, and the short-run

focus resulting from the size of the errors, contributed to an emphasis

on the real output effects of various policy actions which dominate in

the short run, rather than the price effects which dominate over the

longer run. Such an emphasis in turn contributed to a failure to
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adequately assess the longer run cumulative effects of policy actions on

prices.

Taken together, the size and blasedness of the errors, and the

underlying analytical framework they reflected, reinforced the tendency

of policymakers to give considerable weight to short-run developments in

formulating and implementing policy--a tendency already firmly rooted in

the system of political arrangements within which the Fed continues to

operate. That the resulting confluence of short-run political pressures

and economic considerations contributed to procyclical policies in the

short run and inflationary policies over the longer run is difficult to

refute.

The Fed has, of course heard much of this before. The typical

response has been to point to knowledge deficiencies and limitations to

what monetary policy can itself accomplish. Operationally, it is argued

that such considerations point to the need for caution, illustrate the

wisdom of eschewing bold, decisive action, and emphasize the benefits of

being prepared to respond flexibly to emerging developments (Wallich,

1982). Superficially appealing, a critical problem with "successive

approximation" or "Micawberism" is easily illustrated. Early in a

recovery, for example, we typically observe that the unemployment rate

is relatively high, the inflation rate is relatively low, the economy is

expanding fairly rapidly, interest rates have fallen and monetary growth

has accelerated. Amid arguments that the economy is operating well

below its potential, that the recovery is fragile, and that inflation

has been dealt a decisive blow, policymakers are understandably

reluctant to slow monetary growth and encourage a rise in interest

rates. After all, uncertainties do exist and a prudent person, it is

38-417 0-84--9
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alleged, should at this stage of the cycle be prepared to err on the

side of doing what is necessary to sustain the expansion. Yet, since

policy operates with a lag, engineering a "soft-landing" for the

economy, characterized by sustainable, noninflationary growth, requires

policymakers to "throttle back" on the degree of stimulu- being provided

well before available data point unambiguously toward the need for such

an adjustment of policy. That this has seldom occurred needs no

documentation. Moreover, it is not obvious that such deft adjustments

could be consistently engineered in the short-run-oriented political

environment within which the Fed operates, even with very reliable

forecasts.

VI. TOWARD A NARROWTIG OF THE GAP BETWEEN THE RHETORIC AND THE RECORD:
SOME CAUTIONARY REFLECTIONS

Proposals designed to improve the Fed's performance (see, for

example, the papers in this volume by...) are not in short supply. One

class of proposed remedies is technical in nature, involving various

reforms of the Fed's procedures and regulations. Broadly speaking, such

suggestions share a common flaw; they ignore or downplay the political

role the Fed plays within the current set of institutional arrangements

and, therefore, the political factors which influence their actions.

Simply put, it is quite unlikely that technical adjustments alone,

however well grounded in economic theory, can sever or substantially

alter the relationship between the proximate and ultimate causes of

economic fluctuations. Kaminow's assessment of the Fed's October 6,

1979 announcement of a change in operating procedures (see Figure 1),

designed to improve monetary control, nicely summarizes the relevant

issues:
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"If the fundamental cause of monetary excesses has been

a technical inability to control money, then a technical

solution of the sort adopted on October 6th may well

succeed. The old money control procedures were extremely

imprecise and a shift to control through bank reserves could

.-easily improve precision and give the Federal Reserve added

ability to slow money growth and inflation in an orderly

fashion.

"But there are those that believe that inflation

impulses go deeper than Fed technique. Economic aspirations

are soaring past our ability to deliver. And when the"

political process directly or indirectly presses the Fed to

chase unobtainable goals for economic growth, the central

bank responds with the printing press. Political pressures

of course need not be as obvious as direct orders from the

President or Congress. Fed officials are hardly immune from

the more subtle influences of the political mood and climate

in the country.

"If excessive money growth has been a response to

recurring political pressures for expansive policy, then

the October 6th package did nothing to get at fundamental

causes of inflation. It neither relaxed the pressures

nor increased the Fed's ability to resist them. To the

contrary, the package responds well to the political mood

of the moment and so offers no particular hope that

overexpansion is not again around the corner if the

politics bagin to push that way.
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"The Fed deserves high marks for moving toward

better money control procedures on October 6th. That

move has the potential for adding enormously to monetary

stability. But it will do little to slow politically

inspired inflation. To do that we need to more

effectively insulate the money-creation process from

political influence, and that's a bigger job than the Fed

can be expected to do on its own" (Kaminow, 1979, p. 4).

Recognizing that purely technical reforms may alter the form but

not the substance of policymaking, another class of proposals focuses on

the political forces and administrative arrangements governing the

conduct of policy. Such proposals range from calls for increased policy

coordination of monetary and fiscal policy, to proposals requiring

increased disclosure, specificity and accountability in the policymaking

process, to legislative or constitutional remedies, including, for

example, defrocking the Fed and making it part of the Treasury, and/or

the enactment of a monetary rule.

The attractiveness of increased policy coordination is obvious.

However, deeper reflection reveals some potential problems. Suppose we

have two sets of policymakers (monetary and fiscal), neither has a

corner on the truth and at a moment in time each has a different concept

of what is best for society, different forecasts, different theories

regarding how policy effects the economy, and, therefore, different

preferred policies. Hedging bets and minimizing the possibility of

major policy errors might well suggest less rather than more coordina-

tion. Moreover, as Alan Blinder has pointed out in an insightful

discussion of policy coordination, "Dispersion of power is one safeguard
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against misuse of power, in economic policy as elsewhere. We know that

checks and balances can sometimes lead to stalemate or to conflicts

between different branches of government, but in many cases we view this

as a reasonable price to pay for protection against abuse of power"

(Blinder, 1982, p. 19).

The political argument can also be extended by noting that increased

coordination would come perilously close to implicating fiscal policy-

makers in monetary policy before the fact. The resulting erosion of the

Fed's "scapegoat" role (discussed above) represents a real impediment to

proposals calling for more coordination. Similar problems also afflict

proposals designed to increase the specificity characterizing the Fed's

formulation and reporting of its policy plans, and its accountability to

the President and the Congress regarding the execution and effectiveness

of policy. To whom is the Fed now accountable and how will proposed

changes alter existing relationships (Knott, 1983)? More fundamentally,

if the problem with Fed policy is simply that it does not pursue the

goals and carry out the policies desired by its principals--

the Congress and the President--straightforward remedies exist to

increase the Fed's incentive to do so. I take the often amateurish

"oversight" of monetary policy by the Congress and its attendant failure

to require more disclosure, specificity and accountability, along with

its free-wheeling violation of budgetary plans and resolutions, as a

telling indicator of underlying preferences and perceived constraints.

Lest one be accused of being unduly negative, a degree of pessimism

in these matters does not in my judgment necessarily render research on

the policy process, technical or otherwise, nugatory. First, scientific

work should not be tightly constrained by what appears politically
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feasible today; history is replete with examples of reforms (e.g.,

flexible exchange rates) previously thought unacceptable. Second, as

Willett and Laney (1982) have argued, positivistic analysis which

indicates that political forces have shaped policy does not imply that

the only way to engender a less destabilizing policy is to deal directly

with underlying political and social forces. It can be argued that the

boundaries (constraints) defining the possible scope of Fed actions in

the short run are neither unduly narrow nor wholly exogenous.

Incentive structures can be altered and marginal improvements may well

be possible. Moreover, institutional arrangements are not immutable

over the longer run and learning does occur.

The notion that increased specificity plus increased accountability

for the Fed and its principals will enhance the credibility of economic

policymakers and contribute to improved policy performance is quite

appealing and deserves to be pursued. More specifically, since

disclosure is an essential element of accountability, the policy process

needs to be opened up if we are to secure constructive policy

discussions and assessments. The Fed has traditionally resisted more

openness o6 the grounds that it would mislead the public and interfere

with a free-wheeling, frank exchange of views among policymakers and

between policymakers and their staffs. On the former, Havrilesky is

surely correct: "Guesswork and possible misinterpretation by private

market decision-makers is a reflection of Federal Reserve secrecy rather

than an aberrant psychological proclivity by market participants to be

mislead and to overreact" (Havrilesky, 1982, p. 262). As for the

contention that less secrecy would inhibit discussion internally, the

virtual absence of such exchanges under current arrangements suggests
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that the previously discussed relationship between ambiguity and

flexibility is a better explanation for the Fed's reluctance.

The Fed does now report to Congress the range and "central

tendency" of FOMC members' expectations for GNP, inflation, and

unemployment for the period 12-18 months ahead. Further movement on

this front would be most desirable (see House Banking Committee, 1983).

Nonetheless, the profound difficulties emanating from what might be

called "time inconsistency"--that is, the lack of congruence between the

length of the time period linking policy actions and its several

effects, and the relatively short time horizons of policymakers and

their constituents--and the associated tendency to apply high discount

rates to both forecasts and longer run effects of current policy

actions, coupled with a dynamic econmy that is often changing in ways

imperfectly understood,in my judgment, represent fundamental impediments

to substantial progress.

VII. POST-1979 MONETARY POLICY: DRAMATIC AND DECISIVE IMPROVEMENT OR
BUSINESS AS USUAL?

As this paper is being written (early 1984), the economy has been

recovering for about a year and inflation has stabilized (temporarily?)

at one half the rate prevailing over the 1979-81 period. Some,

including the Fed, contend that inflation has been dealt a decisive blow

and that sustainable, noninflationary growth is within reach if the

large budget deficits currently projected can be reduced dramatically.

Central to this thesis is the notion that the Fed's 1979 change in

procedures (see Figure 1), and the performance of policy since then,

represent a watershed for U.S. monetary policy. The analysis developed

above would lead one a priori to be rather skeptical of such a

conclusion.
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The general features of the 1979 change in procedures, like many

such reforms, were conceived earlier and born in a crisis setting. The

perception of political and economic observers and policymakers was that

inflation, and perhaps policy, were out of control. Focusing on the

near term, the Fed, for its part, believed that a substantial rise in

interest rates would be needed to brake (break?) the economy, slow down

monetary growth, and reduce inflationary pressures and inflationary

expectations. Viewed against this background, the change in procedures

was a tactic to engineer a significant reduction in monetary growth and

increase in interest rates, and, at the same time, put some distance

between the Fed's actions and the financial and economic repercussions.

Focusing on the longer term, the change can be viewed, in part, as

another step toward finding "a better place to stand" (Bouey, 1982) so

as to more effectively fend off expansionary pressures.

It is interesting to note that several members of the FOMC (in

private communications with the author) have indicated that the details

and full ramifications of the changes in procedures (especially the role

of the discount rate and changes therein) were not clear to them nor, in

their judgment, to most FOMC members at the time, or for months

thereafter. Such contentions, along with the observable swings In

policy since 1979, raise important questions about the real significance

of, motivation for, and permanence of this, or indeed, any change in Fed

procedures. As explained in Figure 1, actual (as opposed to announced)

policy procedures in 1983 bore little resemblance to the October 1979 -

late 1982 experience.
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VIII. LOOKING AHEAD

We tell our students that policymakers are guided by "the" public

interest. Of course, we know better; since there is no single public

interest, policymakers, in effect, mediate among often competing

organized interests. Admitting the existence (necessity?) of shifting

compromises among multiple objectives, however reluctantly, greatly

complicates policy analysis, whether positivistic or normative. As

Woolley argues: "The Federal Reserve's relationships with other actors

are marked by a tension between the nominal political independence of

the Federal Reserve and the kind of tasks it is called upon to perform

in the economic system. It Is called upon to be politically neutral

while regulating an economic system which Is not neutral in results. It

is expected to act on the basis of reflective scientific judgment in an

environment which stresses political responsiveness. It is asked to

make technically correct decisions despite conditions of economic

uncertainty that make it difficult to avoid errors and despite a highly

conflictual scientific debate as to what 'correct' policy is" (Woolley,

1984, p. 15).

Various shortcomings in the economic analysis underlying policy-

making--e.g., the failure to take adequate account of inflationary

expectations, forecasting errors, and frequent vacillation on the causal

significance of the monetary aggregates--and technical defects in

regulations and monetary control procedures, have undoubtedly

contributed to an erratic policy record. That policymakers are forced

to operate in an environment characterized by considerable uncertainty

over structural relationships ane the path of the economy is undeniable.

However, the core issue, ignoring the political environment for the
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moment, is what is the "best" policy strategy to follow in the face of

such uncertainty. A basic tenet of constrained optimization theory is

that short-rui policy reactions should become smaller and more cautious

as the degree of uncertainty increases. Given uncertainty about supply

and demand in both the real and financial sectors, the theory does not

specify precisely what reactions should be reduced in the face of

uncertainty. Nonetheless, the thrust of the theory, combined with the

politic.1 pressure flowing from the perception that central banks are

the arbit-rs of nominal interest rates, has led the Fed (and most other

central banks) to optimize subject to perceived constraints imposed by

the political and economic environment by stabilizing or moderating

fluctuations in nominal interest rates in the short-run.

That the subsequent adjustments in interest rates have often been

unduly delayed, contributing to an aggravation of cyclical fluctuations

is well documented. Thus, despite the lip service and periodic

commitment to reserve and monetary aggregate objectives, pervasive

uncertainty and the confluence of political and economic forces,

including the fact that the effects of policy actions tend to have more

effect on real output and employment in the short run and prices in the

longer run, pose a formidable barrier to far-reaching and lasting

alterations in procedures and practices. Perhaps Lindbeck is correct:

"The main problem is not that we are unable to understand analytically

what is happening, but rather that the institutional and the

discretionary policies that are necessary for macroeconomic stability

seem to be politically difficult to implement" (Lindbeck, 1976, p. 18).

Taken together, the Fed's scapegoat-lightning rod role, firmly embedded

in the Institutional structure governing the formulation,
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implementation, and evaluation of policy, and an abiding focus on the

short run, go a long way toward explaining the low correlation between

the Fed's rhetoric and the record.

Looking ahead, many have argued that a closer correspondence

between the rhetoric and the record would enhance the "credibility" of

policymakers and, simultaneously, through the salutary effect on

expectations, reduce the impediments to achieving a noninflationary

growth path for the economy. Unfortunately, designing viable reforms to

produce or induce a closer correspondence appears quite formidable.

Moreover, theoretical arguments aside, "credibility" is a slippery

concept: "We do not know how to measure it, certainly do not know how

to produce it, and have only the foggiest notion of whether or to what

degree it is absent or present" (Cagen, 1982, p. 78); "The credibility

of monetary policy with the public is damaged by comment from the

profession implying that monetary policy is a simple matter that, with a

little intelligence and goodwill, could reliably produce predictable

results" (Wallich, 1982, p. 243).

The conundrums facing policymaker-s and policy analysts should now

be clearer. Presumably, such a modest step is itself a good beginning.



FI GURE I

THE EVOLUTION OF FED POLICY

l950s & 1960s
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The solid lines and arrows indicate the pro-
dominant direction of causation once policy
actions are undertaken. The dotted lines
indicate the monitoring and feedback which
occur as policymakers observe Incoming eco-
nomic data and adjust policy in light of the
objectives ('full' employment, price stability.
etc.) being pursued. During this period,
policy was framed in qualitative terms; policy-
makers would vote for an 'easier' or 'tighter"
policy, decide to 'lean against the wind', etc.
Such intentions were translated into policy
actions producing fairly modest changes in
money market Conditions. Critics argued that
the strategy was vague and that its analytical
foundations were weak. Many called for more
quantification and foe policymakers to give
more weight to controlling the growth of the
money stock in formulating and implementing
policy. Policy outcomes in the last half of
the 60s, ongoing research. and the ascendency
of Arthur Burns to the Fed chairmanship led
to the next stage.

1970s

LFZIfcIonsJC

FudsL .J"oc

L~coc ActivityZ ecie

Beginning in 1970, the money stock became
an official "intermediate" target of, and
therefore guide for, Fed policy. The term
'intermedaiate' mans that the money stock
lies between the Fed's instruments and the
ultimate targets (or objectives) in the
transmission mechanism linking policy to
the economy. Control over the money stock
was terted by manipulating the federal
funds rate; if money groth was deemed
excessive (inadequate). the funds rate mas
raised (lowered). Selecting the correct
funds rate--correct in the sense of being
likely an average to be consistent with
the Fed's money stock targets and final
objectives--proued difficult for the Fed's
forecasters. More fundamentally, policy-
makers seemed unwilling to move the funds
rate sufficiently; as the solid line
running from the funds rate to the economy
indicates, most policymakers believed
interest rates were the cutting edge of
policy (the money stock wa, a useful way
to "index%, communicate and 'discipline"
policy). The tendency to delay or moderate
rate movements. whether for political or
economic reasons. contributed importantly
to the continuation of destabilizing
policies. Many argued that the form. but
not the substance of policymaking had
changed; policymakers were still preoccupied
with money market conditions, as indexed
by the funds rate.

October 1979-1982

[PolicyActti ns

Federal Moe I
Reserves Funds Stocky

Rate Stc

"Economic Acetirit -fe Ib etives

esigned to improve the Fed's control over
monetary growth, the volume of reserves
thought to be consistent with the Fed's
money stock targett became the proximate
guide for policy actions. Instead of deli-
berating the -appropriate' change in the
funds rate whenever the money stock deviated

From its target, adhering to a given reserve
path in the face of suck a deviation would
lead to an automatic (and often large)
adjustment in the funds rate. Simply put.
if money and reserve demand rose, the funds
rate.-the *price' of reserves--would have to
rise to equilibrate supply and demand.
Touring the 70s, in contrast, the supply of
reserves was usually adjusted to moderate
the effect of a shift in demand on the funds
rate. The automatic adjustment accmpanying
the change 10 procedure as in turn expected
to lend to a quicker return of the actual
money stock to its target path. Over the
period, the variance of the money stock and
interest rates Increased, the economy experi-
enced two recessions, and ne inflation rate
fell dramatically. As 1982 unfolded, it
became clear that this mixed record and the
murky domestic and international outlook was
leading the Fed to rethink its procedures
and basic Policy stance once again.

1983 and beyond

7
Perceived weaknesses In the domestic and
International economies led the Fed to
ease policy significantly from mid-1982
through the spring of 1983. As monetary
growth accelerated and interest rates I
declined, the U.S. economy recovered. With
money stock growth (MI) exceeding it' target
by a wide mrgin. the Fed pointed to dis-
tortions introduced by ongoing innovations
and deregulation. shifted target ranges,
base periods, and the emphasis accorded
various aggregates (MI, M2. M3), and argued
for 'flexibility" in responding to emerging
developments in %uch uncertain times. That
the Fed had again altered its approach to
policy was clear. Given the relative stabi-
lity of the Federal funds rate over most
the year. many argued the Fed had returned
to the discarded strategy of the 70s.
Seemingly engaged in "successive aporoxi-

"mation'. clear guideposts for the future
conduct of policy were not in evidence as
190g ended.

ts



133

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Acheson, Keith and John Chant "Bureaucratic Theory and the Choice of
Central Bank Goals," Journal of MoneyCredit and Banking (May
1973), 637-655.

Barth, James, Robin Sickles and Philip Wiest. "Assessing the Impact of
Varying Economic Conditions on Fede:31 Reserve Behavior," Journal
of Macroeconomics (Winter 1982), 47-70.

Beck, Nathaniel. "Politics and American Monetary Policy: 1955-1982,"
processed, University of California-San Diego, April 1983.

Blinder, Alan. "Issues in the Coordination of Monetary and Fiscal
Policy," in Monetary Policy Issues in the 1980s. Federal Reserve
Bank of Kansas City, 1982, 3-34.

Bouey, Gerald. "Monetary Policy--Finding A Place to Stand," Per
Jacobsson Lecture, Toronto, Canada, September 1982.

Bryant, Ralph. Money and Monetary Policy in Interdependent Nations.
Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution, 1980.

.Controlling Money: The Federal Reserve and Its Critics.
Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution, 1983.

Frenkel, Jacob and Michael Mussa. "Monetary and Fiscal Policy in an
Open Economy," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings
(May 1981), 253-258.

Friedman, Benjamin. "Empirical Issues in Monetary Policy: A Review of
Monetary Aggregates and Monetary Policy," Journal of Monetary
Economics (January 1977), 87-101.

Gordon, Robert. "Output Fluctuations and Gradual Price Adjustment,"
Journal of Economic Literature (June 1981), 493-530.

Havrilesky, Thomas. "A Theory of Monetary Instability," in The
Political Economy of Policy-Making, M. Dooley, H. Kaufma-an_, and R.
Lombra, eds. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, 1979, 59-88.

. "Informationally Optimal Monetary and Fiscal Policy,"
Financial Review (November 1982), 259-270.

Hirsch, Fred and John Goldthorpe, eds. The Political Economy of
Inflation. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1978.

Kerainow, Ira. "The Fed May Not Have Shed Its Easy-Money Bias," American
Banker, October 24, 1979, 4.

_ "Politics, Economics, and Procedures of U.S. Money Growth
Dynamics," in Political Economy of International and Domestic
Monetary Relations, R. Lombra and W. Witte, eds. Ames, Iowa: Iowa
State University Press, 1982, 181-196.



134

Kane, Edward. "Politics and Fed Policymaking: The More Things Change
the More They Remain the Same," Journal of Monetary Economics
(6:1980), 199-211.

"External Pressure and the Operations of the Fed," in
Poliical Econoy of International and Domestic Monetary Relations,
R. Lombra and W. Witte, eds. Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University
Press, 1982a, 211-232.

. "Selecting Monetary Targets in a Changing Financial
Environment," in Monetar. Policy Issues in the 1980s, Federal
Reserve Bank of Kansas City, 1W2b, 181-206.

Karamouzis, Nicholas. "The Role of International Linkages in the
Conduct of U.S. Monetary Policy: 1970-77," Ph.D. Thesis, The
Pennsylvania State University, 1964.

Knott, Jack. "Uncertainty and Federal Reserve Decision Making,"
processed, Michigan State University, September 1983.

Lindbeck, Assar. "Stabilization Policies in Open Economies with
Endogenous Politicians," American Economic Review (May 1976), 1-19.

Lindbloom, Charles. "Still Muddling, Not Yet Through," Public
Administration Review (Nov./Dec. 1979), 517-526.

Lombra, Raymond and Michael Moran. "Policy Advice and Policymaking at
the Federal Reserve," in Monetary Institutions and the Policy
Process, K. Brunner and A. Meltzer, eds. Carnegie-Rochester Series
on Public Policy, Vol. 13, 9-68.

Maier, Charles. "The Politics of Inflation in the Twentieth Century,"
in The Political Economy of Inflation, F. Hirsch and J. Goldthorpe,
eds. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1978, 37-72.

Mayer, Thomas. "A Case Study of Federal Reserve Policymaking:
Regulation Q in 1966," Journal of Monetary Economics (1982a),
259-271.

_ "Federal Reserve Policy in the 1973-1975 Recession: A
Case Study of Fed Behavior in a Quandry," in Crises in the
Economic and Financial Structure, P. Wachtel, ed. Lexington,
Mass.: Lexington Books, 1982b, 41-83.

Morris, Frank. "Defining the Issues," in Interest Rate Deregulation
and Monetary Control, Proceedings of a Conference sponsored by the

eral Reserve Bank of San Francisco, 1982, 13-19.

Rein, M. and S. White. "Can Policy Research Help Policy?" The Public
Interest (Fall 1977), 119-136.

Schultze, Charles. The Politics and Economics of Public Spending.
Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution, 1968.



135

Sims, Christopher. "Policy Analysis with Econometric Models," Brookings
Papers on Economic Activity (1:1982), 107-152.

U.S. House of Representatives, Commitee on Banking, Finance and Urban
Affairs. Monetary Policy Report-1983, 98th Congress, Ist Session,
December 1983.

Wallich, Henry. "Policy Research, Policy Advice, and Policymaking," in
Political Economy of International and Domestic Monetary Relations,
P. Lombra and W. Witte, eds. Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University
Press, 1982, 237-246.

and Peter Keir. "The Role of Operating Guides in U.S.
Monetary Policy: A Historical Review," Kredit und Kapital (1973),
30-52.

Wildavsky, Aaron. The Politics of the Budgetary Process. Boston:
Little, Brown, 1979.

Willett, Thomas and Leroy Latiey. "Technical versus Political Causes of
Monetary Expansion," in Political Economy of International and
Domestic Monetary Relations, R. Lombra and W. Witte, eds. Ames,
Iowa: Iowa State University Press, 1982, 203-207.

Woolley, John. Monetary Politics: The Federal Reserve and the Politics
of Monetary Policy. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1984.

0


